
MANASSAS REGIONAL AIRPORT COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

AGENDA 
 

June 17th 2021 
 

City Hall, Council Chambers 
9027 Center Street 

Manassas, VA 20110  
 

Call to Order – 7:00 p.m. 
 

 
ITEM 1. Consideration of approval of minutes of the regular meeting held on May 20th , 2021 
 
ITEM 2. Review of expenses.  
 

COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 
ITEM 3. The “Comments from the Public” agenda item is for members of the public to address the 

Airport Commission for less than three (3) minutes each. Please state your full name, your 
city/county and state of domicile, and your interest in, and/or affiliation with, the Airport 
prior to speaking. No prior notice is necessary to speak during this portion of the agenda. 
Members of the public may also address the Airport Commission for longer than three 
minutes if they ask the Airport Director for a place on the agenda at least five (5) working 
days before the meeting or if a member of the public is specifically requested by a 
Commission Member to address the Commission. 

 
AIRPORT DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

 
ITEM 4. Airport Director’s Report  

 
a. Tie-down and Hangar Occupancy Reports, and Citizen’s Monthly Noise Concerns.   

 
b. Aging, Revenue, and Expenditure Reports. 
 

PRESENTATIONS 
 
ITEM 5. Recognition of Mr. Harry Clark for his 13 years (2008-2021) of service on the Airport 

Commission (10 minutes, Commission Member: Mr. Dan Radtke, Chair)  
    

ITEM 6. 2021 Airport Financial Plan Update (20 minutes, Davenport Financial Advisor) 
 

OLD BUSINESS 
 
ITEM 7. Receive nominations and vote for Chairman and Vice-Chairman to serve from July 1, 2021 

to June 30, 2022.  (8 minutes, Commission Member: Mr. Dan Radtke, Chair)  
 
  



Airport Commission Agenda June 17, 2021 
Page 2 Regular Meeting 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 
All items listed under the consent agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one 
motion. If separate discussion is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and 
considered separately. 
 
 
 
ITEM 8. (Reserved for Consent Agenda Items) 
 

COMMITTEE REPORTS IF AVAILABLE 
 
ITEM 9. (Reserved for addition of any Committee Reports) 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 
ITEM 10. Consideration of a proposed changes to the Airport Minimum Standards that would reduce 

the 600 square feet office requirement for flight schools to 300 square feet.  (5 minutes, 
Staff:  Mr. Richard Allabaugh) 
 

ITEM 11. Consideration of adding the requirement for having $1 million in Contractor’s Pollution 
Insurance to the Airport’s Insurance Matrix that would apply to all fuel operators that 
transport fuel on the Airport. (5 minutes, Staff: Juan Rivera)   
 

ITEM 12. Consideration of and recommendation to City Council of requested changes to the Franchise 
between the City of Manassas and Chantilly Air Inc. (Ordinance #O-2021-04 )(5 minutes, 
Staff: Juan Rivera) 
 

ITEM 13. Recommend to City Council the acceptance of a ACRGP Grant Agreement from the FAA (AIP 
3-51-0030-05-2021) in the amount of $57,000 (5 minutes, Staff: Juan Rivera) 
 

ITEM 14. Consideration of adopting a revised Hangar Waiting List Policy that would incorporate a new 
requirement for a deposit to be placed with the Airport prior to being placed on the hangar 
waiting list.  (5 minutes, Staff: Richard Allabaugh) 
 

INFORMATION ITEMS 
 
ITEM 15. (Reserved for addition of any Information item) 
 

COMMISSION COMMENTS 
 
ITEM 16. Commission Members may make comments or raise questions on matters of interest to 

the Commission. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 



MANASSAS REGIONAL AIRPORT COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MINUTES 
 

May 20, 2021 
 

The Manassas Regional Airport Commission held its regular meeting in the Council Chambers on the 
above date, attended by Chairman Dan Radtke, Vice Chairman Tom Lemmon, Juan E. Cabrera, Harry 
J. Clark, Richard H. Seraydarian, James L. Uzzle, Ross Snare, John Snider, and Lawrence Pigeon. 
 
Howard Goodie was unable to attend. 
 
Airport Personnel in Attendance:  Juan E. Rivera (Airport Director) and Richard Allabaugh (Airport 
Operations). 
 
Chairman Radtke called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
ITEM 1. Consideration of approval of minutes of the regular meeting held on April 15th, 2021 

 
Member Clark MOVED that the minutes be amended to address typo in Item 1 to say, 
“SECONDED by MEMBER Clark CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.” SECONDED by Member 
Seraydarian and CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.   

 
ITEM 2. Review of expenses. 
 

COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 
ITEM 3. The “Comments from the Public” agenda item is for members of the public to address the 

Airport Commission for less than three (3) minutes each. Please state your full name, your 
city/county and state of domicile, and your interest in, and/or affiliation with, the Airport 
prior to speaking. No prior notice is necessary to speak during this portion of the agenda. 
Members of the public may also address the Airport Commission for longer than three 
minutes if they ask the Airport Director for a place on the agenda at least five (5) working 
days before the meeting or if a member of the public is specifically requested by a 
Commission Member to address the Commission. 

 
Mr. Tom Hueg: Provided a status update on the Freedom Museum’s vacancy from the 
terminal building. Jolene Berry sent an email May 17 saying that the Museum had met all 
the requirements and closed out the lease. After 22 years of calling the Manassas Regional 
Airport terminal home, the Freedom Museum has moved on to a new exciting stage and 
wished the Airport the best in the new space. 

 
AIRPORT DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

 
ITEM 4. Airport Director’s Report 

 
Mr. Rivera stated that the Airport received notification from the DEQ that tank closure 
investigation in regards to the underground storage tanks have been officially closed and 
not further action was required.  
 
Mr. Rivera stated that the Airport receive the second COVID relief grant from the FAA. It 
will be on the agenda for the June Commission meeting. Staff will recommend that it be 
used to offset staff salaries. 

Item 1



Mr. Rivera will be conducting interviews for Mrs. Witte’s position the first week in June. 
 
Mr. Rivera stated that masks are still considered PPE by VOSH and they are still required 
inside the terminal building. Businesses can make their own determination of mask-use 
policy.  
 

a. Tie-down and Hangar Occupancy Reports, and Citizen’s Monthly Noise Concerns.   
 

b. Aging, Revenue, and Expenditure Reports. 
 
Member Seraydarian asked about the aging report. Mr. Rivera clarified that the accounts 
are still in a rears based on the agreement with the City, but everything is current. They have 
paid on time and every time  

 
PRESENTATIONS 

 
ITEM 5. Use of the Laser Inclinometer to Identify Obstructions at the Airport (5 minutes, Staff: 

Richard Allabaugh)  
 

 Presentation Included as attachment to Minutes 
 

ITEM 6. Quarterly Airport Operations and Fuels Sales Report (5 minutes, Staff:  Richard Allabaugh) 
 

Presentation Included as attachment to Minutes 
 

OLD BUSINESS 
 
ITEM 7. (Reserved for Old Business) 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 
All items listed under the consent agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one 
motion. If separate discussion is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and 
considered separately. 
 
ITEM 8. (Reserved for Consent Agenda Items) 
 

 
COMMITTEE REPORTS IF AVAILABLE 

 
ITEM 9. (Reserved for addition of any Committee Reports) 
 
  

Item 1



NEW BUSINESS 
 
ITEM 10. Consideration of exercising an option to extend the Lease Agreement between the City of 

Manassas and Fairfax County for hangar space for their Aviation Unit for an additional 
twelve (12) months. (5 minutes, Staff:  Juan Rivera) 

 
Mr. Rivera stated that there would be a 2.9% increase to their lease for the 12 months. He 
indicated that construction on their Fairfax facility is behind schedule. He also indicated that 
an email was exchanged with Fairfax and stating that staff would be recommending 
approval of the extension to the Airport Commission. If it was approved by the Commission, 
not to come back for any more extensions as they probably wouldn’t be granted. 
 
Member Cabrera MOVED to extend the Lease Agreement between the City of Manassas 
and Fairfax County for hangar space for their Aviation Unit for an additional twelve (12) 
months. SECONDED by Member Seraydarian and CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.   

 
ITEM 11. Nominations for Chair and Vice-Chair of the Airport Commission to serve from July 1st 2021 

to June 30th 2022. (5 minutes, Chair, Airport Commission) 
 
Member Seraydarian MOVED to nominate Tom Lemmon for Chair of the Airport 
Commission. SECONDED by Member Cabrera. 
 
Member Uzzle MOVED to nominate Ross Snare for Chair of the Airport Commission. 
SECONDED by Member Snare. 

 
Member Lemmon MOVED to nominate Richard Seraydarian for Vice-Chair of the Airport 
Commission. SECONDED by Member Clark. 

 
 Chairman Radtke indicated that nominations will remain open until the next commission 

meeting. 
 

INFORMATION ITEMS 
 
ITEM 12. (Reserved for addition of any Information item) 
  

Item 1



 
COMMISSION COMMENTS 

 
ITEM 13. Commission Members may make comments or raise questions on matters of interest to 

the Commission. 
 

 
Member Uzzle MOVED that the meeting adjourn. SECONDED by Member Seraydarian and 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.   
 
The meeting adjourned at 7:33 P.M. 
 
 
 
_____________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Secretary      Chairman 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Date Approved 

Item 1



Item 1



Airport Operations
Laser Inclinometer Brief

Item 1



Laser Inclinometer

 TruePulse 200X
 Range - 6,233FT to 8,200FT
 7x Optic Zoom
 Water Resistant
 Foliage Filter
 Bluetooth Capable
 Smart Phone App

 Acquired October 2015 after DOAV 
5010 Inspection
 $2305.95

2 5/20/2021HEF – Laser Inclinometer Briefing

Item 1



Laser Inclinometer

3 5/20/2021HEF – Laser Inclinometer Briefing

Item 1



Laser Inclinometer

4 5/20/2021HEF – Laser Inclinometer Briefing

Item 1



Obstruction Analysis

5 5/20/2021HEF – Laser Inclinometer Briefing

 2015 – 12 Obstructions
 2018 – 7 Obstructions
 2021 – On Hold

 2019 – 1 Obstruction
 2021 – 2 Obstructions

Item 1



Obstruction Analysis

6 5/20/2021HEF – Laser Inclinometer Briefing

Item 1



Obstruction Analysis

7 5/20/2021HEF – Laser Inclinometer Briefing

Item 1



Contractor Education

8 5/20/2021HEF – Laser Inclinometer Briefing

Item 1



Fuel Flowage and Aircraft Operations
May Update

Item 1



OPERATIONS –TOTALS

Calendar 
Year

Operations Fiscal Year Operations

2016 90,163 2016 83,815

2017 83,911 2017 89,654

2018 79,930 2018 80,714

2019 85,701 2019 83,130

2020 74,765 2020 75,316

2021 29,097 2021 72,829

Calendar 
Year

Local Itinerant Fiscal Year Local Itinerant

2016 35,182 54,981 2016 40,597 43,218
2017 37,380 46,531 2017 43,798 45,856

2018 33,538 46,392 2018 34,270 46,444

2019 39,264 46,437 2019 36,409 46,721

2020 30,815 43,950 2020 33,442 41,874

2021 13,922 15,175 2021 31,801 41,028

PERCENT CHANGE

Month FY2018/FY2019 FY2019/FY2020 FY2020/FY2021

July -5.32% 13.82% -10.22%
August -1.25% 1.96% -17.07%

September -20.32% 35.14% -3.31%
October 6.36% -5.84% 4.23%

November 2.35% 6.95% -0.64%
December 11.10% -11.03% 32.73%

January -1.20% 13.53% 9.62%
February 20.33% 0.61% -20.09%

March 23.53% -16.02% 37.23%
April -2.32% -63.36% 237.75%
May 7.23% -57.20%
June 6.48% -12.65%

Total 2.99% -9.40%

Note - Incomplete Year
Stats through April 30, 2021

Item 1



July August September October November December January February March April May June

2021 8,007 6,816 7,441 7,561 6,790 7,117 6,448 4,873 8,677 9,099

2020 8,918 8,219 7,696 7,254 6,834 5,362 5,882 6,098 6,323 2,694 3,193 6,843

2019 7,835 8,061 5,695 7,704 6,390 6,027 5,181 6,061 7,529 7,353 7,460 7,834

Average 8,495 7,970 7,199 7,681 6,645 6,102 5,578 5,716 6,986 6,949 6,147 7,612

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

10,000

Monthly Aircraft Operations - Fiscal Item 1



July August September October November December January February March April May June

Itinerant 2021 4,461 3,986 4,553 4,794 4,215 3,844 3,690 2,617 4,497 4,371

Local 2021 3,546 2,830 2,888 2,767 2,575 3,273 2,758 2,256 4,180 4,728

Itinerant 2020 4,284 4,363 3,985 4,138 3,793 3,214 3,314 3,550 3,163 1,605 2,415 4,050

Local 2020 4,634 3,856 3,711 3,116 3,041 2,148 2,568 2,548 3,160 1,089 778 2,793

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

Local Vs Itinerant - Fiscal Item 1



FUEL FLOWAGE -TOTALS

Calendar AVGAS JETA TOTAL % Change Fiscal AVGAS JETA TOTAL % Change

2016 309,066 2,534,537 2,843,603 -6.59% 2016 300,470 2,587,167 2,887,637 -5.96%

2017 311,650 2,633,283 2,944,933 3.56% 2017 316,294 2,659,679 2,975,973 3.06%

2018 296,197 2,576,100 2,872,297 -2.47% 2018 306,885 2,551,238 2,858,123 -3.96%

2019 284,689 2,458,013 2,742,702 -4.51% 2019 292,146 2,552,229 2,844,375 -0.48%

2020 309,565 2,013,409 2,322,974 -15.30% 2020 265,136 2,110,967 2,376,103 -16.46%

2021 105,460 769,301 874,761 2021 293,923 1,868,278 2,162,201 -9.00%

Note - Incomplete Year
Stats through May 1, 2021

Item 1



July August September October November December January February March April May June

AVGAS 2021 32,521 22,253 31,552 27,360 22,373 21,637 21,012 24,019 24,509 25,322

JETA 2021 197,278 193,642 176,583 194,795 184,915 182,531 196,240 144,873 233,928 204,858

AVGAS 2020 26,324 27,523 25,274 24,273 22,032 18,608 19,055 20,381 17,507 7,780 14,440 25,491

JETA 2020 192,327 172,309 218,117 257,381 179,753 176,648 196,684 164,154 162,868 98,300 131,972 176,902

Average AVGAS 29,753 28,859 27,519 26,926 24,823 21,485 18,637 20,262 23,062 22,542 23,380 27,790

Average JETA 187,364 197,688 218,029 240,475 204,997 188,723 198,301 179,291 208,665 184,008 212,882 215,341

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Monthly Fuel Flowage - Fiscal Item 1



REVIEW OF EXPENSES

Vendor Description Past 30 days FY21 Gross Amount
AM ASSOC OF AIRPORT EXEC AAAE digicast membership 1,289.48$                           
AMERICAN DISPOSAL COMMERCIAL SVCS, INC AMERICAN DISPOSAL SERVICES 9,290.00$                           
CINTAS CORP. Medical Supplies 13.14$                          291.10$                               
COMCAST Cable Service 379.08$                        2,968.13$                           
EAGLE PROTECTION SERVICES INC SECURITY SERVICES 142,928.27$                       
FINLAY FIRE ARFF Truck Service 23,385.22$                         
LABOR FINDERS Temporary Help - Maintenance -$                                     
ORACLE ELEVATOR Service Call/Inspections 150.00$                        6,209.49$                           
M C W SOLUTIONS LLC camera repair/replacement -$                                     
MOOR GREEN ESTATES HOMEOWNERS MOA Fees 3,860.00$                           
OLDE TOWNE LANDSCAPING Mowing Services 27,838.61$                         
ORKIN EXTERMINATING CO INC Orkin services 2,089.18$                           
PROTECTION 1 ALARM Security Monitoring 796.25$                               
TEMPORARY SOLUTIONS, INC Temporary Help - Admin -$                                     
ATLANTIC SWEEPING SERVICES INC Sweeping Services 6,634.08$                           
TRUGREEN CHEMLAWN lawn service 2,694.37$                           
U S PLANTS INC PLANTS 1,983.52$                           
CINTAS CORP. Uniforms 76.44$                          2,935.77$                           
CINTAS CORP. Terminal Mats 850.99$                               
VA BUSINESS SYSTEMS KONICA COPIER LEASE 240.52$                        5,444.85$                           
VERIZON 703-060-1303 364.00$                               
WALKERS CRPT CRE/JANTRL SVC JANITORIAL SERVICES 2,110.00$                     31,266.48$                         
WASHINGTON GAS 10529 wakeman dr 6,953.86$                           
WASHINGTON GAS 10400 wakeman dr 36,507.58$                         
ROGER SNYDER Aerial Photos 250.00$                        250.00$                               

Vendor Description Past 30 days FY21 Gross Amount
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10531 TERMINAL 514.75$                               
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10600 HARRY J PARRISH 51,066.80$                         
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10601 OBSERVATION 2,523.70$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 9950 WAKEMAN 197.34$                               
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10481 OBSERVATION 9,016.80$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10601 WAKEMAN 22,426.99$                         
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10661 OBSERVATION 734.69$                               
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10661 OBSERVATION 1,303.07$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10600 OBSERVATION 5,203.28$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10401 WAKEMAN 4,492.14$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10557 WAKEMAN 1,952.13$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10577 WAKEMAN 1,905.77$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10567 WAKEMAN 2,646.31$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10601 OBSERVATION 478.70$                               
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10451 WAKEMAN 2,391.37$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10557 TERMINAL 1,547.97$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10549 TERMINAL 893.99$                               
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10541 TERMINAL 1,275.47$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10529 TERMINAL 2,235.41$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10501 TERMINAL 7,480.43$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10547 TERMINAL 2,057.16$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10631 OBSERVATION 1,330.57$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10600 HARRY J PARRISH 3,290.92$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10509 WAKEMAN DR 3,908.81$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10499 OBSERVATION RD 2,784.83$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10501 OBSERVATION RD 6,216.63$                           

Vendor Description Past 30 Days FY21 Gross Amount
DELTA AIRPORT CONSULTANTS INC General Engineering 53,019.25$                         
DELTA AIRPORT CONSULTANTS INC Contruct Taxiway G/ Taxilane Y 739,092.90$                       
REYNOLDS SMITH & HILLS INC Runway 16R/34L Rehab Design 591,760.65$                       
CHEMUNG CONSTRUCTION 23,402.20$                  1,841,591.83$                    
REYNOLDS SMITH & HILLS INC LOMR East Corp Expansion 165,549.34$                       
REYNOLDS SMITH & HILLS INC WEST APRON REHAB DESIGN AND BID 298,282.33$                       

Vendor Description Past 30 Days FY21 Gross Amount
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10603 observation 3,075.56$                           
MANASSAS, CITY OF   UTILITIES 10605 observation 14,177.07$                         
Cintas Tower Mats 5.21$                            654.73$                               
WALKERS CRPT CRE/JANTRL SVC JANITORIAL SERVICES 15,793.09$                         
WASHINGTON GAS 10603 Observation 1,413.47$                           

MONTHLY EXPENSES

CITY OF MANASSAS UTILITIES

AIRPORT PROJECTS

TOWER INVOICES

Item 2



Item 4



Item 4



Item 4



0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

July August September October November December January February March April May June

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f O
cc

up
ie

d 
Ti

e-
Do

w
ns

FY2021 Tie-Down Occupancy Rates

Occupancy Rate Monthly Target 2020

Item 4a



0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

July August September October November December January February March April May June

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f O
cc

up
ie

d 
H

an
ga

rs
 

FY2021 Hangar Occupancy Rates

Occupancy Rate Monthly Target 2020

Item 4a



3

4

9 9

2

3

2

1

5

0

1

0

1 1 1

3

2

5

2

4

10

7

3

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

Noise Complaints FY 2020-2021

2021

2020

Average

Item 4a



Customer IdCustomer Name Bill Year Bill Number Bill Due Date Unpaid Balance Billed Amount Adjusted Amount Paid Amount 30 to 60 Days Past 61 to 90 Days Past 91 to 120 Days Past Over 120 Days Past Interest Due Total Due Now
36535 THOMPSON, LOREN 2021 80610 05/01/2021 $335.00 $335.00 $0.00 $0.00 $335.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $335.00
36610 FREEMAN, WALDO 2021 87410 05/01/2021 $360.00 $360.00 $0.00 $0.00 $360.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $360.00
38127 GARCIA, MICHAEL 2021 3012410 05/01/2021 $335.00 $335.00 $0.00 $0.00 $335.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $335.00
38602 DONBUSH, KEN 2021 84210 05/01/2021 $80.00 $80.00 $0.00 $0.00 $80.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $80.00
42047 AVIATION ADVENTURES LLC 2021 70710 05/01/2021 $80.00 $90.00 $0.00 $10.00 $80.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $80.00
42130 CIVIL AIR PATROL 2021 3012710 05/01/2021 $50.00 $50.00 $0.00 $0.00 $50.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $50.00
42215 AMERICAN HELICOPTERS INC 2021 88510 05/01/2021 $1,716.37 $1,716.37 $0.00 $0.00 $1,716.37 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,716.37
42744 AMERICAN AVIATION SERVICES LLC 2021 64409 03/31/2021 $1,072.88 $1,716.37 $0.00 $643.49 $0.00 $1,072.88 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,072.88
42744 AMERICAN AVIATION SERVICES LLC 2021 64410 05/01/2021 $6,159.11 $6,159.11 $0.00 $0.00 $6,159.11 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $6,159.11
42744 AMERICAN AVIATION SERVICES LLC 2021 89209 03/31/2021 $1,140.00 $1,140.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,140.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,140.00
42744 AMERICAN AVIATION SERVICES LLC 2021 89210 05/01/2021 $1,140.00 $1,140.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,140.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,140.00
42744 AMERICAN AVIATION SERVICES LLC 2021 3013509 05/01/2021 $1,716.37 $1,716.37 $0.00 $0.00 $1,716.37 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,716.37
48268 FAA GRANTS 2021 2201 04/21/2021 $4,593.21 $4,593.21 $0.00 $0.00 $4,593.21 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $4,593.21
69555 COMMONWEALTH AVIATION SERVICES LLC 2021 2310 05/01/2021 $80.00 $80.00 $0.00 $0.00 $80.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $80.00

Item 4b



Item 4bRevenues Item 4b



Item 4bExpenditures Item 4b



Item 4bExpenditures Item 4b



Item 6



Member NYSE|FINRA|SIPC

2021 Airport Financial Plan

Manassas Regional Airport (MRA)

June 17, 2021 DRAFT

Item 6



Contents / Agenda

2 Topics for Discussion and MRA Strategic Goals

3 Economic Announcements

8 Recent News

11 Financial Profile

24 Projected Financial Results

30 Peer Comparison: Rates & Charges

33 Performance Measures

36 Observations

38 Appendix A: Existing Debt Details

40 Appendix B: Fitch Peer Review of U.S. Airports 

June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 1

Item 6



Topics for Discussion

 Economic Announcements and Recent News

 Existing Debt Profile

 Historical Financial and Operating Trends

 Peer Comparison of Key Financial Ratios

 Projected Financial Results

 Comparative Rates and Charges

 Performance Measures

 Observations

Topics for Discussion and MRA Strategic Goals

June 17, 2021

Manassas Regional Airport (MRA) Strategic Goals

 Maintain a fee and rental structure for the facilities 
and services at the airport which will make the 
airport as self-sustaining as possible. 

 Establish hangar and tie-down fees that compare 
favorably with the average of the peer General 
Aviation airports in the region.   

 Fund the Airport’s Capital Program with a mixture of 
debt and equity in addition to available State and 
Federal funds. 

 Continuously maintain a minimum unrestricted 
cash and investment balance equal to 100% of 
annual expenses. 

 Maintain a Debt Service Coverage Ratio of no less 
than 1.5x. 

Manassas Regional Airport 2

Item 6



June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 3

Economic Announcements | Chantilly Air Jet Center

 Chantilly Air Jet Center’s new FBO finished construction within the past year and is now fully operational.

– The state-of-the-art $14 Million, 90,000 square foot building features amenities such as conference 
rooms, pilot lounges, fitness centers, VIP waiting and screening areas, and rentable office spaces. 

Item 6



June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 4

Economic Announcements | APP Jet Center

 The APP Jet Center is completed and available for lease.

– Hangar 17,085 ft2

– Office Space 1,302 ft2

– Ramp 50,000 ft2

– Construction Cost $3.35 million

Item 6



June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 5

Economic Announcements | Aviator Showcase Event

 The Aircraft Owners and Pilots Association released 
plans for two 2021 Aviator Showcase events:

– Manassas, Virginia

• $20 gate fee

• Expected attendance of 1,000

– Fort Worth, Texas

 Planned for August 2021, the event will provide an 
excellent value and opportunity for aviation companies 
to interact with aircraft owners and pilots looking to 
purchase.

 The showcases are single-day (or two-day) events 
designed to provide new product and aircraft 
information to pilots, aircraft owners, and prospective 
buyers.

– Provides an up-close look at products, services, 
technologies along with demonstrations.

– This is the first major event for MRA post-COVID.

Source: Virginia Department of Aviation / Airports Owners and Pilots Association.

Item 6



June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 6

Economic Announcements | VDOT Transform 66

 The Transform 66 Outside the Beltway project will transform Northern Virginia’s Interstate 66 into a multimodal corridor that is anticipated to 
improve ground transportation to/from MRA.

 The project is a public-private partnership between the Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT), the Department of Rail and Public 
Transportation (DRPT), and private partner, I-66 Express Mobility Partners, delivering $3.7 billion of transportation improvements in the I-66 
corridor.   The Express Lanes are scheduled to open in December 2022.

– 22.5 miles of new Express Lanes alongside three regular lanes on I-66 from I-495 to University Boulevard in Gainesville.

– More reliable and faster trips on I-66 due to dynamically-tolled Express Lanes – available to solo drivers choosing to pay a toll and free to 
vehicles with three or more people.

– New and improved bus service and transit routes.

– New and expanded park and ride lots providing convenient access to the Express Lanes and more than 4,000 new park and ride spaces.

– Eleven (11) miles of new bike and pedestrian trails, including shared-use trails along I-66 that integrate with local trails, and new crossings of 
I-66 to improve and expand bicycle and pedestrian routes.

Item 6



Grant Funding / MRA Master Plan Update

June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 7

Economic Announcements

Duncan Aviation

 Duncan Aviation (“Duncan”) announced plans for a satellite repair 
station and will operate out of one of Chantilly Air Jet Center’s 
facilities. 

– The station operating out of Chantilly Air will join Duncan’s 
network of 19 satellite repair stations and three full-maintenance 
facilities located throughout the U.S., including in Nebraska, 
Michigan, and Utah.

– The station will offer numerous services such as major and minor 
airframe inspections, engine maintenance, major retrofits for 
cabin and cockpit systems, full paint and interior services, and 
pre-owned aircraft sales and acquisitions. 

 The Virginia Department of Aviation (VDOA) Board awarded more 
than $6.54 million to 27 airports across the Commonwealth, which 
will be utilized to fund approximately 40 projects.

– Of the $6.54 million, MRA received $85,186 to fund replacement 
and restriping of its access roads and parking lots.

– MRA has applied for a $530,000 grant related to the design of 
Taxiway B rehabilitation.

 Manassas Regional Airport was also awarded an additional $48,000 
to fund its Master Plan update by the FAA. 

– Implementation of the Master Plan is estimated to begin in the 
Summer of 2021 and will take approximately 18-20 months to 
complete. 

– MRA has applied for a $776,992 grant related to the Master Plan.

Item 6



Virtower

June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 8

Recent News

Runway Safety Action Team (RSAT) meeting

April 8, 2021

 Manassas Control Tower held its Runway Safety Action Team (RSAT) 
meeting.

– The purpose of the meeting was to bring air traffic, airport 
operations, and local stakeholders together to identify and 
mitigate risks of significant surface events at the Manassas 
Regional Airport.

December 23, 2020

 Manassas Regional Airport is the first Virginia airport to partner 
with the company.

 Virtower is a flight tracking system that will assist the airport in 
tracking operations and researching noise complaints.  

 The system will also help in providing the necessary statistical 
information to justify future projects and improvements.

Item 6



Salute to America Flyover

June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 9

Recent News

Runway 16R/34L

July 4, 2020

 On the 4th of July, Manassas Regional Airport participated in the 
annual Salute to America Flyover.

– This year’s salute was to the “Great Cities of the American 
Revolution.”

• The flyover began in Boston and proceeded to New York City, 
Philadelphia, Baltimore, and Washington D.C..

— The aircrafts staged at Manassas Regional Airport included the 
Boeing B-17 Flying Fortress, Martin B-25 Marauder, Boeing B-29 
Superfortress, among others.

November 25, 2020

 Runway 16R/34L officially reopened on November 25, 2020 after 
undergoing significant renovations and improvements. 

– The runway now has fresh pavement, new PAPI’s, added airfield 
guidance signage, and new LED light fixtures. 

Item 6



June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 10

FY 2022 Major Capital Projects

 In an effort to maximize the redevelopment potential for the 
west side of the airport, the Observation Road Relocation 
and Drainage Project will include:

– Demolition of hangars and building facilities; and

– Draining, stormwater, and grading improvements of 10 
acres.

 The funding for the Development Site includes $1.4 Million 
of Airport Funds and is estimated to be commence mid-
Calendar Year 2022.

 Taxiway A, the full length taxiway located to the west of 
Runway 16R/34L was most recently renovated in 1999 
and is in need of major pavement and electrical 
rehabilitation. 

– Significant electrical renovations such as the 
replacement of incandescent lighting and guidance 
signage with new LED edge lighting and signage will 
improve visibility for all users.

– Additionally, there will be a mill and overlay of the 
existing asphalt pavement. 

 Construction for the project is expected to begin in 2022.

Taxiway A Rehabilitation Observation Road Relocation and Drainage Project

Item 6



Financial Profile

June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 11

Item 6



 Moody’s Investors Service currently provides investment grade(1)

credit ratings for 70 Airports across the Country.

 Moody’s rating criteria includes evaluation of certain Financial 
Ratios consisting of:

– Financial Liquidity

– Debt Service Coverage

– Debt Burden

 While Manassas Regional Airport (“MRA” or “HEF”) does not carry a 
formal bond rating and has historically accessed capital utilizing the 
City’s credit, we will review several Key Financial Ratios over the 
following pages to show how the MRA compares relative to Airports 
rated by Moody’s as well as a number of Non-Rated Virginia 
Regional Airports.

 Later in the presentation, we compare MRA to other airports in the 
region that are of similar size and service and/or are perceived as 
direct competitors, herein referred to as the “Rates & Charges Peer 
Group”.

Peer Comparatives Overview

June 17, 2021

Source: Moody’s Investors Service.

Financial Ratio Peer Group
– Charlottesville – Norfolk [A3]
– Leesburg – Richmond [A2]
– Lynchburg – Roanoke
– Newport News – Shenandoah

Rates & Charges Peer Group
– Culpeper – Martin
– Frederick – Stafford
– Hagerstown – Warrenton
– Leesburg – Winchester

(1) Investment Grade includes ratings from Baa3 to Aaa.

Manassas Regional Airport 12

Item 6



June 17, 2021

Budget vs. Actual

Source: Airport Staff worksheets and Financial Statements.

Manassas Regional Airport 13

 In total, the FY 2020 Actual Revenues came in approximately $239,000 higher than budgeted and Actual Expenditures came 
in under budget by approximately $522,000. This consisted of variations from budgeted results with respect to the following:

■ Positive Variances in Comparison to Original Budget:

– CARES Act Funding received in the amount of $157,000 – not included in original budget.

– Tie Down revenues came in $36,000 higher.

– Other Revenues came in $66,000 higher; $45,000 of which was related to interest earnings.

– Wages & Benefits came in $114,000 lower.

– Services & Supplies came in $414,000 lower.
A B C D = B -  C E = D ÷ C F G

Approved Actual Over / Approved Recommended

Actual Actual Budget (Under) Budget Difference Budget Budget

2019 2020 2020 ($) (%) 2021 2022

1 Revenues

2 Franchises & Leases 1,853,911$        1,951,260$        1,959,891$    (8,631)$         -0.4% 2,148,800$        2,194,920$        

3 Hangar Rentals 963,623 985,510 989,869 (4,359) -0.4% 958,790 958,790

4 Fuel & Security Surcharge 272,499 244,676 252,200          (7 ,524)            -3.0% 287,270 260,390

5 Tie Downs & Other Revenues 308,001 433,918 174,300 259,618 148.9% 160,700 156,000

6 Total Operating Revenues 3,398,035$        3,615,365$        3,376,260$    239,105$      7.1% 3,555,560$        3,570,100$        

7
8
9 Expenses

10 Wages & Benefits 732,441$            737,371$            852,020$        (114,649)$     -13.5% 903,030$            942,330$            

11 Services & Supplies 677,501               590,701               1,004,630       (413,929)       -41.2% 977,100               1,215,660           

12 Utilities 144,136 148,557 125,000 23,557 18.8% 142,000 147,000

13 Security 91,131                 85,621                 92,120             (6 ,499)            -7.1% 92,300                 92,500                 

14 FAA Tower & Miscellaneous 169,458 153,119 163,700 (10,581) -6.5% 191,550 192,950

15 Total Operating Expenses 1,814,667$        1,715,369$        2,237,470$    (522,101)$     -23.3% 2,305,980$        2,590,440$        

Management reduced operations due to pandemic

Item 6



10-yr

Payout

FY Principal Interest Total Ratio

Totals 1,526,972$  138,226$     1 ,665,199$  

2021 205,558 34,853 240,412 96.1%

2022 211,029 30,164 241,193 98.2%

2023 216,507 25,008 241,515 100.0%

2024 226,992 19,316 246,308 100.0%

2025 232,485 13,044 245,529 100.0%

2026 237,985 6,469 244,454 100.0%

2027 33,493 2,886 36,379 100.0%

2028 34,009 2,370 36,379 100.0%

2029 34,533 1,846 36,379 100.0%

2030 35,065 1,314 36,379 100.0%

2031 35,605 774 36,379 100.0%

2032 23,710 182 23,892 100.0%

Existing Debt Profile

Par Outstanding as of 6/30/2020

Existing Debt Profile

Description Balance

Series 2014 D $1,140,000

Series 2016 VARF
(Takeout of State & City Loans)

386,972

Total $1,526,972

Existing Debt Service

Source: City CAFR and Final Numbers.

June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 14

 $-

 $50

 $100

 $150

 $200

 $250

 $300

 $350

 $400

 $450

 $500

2
0

21

2
0

22

2
0

23

2
0

25

2
0

26

2
0

27

2
0

28

2
0

30

2
0

31

2
0

32

Th
o

u
sa

nd
s

Interest Principal

Item 6



Approved Recommended
Actual Actual Actual Actual Budget Budget

Fiscal Year 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

1 Revenues 2,707,481 2,991,636 3,398,035 3,615,365 3,555,560 3,570,100
2 Expenses (excludes depreciation) 1,673,247 1,595,668 1,814,667 1,715,369 2,305,980 2,590,440
3 Net Revenues Available for Debt Service 1,034,234 1,395,968 1,583,368 1,899,996 1,249,580 979,660
4
5 Debt Service 407,689 451,760 453,410 239,080 240,420 241,200
6 Net Revenues After Debt Service 626,546 944,208 1,129,958 1,660,915 1,009,160 738,460
7
8 Capital Sources 776,994 776,994 476,471 1,211,808 686,000 2,551,000
9 Capital Uses 828,748 1,258,449 705,949 1,316,332 1,200,000 4,233,000

10 Net Capital Activity (51,754) (481,455) (229,478) (104,524) (514,000) (1,682,000)

11
12 Reconciling Items 61,353 109,953 (444,648) (195,733) 0 0
13
14 Change in Unrestricted Cash & Cash Equivalents 748,201 572,706 455,832 1,360,658 495,160 (943,540)

15 Change in Restricted Cash & Cash Equivalents 108,314 18,589 (1,247,342) 0 0 0
16 Net Change in Total Cash & Cash Equivalents 856,515 591,295 (791,510) 1,360,658 495,160 (943,540)
17
18 Ending Unrestricted Cash & Cash Equivalents 5,324,393 5,897,099 6,352,931 7,713,589 8,208,749 7,265,209

19 Ending Restricted Cash (1) 1,228,753 1,247,342 0 0 0 0
20 Total Ending Cash & Cash Equivalents 6,553,146 7,144,441 6,352,931 7,713,589 8,208,749 7,265,209

21
Unrestricted Cash as % of Expenses (2)

(100% Minimum Target)
256% 288% 280% 395% 322% 257%

22 Debt Service Coverage (3) 2.54 x 3.09 x 3.49 x 7.95 x 5.20 x 4.06 x

June 17, 2021

Historical Financial Profile

Notes:

(1) Ending Restricted Cash represent sale proceeds from the Redoubt Road property which were utilized in FY 2019 toward the pay-off of the 2004 VARF Loan and the partial prepayment of the 2016 VARF Loan.

(2) Total ‘Ending’ Unrestricted Fund Balance divided by (Expenses + Debt Service).

(3) ‘Net Revenues Available for Debt Service’ divided by ‘Debt Service’.

(4) Includes the use of Unrestricted Cash of $467,242 to pay-off the 2004 VARF Loan.

(5) Updated Amount provided by City Staff in June 2019, inclusive of interest earnings.

Source: Airport Staff worksheets and Financial Statements.

Manassas Regional Airport 15

(5)

(4)

Item 6



June 17, 2021

Operating Revenues vs. Budget Unrestricted Cash as a % of Expenditures

Operating Expenditures vs. Budget Observations

 Operating Revenues

– MRA budgets conservatively, such that actual results approximate 
or come in better than budget.

 Operating Expenditures

– Similarly, actual expenditures have come in better than budget due 
to conservative budgeting.

 Unrestricted Cash as a % of Expenditures

– MRA continues to grow its Unrestricted Reserves with the goal of 
funding the local share of future capital needs in a strategically 
balanced approach (i.e., Cash vs. Debt).

Historical Perspective: Budget to Actual

Source: Airport Staff worksheets and Financial Statements.

Manassas Regional Airport 16

Strategic 
Goal 

(Minimum)
100%

$0.0

$0.5

$1.0

$1.5

$2.0

$2.5

$3.0

$3.5

$4.0

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

M
ill
io
ns

Actual Budget

$0.0

$0.5

$1.0

$1.5

$2.0

$2.5

$3.0

$3.5

$4.0

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

M
ill
io
ns

Actual Budget

0%

50%

100%

150%

200%

250%

300%

350%

400%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Actual Budget

Item 6



June 17, 2021

Operating Ratio % Peer Comp: Operating Ratio %

Operations: Revenues vs. Expenses  Definition: Operating Ratio %

– Operating and maintenance expenses divided by total 
operating revenues.  Operating and maintenance 
expenses exclude depreciation, amortization, and debt 
service requirements.

 MRA 2020 Calculation:

– Operating Expenses (A): $1,715,369

– Operating Revenues (B): $3,615,365

– Operating Ratio (A÷B): 47.4%

Historical Perspective: Operations

Source: Airport Staff worksheets, Financial Statements, and Moody’s Investors Service (MFRA, most recent available).

Lower

Is

Better

Manassas Regional Airport 17

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

71.9%

61.3%

57.2%

74.8%

88.5%

79.1%

76.8%

75.4%

74.8%

68.4%

52.1%

49.4%

47.4%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

National Baa Median
National A Median

National Aa Median
VA Peer Median

Shenandoah (SHD)
Charlottesville (CHO)
Newport News (PHF)

Norfolk (ORF)
Lynchburg (LYH)
Roanoke (ROA)
Leesburg (JYO)

Richmond (RIC)
Manassas (HEF) 2020

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

M
ill
io
ns

Expenses Revenues

Item 6



Liquidity % Peer Comp: Liquidity %

Historical Perspective: Liquidity%

June 17, 2021

 Definition: Liquidity %

– Liquidity % is Net Working Capital (Current Assets Less 
Current Liabilities) divided by Operating & Maintenance 
Expenses (which excludes depreciation, amortization, and 
debt service requirements).

 MRA 2020 Calculation:

– Current Assets (A): $9,075,250

– Current Liabilities (B): $1,285,303

– Net Working Capital (A-B=C): $7,789,947

– Operating Expenses (D): $1,715,369

– Liquidity Ratio (C÷D): 454.1%

Source: Airport Staff worksheets, Financial Statements, and Moody’s Investors Service (MFRA, most recent available).

Higher

Is

Better

Manassas Regional Airport 18

0%

100%

200%

300%

400%

500%

2017 2018 2019 2020

136.3%

166.3%

211.8%

84.8%

13.2%

15.7%

28.2%

62.7%

107.0%

251.0%

269.9%

454.1%

0% 100% 200% 300% 400% 500%

National Baa Median

National A Median

National Aa Median

VA Peer Median

Roanoke (ROA)

Shenandoah (SHD)

Newport News (PHF)

Richmond (RIC)

Norfolk (ORF)

Lynchburg (LYH)

Charlottesville (CHO)

Manassas (HEF) 2020

Item 6



0%

50%

100%

150%

200%

250%

300%

350%

400%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Unrestricted Cash/Investments as a % of Expenses Peer Comp: Unrestricted Cash/Investments as a % of Expenses

Historical Perspective:
Unrestricted Cash/Investments as a % of Expenses

June 17, 2021

Source: Airport Staff worksheets and Financial Statements.

 Definition: Unrestricted Cash/Investments as a % of Expenses

– Cash includes all Unrestricted Cash, Cash Equivalents, and 
Investments.

– Expenses are Operating & Maintenance Expenses (which 
excludes depreciation and amortization) plus debt service 
requirements.

 MRA 2020 Calculation:

– Unrestricted Cash/Cash Equivalents (A): $7,713,589

– Expenses (B): $1,954,449

– Unrestricted Cash as a 
% of Expenses (A÷B=C): 394.7%

Higher

is

Better

Strategic 
Goal 

(Minimum)
100%

Manassas Regional Airport 19

48.2%

11.7%

21.1%

23.0%

46.2%

50.3%

110.7%

218.9%

394.7%

0% 50% 100% 150% 200% 250% 300% 350% 400%

VA Peer Median

Roanoke (ROA)

Shenandoah (SHD)

Newport News (PHF)

Charlottesville (CHO)

Richmond (RIC)

Norfolk (ORF)

Lynchburg (LYH)

Manassas (HEF) 2020

Item 6



Fund Balance / Unrestricted Cash & Equivalents Peer Comp: Fund Balance

Historical Perspective: Fund Balance

June 17, 2021

 Definition: Fund Balance

– Reserve funds that are maintained for emergencies 
and/or discretionary use (within the limits of policy 
constraints).

Source: Airport Staff worksheets, Financial Statements, and Moody’s Investors Service (MFRA, most recent available).

Manassas Regional Airport 20

$0.0

$1.0

$2.0

$3.0

$4.0

$5.0

$6.0

$7.0

$8.0

2017 2018 2019 2020

M
ill
io
ns

$14.1

$147.4

$608.8

$6.5

$0.7

$1.0

$1.8

$2.8

$6.5

$7.7

$19.5

$45.3

$7.7

$0.0 $10.0 $20.0 $30.0 $40.0 $50.0

National Baa Median
National A Median

National Aa Median
VA Peer Median

Shenandoah (SHD)
Roanoke (ROA)

Newport News (PHF)
Charlottesville (CHO)

Lynchburg (LYH)
Leesburg (JYO)

Richmond (RIC)
Norfolk (ORF)

Manassas (HEF) 2020

Millions

Item 6



Debt Ratio % Peer Comp: Debt Ratio %

Historical Perspective: Debt Ratio %

June 17, 2021

 Definition: Debt Ratio %

– Net funded debt divided by the sum of net fixed assets, 
depreciation, Passenger Facility Charge balances, and net 
working capital.  This measures the degree of leverage of 
the facility.

– Net funded debt is long-term debt plus accrued interest 
payable less the balance in both the Debt Service 
Reserve Fund and Debt Service or Sinking Fund.

 MRA 2020 Calculation:

– Net Funded Debt (A): $1,526,972

– Net Fixed Assets (B): $36,266,794

– Debt Ratio (A÷B): 4.2%
Source: Airport Staff worksheets, Financial Statements, and Moody’s Investors Service (MFRA, most recent available).

Lower

is

Better

Manassas Regional Airport 21

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

2017 2018 2019 2020

29.0%

32.1%

37.8%

6.4%

42.4%

16.5%

9.6%

8.5%

2.8%

1.0%

0.0%

4.2%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

National Baa Median

National A Median

National Aa Median

VA Peer Median

Norfolk (ORF)

Richmond (RIC)

Shenandoah (SHD)

Newport News (PHF)

Lynchburg (LYH)

Charlottesville (CHO)

Roanoke (ROA)

Manassas (HEF) 2020

Item 6



0.00 x

1.00 x

2.00 x

3.00 x

4.00 x

5.00 x

6.00 x

7.00 x

8.00 x

9.00 x

10.00 x

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Debt Service Coverage Peer Comp: Debt Service Coverage

Historical Perspective: Debt Service Coverage

June 17, 2021

 Definition: Debt Service Coverage

– Net revenues divided by annual debt service.

 MRA 2020 Calculation:

– Net Revenues (A): $1,899,996

– Debt Service (B): $239,080

– Coverage Ratio (A÷B): 7.9 x

Source: Airport Staff worksheets, Financial Statements, and Moody’s Investors Service (MFRA, most recent available).

Higher

is

Better

Strategic 
Goal 

(Minimum)
1.50 x

Manassas Regional Airport 22

1.6 x

2.1 x

2.6 x

3.1 x

0.9 x

2.0 x

2.3 x

2.6 x

3.5 x

3.6 x

9.3 x

7.9 x

0.0 x 1.0 x 2.0 x 3.0 x 4.0 x 5.0 x 6.0 x 7.0 x 8.0 x 9.0 x 10.0 x

National Baa Median

National A Median

National Aa Median

VA Peer Median

Leesburg (JYO)

Norfolk (ORF)

Richmond (RIC)

Newport News (PHF)

Charlottesville (CHO)

Shenandoah (SHD)

Lynchburg (LYH)

Manassas (HEF) 2020

Item 6



Debt Service Safety Margin % Peer Comp: Debt Service Safety Margin %

Historical Perspective: Debt Service Safety Margin %

June 17, 2021

 Definition: Debt Service Safety Margin %

– Net revenues less principal and interest requirements for 
the year divided by gross revenue and income.

– This ratio measures the percentage revenues can decline 
and still maintain 1.0x coverage of debt service.

 MRA 2020 Calculation:

– Net Revenues (A): $1,899,996

– Debt Service (B): $239,080

– Gross Revenue (C): $3,615,365

– Debt Safety
Margin Ratio ([A-B]÷C): 45.9%

Source: Airport Staff worksheets, Financial Statements, and Moody’s Investors Service (MFRA, most recent available).

Higher

is

Better

Manassas Regional Airport 23

16.9%

18.1%

19.3%

14.9%

-4.3%

8.3%

12.2%

14.3%

14.9%

22.4%

28.2%

31.6%

45.9%

-5% 0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

National Baa Median
National A Median

National Aa Median
VA Peer Median

Leesburg (JYO)
Shenandoah (SHD)

Norfolk (ORF)
Newport News (PHF)
Charlottesville (CHO)

Lynchburg (LYH)
Richmond (RIC)
Roanoke (ROA)

Manassas (HEF) 2020

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Item 6



Projected Financial Results

June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 24

Item 6



June 17, 2021

Capital Improvement Program

Notes:

(1) Future Year activity assumed to be spent equally over FY2027 – 2031.  Given the uncertainty over timing and funding 
sources related to the Air Traffic Control Tower, this project has been excluded from the financial projections.

(2) Not included in the Proposed FY 2022 CIP Budget document.

Source: CIP Budget documents.

* Please note: The listing of projects shown above 
reflects new capital improvement activity. Ongoing 
maintenance projects are included under operating 
expenses in the Airport’s financial projections.

Manassas Regional Airport 25

Project ID # 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Future Years ( 1) Total Project

1 Uses:
2 Air Traffic Control Tower A-030 -                         -                          -                          -                      -                          -                      8,600,000                  8,600,000            
3 Realignment of Wakeman Drive & Observation Road A-033 -                         -                          -                          -                      -                          -                      3,850,000                  3,850,000            
4 Land Acquisition Southwest Side of Airport A-034 -                         -                          -                          -                      -                          -                      3,000,000                  3,000,000            
5 Fuel Farm Upgrade A-045 -                         -                          -                          -                      -                          -                      550,000                      550,000                
6 Taxiway A Rehabilitation with Lighting System Upgrades A-069 250,000         2,550,000      -                          -                      -                          -                      -                                      2,800,000            
7 North East Apron Expansion A-072 -                         -                          -                          -                      -                          -                      2,200,000                  2,200,000            
8 Rehabilitate/Widen Taxiway B with Lighting System Upgrade A-074 450,000         -                          4,845,000      -                      -                          -                      -                                      5,295,000            
9 Terminal Parking Lot Expansion A-076 -                         -                          -                          -                      -                          -                      1,100,000                  1,100,000            

10 Midfield Ditch Restoration A-082 -                         65,000             -                          250,000      -                          -                      -                                      315,000                
11 Installation of Backup Generators A-085 -                         -                          -                          -                      -                          -                      550,000                      550,000                
12 West Corporate Development Site / Drainage Improvements A-087 500,000         1,400,000      -                          -                      -                          -                      -                                      1,900,000            
13 Rehabilitation of Runway 16L/34R A-091 -                         -                          600,000          -                      5,000,000      -                      -                                      5,600,000            
14 Upgrade and Replace 16L/34R Lighting System A-092 -                         -                          -                          -                      -                          -                      -                                      -                                
15 East Apron Rehabilitation A-093 -                         -                          -                          -                      250,000          -                      3,500,000                  3,750,000            
16 Runway 16L/34R Extension A-094 -                         -                          -                          -                      -                          -                      3,775,000                  3,775,000            
17 Taxiway B Lighting System Upgrades A-095 -                         -                          -                          -                      -                          -                      -                                      -                                
18 Environmental Assessment for Master Plan Projects A-096 -                         -                          -                          250,000      -                          -                      -                                      250,000                
19 South East Airport Complex Site Development A-097 -                         -                          -                          -                      -                          400,000      7,300,000                  7,700,000            
20 South West Hangar Redevelopment A-098 -                         -                          -                          -                      -                          200,000      -                                      200,000                

21 Other Miscellaneous Projects funded by Airport Operations(2) -                         218,000          -                          -                      -                          -                      -                                      218,000                
22 Total Uses 1,200,000 4,233,000  5 ,445,000  500,000  5 ,250,000  600,000  34,425,000        51,653,000    
23
24 Sources:
25 Enterprise Funds / Operations 514,000         1,682,000      108,000          55,000         105,000          48,000         1,170,000                  3,682,000            
26 State 56,000            256,000          436,000          220,000      420,000          192,000      3,243,000                  4,823,000            
27 Federal 630,000         2,295,000      4,901,000      225,000      4,725,000      360,000      21,412,000               34,548,000          
28 Other -                         -                          -                          -                      -                          -                      -                                      -                                

29 TBD (1) -                         -                          -                          -                      -                          -                      8,600,000                  8,600,000            
30 Total Sources 1,200,000 4,233,000  5 ,445,000  500,000  5 ,250,000  600,000  34,425,000        51,653,000    

Item 6



June 17, 2021

Historical & Projected Growth Rates

Notes:
(1) Franchises and Leases have been combined due to similar growth parameters within their contracts; while Hangar Rentals have been segregated for purposes of this analysis.
(2) Annual and Average Growth numbers are calculated in Total across all sub categories of Revenues and Expenses.

Source: Airport Staff worksheets.

Manassas Regional Airport 26

Actual Actual Avg. Growth Approved Recommended Projected Projected
Actual Actual Actual Actual 2020 2020 2016 Budget Budget 2023 2025

Fiscal Year 2016 2017 2018 2019 (%) ($) 2020 2021 2022 2024 2028

1 Revenues
2 Franchises & Leases 1,637,675 1.6% -8.7% 22.0% 5.3% 1,951,260 5.0% 2,148,800 2,194,920       2.5% 3.0%
3 Hangar Rentals 349,196 76.7% 54.1% 1.4% 2.3% 985,510     33.6% 958,790     958,790          2.5% 3.0%
4 Fuel & Security Surcharge 271,128 4.5% -4.4% 0.6% -10.2% 244,676     -2.4% 287,270     260,390          2.5% 3.0%
5 Tie Downs & Other Revenues 194,671 -26.0% 74.2% 22.7% 40.9% 433,918     28.0% 160,700     156,000          2.5% 3.0%
6 Total Operating Revenues 2,452,670 10.4% 10.5% 13.6% 6.4% 3,615,365 10.2% 3,555,560 3,570,100       2.5% 3.0%
7
8
9 Expenses

10 Wages & Benefits 715,818 8.8% -8.8% 3.1% 0.7% 737,371     0.9% 903,030     942,330          4.0% 4.0%

11 Services & Supplies 438,125 28.8% -7.5% 29.8% -12.8% 590,701     9.6% 977,100     1,215,660       4.0% 4.0%
12 Utilities 100,762 8.9% 24.4% 5.6% 3.1% 148,557     10.5% 142,000     147,000          4.0% 4.0%
13 Security 84,671 0.8% 1.7% 4.9% -6.0% 85,621        0.4% 92,300        92,500             4.0% 4.0%
14 FAA Tower & Miscellaneous 110,372 22.1% 3.7% 21.3% -9.6% 153,119     9.4% 191,550     192,950          4.0% 4.0%

15 Total Operating Expenses 1,449,748 15.4% -4.6% 13.7% -5.5% 1,715,369 4.8% 2,305,980 2,590,440       4.0% 4.0%

Item 6



Approved Recommended
Budget Budget Projected Projected Projected Projected Projected Projected

Fiscal Year 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

1 Revenues 3,555,560 3,570,100 3,659,353 3,750,836 3,863,361 3,979,262 4,098,640 4,221,599
2 Expenses (excludes depreciation) 2,305,980 2,590,440 2,694,058 2,801,820 2,913,893 3,030,448 3,151,666 3,277,733
3 Net Revenues Available for Debt Service 1,249,580 979,660 965,295 949,016 949,469 948,814 946,974 943,866
4
5 Existing Debt Service 240,420           241,200           241,515           246,308           245,529           244,454           36,379              36,379              
6 Proposed Debt Service 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7 Total Debt Service 240,420           241,200           241,515           246,308           245,529           244,454           36,379              36,379              
8
9 Net Revenues After Debt Service 1,009,160 738,460 723,780 702,708 703,939 704,360 910,595 907,487

10

11 Capital Sources(1) 686,000 2,551,000 5,337,000 445,000 5,145,000 552,000 4,931,000 4,931,000
12 Capital Uses 1,200,000 4,233,000 5,445,000 500,000 5,250,000 600,000 5,165,000 5,165,000
13 Net Capital Activity (514,000) (1,682,000) (108,000) (55,000) (105,000) (48,000) (234,000) (234,000)
14

15 New Bonds Issued(1) / Use of Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
16 Retirement of Existing Loans/Debt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
17 Net Financing Activity 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18
19 Change in Unrestricted Cash & Cash Equivalents 495,160 (943,540) 615,780 647,708 598,939 656,360 676,595 673,487

20 Change in Restricted Cash & Cash Equivalents 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
21 Net Change in Total Cash & Cash Equivalents 495,160 (943,540) 615,780 647,708 598,939 656,360 676,595 673,487
22
23 Ending Unrestricted Cash & Cash Equivalents 8,208,749 7,265,209 7,880,989 8,528,697 9,127,637 9,783,997 10,460,591 11,134,078
24 Ending Restricted Cash 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
25 Total Ending Cash & Cash Equivalents 8,208,749 7,265,209 7,880,989 8,528,697 9,127,637 9,783,997 10,460,591 11,134,078

26 Unrestricted Cash as % of Expenses (2) 322% 257% 268% 280% 289% 299% 328% 336%

27 Debt Service Coverage (3) 5.20 x 4.06 x 4.00 x 3.85 x 3.87 x 3.88 x 26.03 x 25.95 x

June 17, 2021

Pro Forma Results

Notes:

(1) Capital Sources and Uses in FYs 2027 and 2028 reflect Future Years’ CIP spent equally over FY 2027 through FY 2031. Additionally, Capital Sources excludes the Air Traffic Control Tower estimated at $8.6 Million due to the uncertainty of 
funding sources in the future related to this project.

(2) Total ‘Ending’ Fund Balance divided by (Expenses + Debt Service).

(3) ‘Net Revenues Available for Debt Service’ divided by ‘Debt Service’.

(4) The 2014D Loan is paid off in FY 2026, so the 2016 VARF Loan is the only remaining debt outstanding with FY 2027 debt service of $36,379.

Source: Airport Staff worksheets.

Manassas Regional Airport 27

(4)

(1)

Item 6



26.03 x 25.95 x
0.00 x

1.00 x

2.00 x

3.00 x

4.00 x

5.00 x

6.00 x

7.00 x

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

June 17, 2021

Operating Ratio %

Debt Service Coverage

Projected Key Ratios

Unrestricted Cash/Investments as a % of Expenses

Debt Service Safety Margin %

Higher

is

Better

Higher

is

Better

Lower

is

Better

Higher

is

Better

Strategic 
Goal 

(Minimum)
100%

Strategic 
Goal 

(Minimum)
1.50 x

Manassas Regional Airport 28

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
0%

50%

100%

150%

200%

250%

300%

350%

400%

450%

500%

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

Item 6



Potential Capital Funding Capacity
Relative to Key Ratios

June 17, 2021

 The analysis above assumes MRA utilizes a combination of debt and cash reserves 
to fund additional capital projects while still meeting key financial benchmarks.

 Debt is assumed to be issued at 5% with a 20-Year level payment structure.

 The Airport established minimum Strategic Goal Minimums as follows:

– 1.50x Debt Service Coverage; and

– 100% Unrestricted Cash/Investments as a % of Expense.

Debt and Cash Capital Capacity Over 5-Year Period (FY 2022-2026)

Aggressive Conservative

Aggressive

Conservative

* Blue denotes MRA’s Debt and Cash funded Capital Capacity over a 5-Year Period (FY 2022-2026) based upon the Airport’s selected Strategic Goal Minimums.

Manassas Regional Airport 29

Unrestricted Cash/Investments as a % of Expenses

100% 125% 150% 175% 200%

1.00 x 14,388,714   13,340,119   12,291,524   11,242,929   10,194,334   

1.25 x 12,621,325   11,631,941   10,642,557   9,653,173     8,663,789     

1.50 x 11,196,715   10,280,960   9,365,204     8,449,448     7,533,693     

1.75 x 10,105,061   9,211,902     8,318,742     7,425,583     6,532,424     

2.00 x 9,286,451     8,410,236     7,534,022     6,657,807     5,781,592     

D
eb

t S
er

vi
ce

 
C

ov
er

ag
e

Item 6



Peer Comparison:
Rates & Charges

June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 30

Item 6



$435 

$600 

$444 

$425 

$355 

$435 

$435 

$0 $100 $200 $300 $400 $500 $600

Peer Group Median

Leesburg

Winchester

Stafford

Martin

Manassas FY '21

Manassas FY '20

June 17, 2021

Tie-Down Rental Rates (Monthly)

42’ Hangar Rental Rates (Monthly)

Peer Comparison:
Rates & Charges

40’ Hangar Rental Rates (Monthly)

45’ Hangar Rental Rates (Monthly)

Source: Airport Staff worksheets.

Manassas Regional Airport 31

Note: MRA Single Engine rate shown above.

Note: MRA Regular Unit rate shown above; not End Unit.

$80 

$145 

$120 

$114 

$87 

$72 

$65 

$45 

$80 

$80 

$0 $25 $50 $75 $100 $125 $150 $175

Peer Group Median

Martin

Leesburg

Frederick

Winchester

Warrenton

Stafford

Culpeper

Manassas FY '21

Manassas FY '20

$278 

$382 

$278 

$264 

$231 

$218 

$360 

$360 

$0 $100 $200 $300 $400 $500 $600

Peer Group Median

Winchester

Frederick

Warrenton

Culpeper

Martin

Manassas FY '21

Manassas FY '20

$408 

$550 

$550 

$446 

$382 

$263 

$256 

$408 

$408 

$0 $100 $200 $300 $400 $500 $600

Peer Group Median

Leesburg

Warrenton

Frederick

Winchester

Martin

Hagerstown

Manassas FY '21

Manassas FY '20

Item 6



48’ Hangar Rental Rates (Monthly) 60’ Hangar Rental Rates (Corporate Monthly)

Peer Comparison:
Rates & Charges

June 17, 2021

Source: Airport Staff worksheets.

Manassas Regional Airport 32

Note: MRA Regular Unit rate shown above; not End Unit. Note: MRA rate shown above for 50’ x 60’ Units; not single unit of 60’ x 60’.

$1,500 

$1,900 

$1,000 

$900 

$1,500 

$1,500 

$0 $400 $800 $1,200 $1,600 $2,000

Peer Group Median

Leesburg

Culpeper

Stafford

Manassas FY '21

Manassas FY '20

$505 

$618 

$603 

$600 

$500 

$319 

$505 

$505 

$0 $100 $200 $300 $400 $500 $600

Peer Group Median

Frederick

Hagerstown

Leesburg

Warrenton

Culpeper

Manassas FY '21

Manassas FY '20

Item 6



Performance Measures

June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 33

Item 6



Total Number of Based Aircraft by Fiscal Year Aircraft Operations (Take Offs & Landings) by Fiscal Year

Performance Measures
Key Indicators for General Aviation Airports

June 17, 2021

Fuel Flowage (Gallons Per Year) by Fiscal Year

Source: Provided by Airport Staff.

Manassas Regional Airport 34

Note: FY 2021 Year-to-Date figures are shown as of 4/30/2021.

410 410 389 395  392 410
0

100

200

300

400

500

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

As it relates to CY 2020 Aircraft Operations

 After a spring hampered by the pandemic, Manassas 
Regional Airport saw traffic return over the summer.

– Total aircraft operations were at their lowest in April at 
2,694, nearly 5,000 fewer than in April 2019. 

– Activity stepped up in June, when the airport saw aircraft 
operations of 6,842, just 1,000 below June of 2019. 

 Much of the airport’s resurgence in traffic was due to 
chartered flights.

83,815  89,654  80,714  83,130  75,316  72,829 
 ‐

 20,000

 40,000

 60,000

 80,000

 100,000

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
YTD

2.9 3.0 2.9 2.8 2.4 2.4
 ‐

 0.5

 1.0

 1.5

 2.0

 2.5

 3.0

 3.5

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
YTD

M
ill
io
ns

Item 6



June 17, 2021

Consumer Price Index | 40 Year Trend

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, CPI for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U), Washington-Arlington-Alexandria, DC-VA-MD-WV

Manassas Regional Airport 35

 MRA uses the Consumer Price Index (CPI) for the Northern Virginia (NOVA) region as the basis for setting the 
escalation clause in its long-term agreements.

 The chart below illustrates the annual change in CPI over the past 40 years in NOVA.

– The change has ranged from -0.1% to as high as 9.2%.

– The CPI for NOVA has averaged 2.9%.

‐1.0%

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

6.0%

7.0%

8.0%

9.0%

10.0%

19
81

19
83

19
85

19
87

19
89

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

Change in CPI for All Urban Consumers (1981 to 2021)

CPI for All Urban Consumers (CPI‐U) Average

Item 6



Observations

June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 36

Item 6



 MRA’s financial performance has outperformed projections and budget estimates, which has resulted in a stronger financial profile 
and kept the Airport above its Strategic Goal Minimums with respect to Cash Reserves and Debt Service Coverage Ratio.

– Unrestricted Cash as a % of Expenses have grown from 256% in FY 2017 to 395% in FY 2020 and is projected to remain above its  
100% strategic minimum goal for the foreseeable future, even with a drawdown for CIP purposes in FY 2022. 

– Debt Service Coverage remains well above the 1.50x minimum strategic goal and is projected to be strong over the upcoming years.
The natural step-down in existing debt service after FY 2026 will provide MRA potential capacity for future debt. 

 Although Aircraft Operations and Fuel Flowage were impacted in FY 2021 due to the pandemic, the Airport’s Revenues were fairly well 
insulated due to strong contractual relationships and management’s ability to control (reduce) operating expenses.

 MRA compares favorably to its Financial Ratio (State and National) Peer Group as well as its Rates and Charges Peer Group.

– Key Financial Ratios are strong; and

– Tie-Down and Hangar Rental Rates are in line with regional peer airports.

Observations | Performance

June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 37

 The Airport’s projected CIP is predominately funded from State and Federal sources. 

– However, the Airport plans to use approximately $1.4 Million in FY 2022 for the 
Observation Road Relocation and Drainage Project.

– Based upon current reserves and growth assumptions included in the financial 
forecast, MRA has between $5.7 Million and $14.4 Million of capacity to fund 
additional capital projects depending upon how it manages itself relative to Key 
Financial Benchmarks.

– With respect to the Air Traffic Control Tower project identified in the “future 
years”, the actual timing and available funding sources (i.e., grants, operations, 
debt) may have an impact on future capacity.

Item 6



Appendix A

Existing Debt Details

June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 38

Item 6



Existing Debt Details

June 17, 2021

Source: City CAFR and Final Numbers.

Manassas Regional Airport 39

Series 2014 D (Refunded part of 2005 C's)
FY Coupon Principal Interest Total

Total 1,140,000     101,136         1,241,136     
2021 2.250% 175,000         29,033            204,033         
2022 2.500% 180,000         24,814            204,814         
2023 2.625% 185,000         20,136            205,136         
2024 2.850% 195,000         14,929            209,929         
2025 3.000% 200,000         9,150              209,150         
2026 3.000% 205,000         3,075              208,075         
2027 -                         
2028 -                         
2029 -                         
2030 -                         
2031 -                         
2032 -                         

Series 2016 VARF (Takeout of State & City Loans)
FY Coupon Principal Interest Total

Total 386,972         37,091            424,063         
2021 1.5344% 30,558            5,821              36,379            
2022 1.5344% 31,029            5,350              36,379            
2023 1.5344% 31,507            4,872              36,379            
2024 1.5344% 31,992            4,387              36,379            
2025 1.5344% 32,485            3,894              36,379            
2026 1.5344% 32,985            3,394              36,379            
2027 1.5344% 33,493            2,886              36,379            
2028 1.5344% 34,009            2,370              36,379            
2029 1.5344% 34,533            1,846              36,379            
2030 1.5344% 35,065            1,314              36,379            
2031 1.5344% 35,605            774                  36,379            
2032 1.5344% 23,710            182                  23,892            

Item 6



Appendix B

Fitch Peer Review of U.S. Airports 

(Attribute Assessments, Metrics and Ratings)

December 14, 2020

June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 40

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 0  

 

   

Peer Review of U.S. Airports  
Attribute Assessments, Metrics and Ratings  

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 1  

Attribute Assessments, Metrics and Ratings 

Related Research 
U.S. Airports — 2020 Fitch Analytical Comparative Tool (FACT) (December 2020) 

Fitch Ratings 2021 Outlook: U.S. Transportation Infrastructure (December 2020) 

US Airports & Toll Roads Traffic Monitor (December 2020) 

Fitch Updates its U.S. Transportation Sector Coronavirus Assumptions (Varying 
Coronavirus Effects Necessitate Revisions to Forecast Recovery Assumptions)  
(November 2020) 

North American Aviation Update: Airports and Airlines (A Tepid Recovery Raises Industry 
Risk Profile Despite Defensive Measures) (September 2020) 

Coronavirus Stress Testing: U.S. International Gateway and Primary Hub Airports 
(Franchise Strength and Liquidity Offset Downside Stresses, Terminal Projects More 
Exposed) (June 2020) 

Coronavirus Stress Test: U.S. Large Airports and Concentrated Hubs (Resilient Assets with 
Moderate Fiscal Pressures Under Stress Scenarios) (June 2020) 

Coronavirus Stress Test: U.S. Regional Airports (Risks More Acute to Smaller Regional 
Airports Under Downside Scenarios) (June 2020) 

Coronavirus Stress Test U.S. Airports' Special Revenue Bonds (Limited Revenue Pledge May 
Pose Elevated Risk Should Traffic Downturn Persist) (June 2020) 

Related Criteria 
Airports Rating Criteria (October 2020) 

Infrastructure and Project Finance Rating Criteria (March 2020) 

 

 

Seth Lehman 
+1 212 908-0755 
seth.lehman@fitchratings.com 

 

 

Jeffrey Lack 
+1 312 368-3171 
jeffrey.lack@fitchratings.com 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Jennie Mu 
+1 646 582-4748 
jennie.mu@fitchratings.com 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Inside  Page 

Overview..................................................................................................................................................................................................... 1 
Performance Highlights  .................................................................................................................................................................. 2 
Attribute Assessment Distributions — U.S. Ai rport .................................................................................................. 4 
Conclusion ................................................................................................................................................................................................. 5 
Appendix A: Key Rating Driver Assessments  for Airports ................................................................................... 6 
Appendix B: Definitions ................................................................................................................................................................... 8 
Appendix C ................................................................................................................................................................................................ 9 
Appendix D: Ai rport Attribute S cori ng............................................................................................................................. 10 
Appendix E: Ai rport Statistics S ummary  ......................................................................................................................... 12 
Appendix F: Ai rport Statistics by Rating Category.................................................................................................. 13 
Appendix G: Ai rport Statistics by FAA Classification............................................................................................ 15 
Appendix H: Ai rport Statistics by Ai rport Type ......................................................................................................... 17 
Appendix I: Ai rport Statistics by Region.......................................................................................................................... 19 
Appendix J: Car Rental Financi ngs/CONRACs — Revenue Risk Factors ............................................... 21 
Appendix K: CONRAC Attri bute Scoring  ....................................................................................................................... 22 
Appendix L: CONRAC Key Metri cs ..................................................................................................................................... 23 
 

 

  

Peer Review of U.S. Airports 

Item 6

https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10146681
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10144333
https://www.fitchratings.com/infrastructure-project-finance/us-traffic-monitor
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10144124
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10144124
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10144124
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10136370
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10136370
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10120349
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10120349
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10120349
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10120350
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10120350
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10120351
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10120351
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10120352
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10120352
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10140380
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10140380
https://app.fitchconnect.com/search/research/article/RPT_10114533
mailto:seth.lehman@fitchratings.com
mailto:jeffrey.lack@fitchratings.com
mailto:jennie.mu@fitchratings.com


 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 2  

Overview 
The Peer Review of U.S. Airports is an annual, point-in-time assessment of Fitch-rated airports , 
including airport car rental credits, and highlights their operating and financial performance . 
These benchmarks are used for determining attribute assessments.  

The report utilizes nine statistics and ratios that are calculated from the fiscal 2019 annual 
audited financial statements or from supplemental data received directly from the airport, as 
well as  circumstances unique to the credit. Fitch Ratings seeks to highlight these metrics in the 
reports and press releases published during the rating process for the benefit of the reader.  

Most rating actions taken since last year’s peer review, published in November 2019, were  
negative rating actions related to the coronavirus pandemic. Please refer to Appendix D for a 
full listing of public monitored ratings and attribute assessments. Fitch’s forward-looking  
rating case leverage metric — year-five net debt/cash flow available for debt service (CFADS ) 
— incorporates the significant drop in enplaned passengers in 2020. 

The drop is due to the pandemic and Fitch’s recovery assumptions. Fitch’s rating case 
assumptions are detailed in Coronavirus Stress Testing: U.S. International Gateway and Primary 
Hub Airports (Franchise Strength and Liquidity Offset Downside Stresses, Terminal Projects More 
Exposed) (June 2020);  Coronavirus Stress Test: U.S. Large Airports and Concentrated Hubs 
(Resilient Assets with Moderate Fiscal Pressures Under Stress Scenarios) (June 2020); Coronavirus 
Stress Test: U.S. Regional Airports (Risks More Acute to Smaller Regional Airports Under Downside 
Scenarios) (June 2020); and Coronavirus Stress Test U.S. Airports' Special Revenue Bonds (Limited 
Revenue Pledge May Pose Elevated Risk Should Traffic Downturn Persist) (June 2020).  

The medians in this report are presented by the following methods: rating category, Federal  
Aviation Administration (FAA) classification, airport type and geographic region. In 
coordination with this peer study, Fitch also publishes the Fitch Analytical Comparative Tool, 
which looks at key credit metrics of individual airports and provides peer analysis of multiple 
airport credits, as well as an interactive airport map tool with ratings and key metrics. 

In this report, a separate section is included to show the key risk factor table and a comparison 
of operating and financial metrics for Fitch-rated airport car rental credits (See Appendices J 
through L). 

Key Rating Drivers 
Fitch’s rating criteria for airports identifies five key rating drivers implicit in all airport 
revenue bond and airport rental car ratings: the resiliency of passenger volume (volume); the 
strength and competitiveness of the airport’s contractual framework with its airline partners  
and other commercial operators (price); the airport’s approach to maintaining and improving  
its infrastructure base (infrastructure development and renewal); the financial risk 
associated with the capital structure (debt structure); and financial summary.  

For the first four rating drivers, Fitch assesses attributes as being “stronger,” “midrange” or 
“weaker.” Qualitative assessments are informed by quantitative metrics that are examined 
based on their projected evolution, not simply a point-in-time calculation. The fifth key rating 

driver, financial summary, considers leverage, liquidity and debt service coverage in the 
context of the overall risk profile determined by the review of the other key rating drivers. 
Metrics are shown and evaluated both by the rating category and across the sector (see 
appendices). 

Comparability of Ratings 

Attribute assessments help frame an airport’s credit rating and provide a standard way of 
comparing U.S. airports, as well as comparing them with other infrastructure assets, both 
domestically and across the globe. This report seeks to highlight changes in ratings and 
attribute assessments over the prior 12 months. The chart below shows Fitch’s U.S. rated 
airports. Please refer to Appendix D for a full listing of the airports and attribute assessments 
as of the date of this publication.  

 

Performance Highlights 
Rating Activity 

Since the 2019 publication of the peer report through March 1, 2020, Fitch took two positive 
rating actions at two airports to general airport revenue debt-lien obligations. Fitch upgraded 
the rating of one airport, New Orleans. Fitch also revised the Outlook of one airport, 
Birmingham, AL, prior to the start of the pandemic, but since revised the Outlook to Negative.  

A new subordinate-lien rating was assigned to Nashville, TN in conjunction with the issuance 
of the series 2019A and 2019B bonds under the new master subordinate resolution. No 
rating downgrades occurred to bonds secured by general airport revenues during the period 
between the publication of the 2019 peer review and March 1, 2020.  

At the onset of the pandemic, Fitch placed the majority of airport and airport car rental  
credits on Negative Outlook or Rating Watch Negative. Fitch previously maintained or 
assigned a Positive Outlook to the following five airports before the onset of the pandemic in 
March 2020 — Birmingham, AL, Houston, Miami, Rhode Island (Providence) and Orlando. The  
Positive Outlooks were subsequently revised to Negative to reflect the very weak operating  

0
3

17
20

34

11

4
7

0 1

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

AA+ AA AA– A+ A A– BBB+ BBB BBB– Below IG

U.S. Airports Rating Distribution

IG – Investment grade.
Source: Fitch Ratings.

(No. of Ratings)

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 3  

environment for U.S. aviation and uncertainties regarding the timing and magnitude of 
recovery. 

Fitch downgraded the ratings of two airport terminal projects located at New York’s John F. 
Kennedy International Airport — JFK International Air Terminal Four (IAT) and Terminal One 
Group Association, L.P. (TOGA). TOGA was downgraded to ‘BBB’ from ‘A–’, and IAT was 
downgraded to ‘BBB’ from ‘BBB+’. 

Fitch maintained Stable Outlooks at five airport car rental credits — Charlotte, NC, Hawaii 
Department of Transportation, Houston, Massport (Boston-Logan) and Miami MIC (FDOT), 
reflecting the meaningfully strong coverage levels or project reserves to support debt service 
even through a significant downturn in rental transactions.  

Three airport lien ratings were removed due to the defeasance or maturity of Fitch-rate d 
debt — Albany, NY, Albuquerque, NM and Pittsburgh (Allegheny County). One airport lien 
rating — Harrisburg, PA — was withdrawn due to the lack of sufficient information to maintain 
an accurate risk assessment. 

The ‘A’ category continues to be the most dominant rating level for U.S. airports, indicating 
the sector’s resilience despite ever-evolving conditions and event-driven challenges derived 
from general economic factors and the airline industry. 

Summary of Changes to Attribute Scores 
Fitch revised a total of five key risk factor attribute scores over the prior 12 months. TOGA’s  
Revenue Risk – Price assessment was lowered to midrange from stronger, reflecting the 
reduced flexibility to recover costs given the lack of liquidity in the current operating  
environment. The only positive change to the Revenue Risk – Price assessment was assigned 
to Raleigh, NC, which improved to stronger from midrange to reflect better cost recovery  
through the flexible ordinance-based rate-setting framework.  

One airport terminal project, JFK IAT, was assigned a lower assessment to the Debt Structure  
risk factor, reflecting the more limiting structural features associated with the series 2020 
issuance.  

Miami International Airport’s assessment for Infrastructure Renewal/Development was 
revised downward to midrange from stronger, reflecting the updated, upsized capital 
program and future borrowing needs. The only positive adjustment to the Infrastructure  
Renewal/Development assessment was assigned to New Orleans, which improved to 
stronger from midrange to reflect the successful completion of a new terminal and minimal 
future capital needs. 

Medians 
In this report, Fitch presents operational and financial medians in multiple forms, including  
rating category, FAA hub-type designation, airport role type and geographic region. The data 
included for medians incorporates enplanement levels, largest carrier share, O&D share, cost 
per enplanement (CPE), days cash on hand (DCOH), debt service coverage ratio (DSCR), 

current and future net debt/cash flow available for debt service (CFADS) and gross debt/total  
enplanements.  

Fitch also compares medians for 2019 data with comparable information for the prior year. 
Rating actions from one rating category to another (i.e. a ‘BBB’ category airport to an ‘A’ 
category) can have significant influence on medians on a year-to-year basis. With the 
exception of Fitch’s forward-looking rating case leverage metric, the calculated medians only 
reflect fiscal 2019 data and do not reflect pandemic-related impacts. 

Prior to the onset of the pandemic, Fitch observed positive movements in enplanement sizes, 
DSCR, leverage and liquidity for the entire Fitch-rated U.S. airport portfolio. Otherwise, there  
were generally flat or minimal changes to largest carrier concentration, O&D composition 
and total debt/enplanements across U.S airports.  

The highest-rated airports in the ‘AA’ category have, in most cases, the largest enplanement 
bases, more diverse airline market shares and more robust liquidity metrics. Medians for 
these airports, which reflect fiscal 2019 data, have been stable or generally moving in a 
positive direction.  

FAA medium- and large-hub airports have comparable single-airline concentration, yet the 
large-hub airports also have the highest CPE and leverage metrics compared with both 
medium- and small-hub airports. This is not surprising, as in many cases these airports are 
major domestic hubs or serve a larger international traffic base. As a result, they have a larger 
cost base, including debt financings, to support infrastructure needs. Small-hub airports have 
a similar CPE median to medium hubs, but with the lowest leverage metrics. 

International gateway and hub airports have the largest enplanement bases, but also stand 
out with the highest medians for CPE and debt/total enplanements. CPEs for international  
gateways remain elevated, as costs associated with capital programs are incorporated into 
the aeronautical charges. Regional airports have the highest O&D share of traffic, and lower 
CPEs and leverage metrics. 

Coronavirus Pandemic 
Looking ahead to the fiscal 2020 profile of airports, Fitch anticipates a high degree of changes 
to most metrics due to the severity of decline in passenger levels and airport revenues, as well 
as the timing of fiscal year-end (FY) periods that are staggered at different points over the 
course of a calendar year. Those with FYs ending either March 31 or June 30 will see less 
impacts to metrics compared to other airports with FYs ending Sept. 30 or Dec. 31. 

Further, Fitch expects key credit metrics to be affected by the manner in which an airport 
applies its allocations of CARES Act funds, the use of refinancings to restructure debt service 
payments, other defensive measures to reduce operating costs and the application of 
unencumbered fund balances to offset revenue losses or deferrals from airlines or other 
commercial tenants. 

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 4  

Attribute Assessment Distributions — U.S. Airports 

  

  
 

Midrange
48%

Stronger
40%

Weaker
12%

Volume

Source: Fitch Ratings.

Midrange
45%

Stronger
55%

Infrastructure Renewal

Source: Fitch Ratings.

Midrange
34%

Stronger
64%

Weaker
2%

Price

Source: Fitch Ratings.

Midrange
27%

Stronger
73%

Debt Structure

Source: Fitch Ratings.

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 5  

Conclusion 
The airport rating criteria provide a structured analytical approach with a focus on five key 
rating drivers. Fitch conducted a detailed portfolio review of its rated U.S. airports and 
consolidated rental car facilities (CONRACs) to determine attribute assessments for each 
category. As noted in the analysis above, the assessments in most categories were  
predominantly stronger or midrange, which is consistent with generally strong credit 
characteristics, and therefore results in investment-grade rating levels for most airport 
credits in the U.S.  

Fitch will assign attribute assessments for each new airport rating and will similarly monitor 
existing attribute assessments as part of its ongoing rating surveillance. Attribute  
assessments are published in Fitch’s rating action commentary for each airport. To the extent 
that an adjustment to an existing assessment is determined to be appropriate, Fitch likewise 
publishes the change as part of its rating action commentary. In some cases, attribute  
assessment adjustments may lead to rating actions, depending on the underlying reasons for 
the change and the relative significance of the attribute being adjusted.  

For a detailed description of the attribute drivers, see Appendix A for Airports and Appendix J 
for CONRACs; for attribute assessments, see Appendix D for airports and Appendix K for 
CONRACs; and for key statistics by airport, see Appendices F–I for airports and Appendix L for 
CONRACs. 

Medians Are Not Targets 

While the peer study includes median calculations for financial ratios by rating category, 
these should not be construed as targets for specific ratios or ratings. The medians reflect a 
single point in time, and rating changes of individual airports alone may affect medians based 
on rating categories.

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 6  

Appendix A: Key Rating Driver Assessments for Airports 
 Revenue Risk: Volume Revenue Risk: Price Infrastructure Development/Renewal Debt Structure 

Description • Ability to weather (resistance to) the 
effects of macroeconomic stress and event 
stresses on volumes of activity. 

• Affected by market characteristics. 

• Contractual agreement/regulatory 
framework that provides airport 
management charge-setting authority to 
recover revenue reductions or increased 
costs through the tariff mechanism 
(irrespective of volumes). 

• Driven by underlying 
agreements/regulatory frameworks.  

• Demonstrated ability to revise 
aeronautical or non-aeronautical tariffs. 

• Approach to the ongoing capital program 
and maintenance, including planning, 
funding and management.  

• Adequacy and appropriateness of 
investment scope. 

• Fixed-/variable-rate debt maturity profile. 
• Amortization profile, refinance risk. 
• Flow of funds, distribution test and 

reserves. 

Stronger  • Large and robust metropolitan/regional 
air service area, in a region with a mature 
economy, with an O&D enplanement base 
of 5 million or more. 

• Lower traffic volatility with historical and 
prospective peak-to-trough decline of 
around 5%. 

• Connecting traffic of up to 20% for 
domestic airports and higher for 
international gateways. 

• Single carrier concentration of 30% or 
less with extensive nonstop and 
international service offerings. 

• Relatively equal mix of business and 
leisure traffic. 

• Minimal competition from other 
airports/modes of transport. 

• High flexibility on charge-setting authority. 
• Ability to annually cover all necessary costs 

related to airport’s debt, capital 
investments and operational costs from 
aeronautical revenues (primary basis) or 
other commercial revenues independent of 
(or compensating) underlying traffic 
performance (e.g. take-or-pay agreements). 

• None or very minimal tariff or pricing caps. 

• Modern very well-maintained asset/facility 
with limited obsolescence risk. 

• Capacity above medium-term throughput 
forecasts. 

• Short-term and long-term maintenance 
needs, timing and capital planning are 
highly defined, experienced counterparties 
and dialogue with users/authorities. 

• No contractual development obligations or 
capex plan has significant flexibility in roll-
out. 

• Access to levels of excess cash flow or clear 
demonstration of access to external 
funding to more than cover requirements. 

• Senior ranking. 
• Fully amortizing debt. 
• Exhaustive and robust covenant package. 
• Forward-looking dividend lock-up set at a 

meaningful level. 
• Fully hedged/no unhedged financial risk. 
• Dedicated debt service liquidity, including 

reserves greater than or equal to the next 
12 months of debt service, excluding 
bullets. 

• Comprehensive and strong security 
package. 

• No delayed draw features in transaction 
structure. 

Midrange  • Midsize air service area with solid 
economic underpinnings and an O&D 
enplanement base of 2 million−5 million, 
or an airport in a region with a 
developing-stage economy. 

• Moderate traffic volatility with historical 
and prospective peak-to-trough decline of 
around 10%–15%. 

• Connecting traffic of 20%−60% or 
supporting a primary connecting operation, 
or a major carrier base of operations. 

• Single carrier concentration of 30%−60% 
with broad service offerings. 

• Leisure traffic exceeds business traffic. 
• Some competition from larger airports 

with more extensive service, or other 
modes of transport. 

• Adequate charge-setting authority to cover 
all necessary costs related to airport debt, 
capital investments and operational costs 
from aeronautical revenues (primary basis) 
or other commercial revenues. 

• Limited use of balance sheet (e.g. airport 
funds) to subsidize rate setting. 

• Price caps offering some ability to index 
charges on the capex, but limiting flexibility 
within the control period. 

• Well-maintained asset/facility with 
potential obsolescence risk.  

• Capacity requires limited expansion or 
refurbishment to meet medium-term 
forecasts well within the issuer’s experience. 

• Short-term and long-term maintenance 
plan are defined, although timing and 
capital planning are uncertain; moderately 
experienced counterparties and some 
dialogue with users/authorities. 

• Limited, in scope, contractual development 
obligations or capex plan has some degree 
of flexibility in roll-out. 

• Moderate levels of excess cash flow or 
some evidence of access to external 
funding but falls short of covering 
requirements. 

• Second-ranking debt with limited 
subordination. 

• Limited refinance risk, well-spread 
maturities no more than 30% each, and/or 
regular market access to refinance spread-
out maturities.  

• Adequate covenant package. 
• Backward-only and/or forward looking 

dividend lock-up set at an adequate level. 
• Up to 20% of unhedged financial risk. 
• Dedicated debt service liquidity or corporate 

credit facilities including reserves greater 
than or equal to the next six months of debt 
service, excluding bullets. 

• Adequate security package and/or strong 
negative pledge. 

• Limited delayed draw features in 
transaction structure. 

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 7  

 Revenue Risk: Volume Revenue Risk: Price Infrastructure Development/Renewal Debt Structure 

Weaker  • Small air service area with an O&D 
enplanement base of 2 million or less.  

• Elevated traffic volatility with historical 
and prospective peak-to-trough decline of 
over 20%. 

• Connecting traffic of 60% or more.  
• Single carrier concentration of more than 

60% or limited service offerings. 
• Meaningful competition from other 

airports/modes of transport. 

• Limited flexibility and charge-setting 
authority (e.g. non-indexed price caps). 

• Elevated dependence on non-aeronautical 
revenues or airport funds to meet all 
required costs. 

• Tariffs cannot be increased to compensate 
for traffic declines. 

• Under-maintained asset/facility with high 
likelihood of obsolescence risk. 

• Capacity requires large expansion or 
refurbishment to meet medium-term 
forecasts and/or is far outside the issuer’s 
experience. 

• Short-term and long-term maintenance 
needs, timing and capital planning are 
undefined and unclear, with history of 
deferred maintenance and/or cost 
overruns or inexperienced counterparties 
and no dialogue with users/authorities. 

• Large, in scope, contractual development 
obligations or capex plan has no flexibility 
in roll-out. 

• Limited levels of excess cash flow or no 
demonstration of access to external 
funding and not able to cover 
requirements. 

• Deeply subordinated. 
• Significant and concentrated maturities 

and/or debt amortization longer than 
assets/concession life, no track record of 
market access. 

• No or very limited covenant package. 
• No dividend lock-up or lock-up set at a very 

low level. 
• More than 20% of unhedged financial risk. 
• Dedicated debt service liquidity including 

reserves less than the next six months of 
debt services, excluding bullets. 

• No or limited security package/weak 
negative pledge. 

• Elevated delay draw features in the 
transaction structure. 

Relevant 
Benchmarks 

• Enplanement base. 
• O&D share. 
• Carrier diversity. 
• MSA economic data. 

• Regulated asset base. 
• U.S. cost per enplanement/aero charge per 

passenger (non-U.S.). 
• Percent of cost base covered by 

agreements/regulatory framework. 
• Minimum annual guarantees/spend per 

passenger for concessions. 

• Capital improvement plan size and 
dependence on future growth. 

• Mix of funding sources (passenger facility 
charges, customer facility charges, grants, 
bonds). 

• Airline/regulator input. 

• Percentage of fixed-/variable-rate debt. 
• Amortizing debt or bullets. 
• Percentage subject to refinancing risk. 
• Rate covenant. 
• Leverage limitation. 
• Cash lock-up provisions. 
• Fair market value of derivative position. 
• Level of reserves/reserve provisions. 
• Distribution test. 

Financial Profile • This key rating driver considers metrics for liquidity, debt service coverage and leverage in the context of the overall risk profile determined by review of the other key rating drivers. 

Completion Risk • For greenfield projects, this key risk factor is assessed using the analytical framework described in the Completion Risk Rating Criteria. The framework is used to derive the maximum possible 
rating during completion phase, based on complexity and scale, contractors and implementation plan, ability to replace contractor, and core contractual terms, as well as liquidity available 
to support a project in case of contractor default. 

Relative 
Importance of 
Key Rating 
Drivers 

• Revenue Risk (Volume and Price): Key rating factors generally have the most direct influence on operating airport ratings. 
• Infrastructure Development/Renewal: Attribute often has a relatively lower importance to the rating analysis, as projects’ maintenance and expansionary investments are usually regularly 

overseen and controlled. 
• Debt Structure: Has a relative higher influence on rating analysis as covenants, security and other protective features embedded in the debt structure enhance creditors’ protection. 

Source: Fitch Ratings. 

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 8  

Appendix B: Definitions 
Senior-/Subordinate-Lien DSCR: Total operating revenues minus total operating expenses 
net of depreciation, divided by senior-/subordinate-lien debt service. Available revenues may 
include non-operating revenues such as passenger facility charges, funds available to provide 
extra coverage and certain offsets to debt service permitted under the bond/loan documents . 
For comparison purposes, Fitch calculated DSCRs to include passenger facility charges and 
coverage accounts as part of available cash divided by gross annual debt service with no 
offsets. 

Airline CPE: Estimate of the cost for a single enplaned passenger at an airport derived by 
dividing airline revenues (typically landing fees and terminal rentals) by total enplaned 
passengers. 

CFADS: Net revenues (total pledged revenues less operating expenses) as well as funds that 
are applied as offsets to revenue bond debt service. 

DCOH: Unrestricted cash and investments divided by daily cash operating expenses. 
Calculation may also include pertinent reserve funds, such as operating and maintenance  
reserve. Exclusions include funds such as coverage accounts or those funds restricted or 
encumbered for capital and renewal works. 

Net Debt/CFADS (Leverage): Gross debt less unrestricted cash balances, operating reserves 
and debt reserve funds divided by CFADS. Note that coverage accounts are excluded from 
net debt calculations. In cases where coverage accounts exist at an airport, the net 
debt/CFADS metric is typically 10bps–20bps lower than figures indicated in appendices. 

 

  

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 9  

Appendix C 

 

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 10  

Appendix D: Airport Attribute Scoring 

Airport Ratings Outlook 
Revenue Risk: 
Volume 

Revenue Risk: 
Price Debt Structure 

Infrastructure 
Development/ 
Renewal 

AA Category Rating       

Los Angeles International Airport  
(Senior/Subordinate/Payment Obligation) 

AA/AA–/A Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger (Senior)/Midrange (Subordinate) Midrange 

Massport (Boston) AA Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Port of Seattle (Senior/Intermediate/Subordinate)a AA/AA–/AA– Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger (Senior)/Midrange (Intermediate)/ 
Midrange (Subordinate) 

Stronger 

Atlanta (Hartsfield) (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/AA– Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger (Senior)/Stronger (Subordinate) Midrange 

Charlotte/Douglas Int’l Airport AA– Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger Midrange 

Denver International Airport (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger (Senior)/Midrange (Subordinate) Midrange 

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority AA– Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Minneapolis-St. Paul (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger (Senior)/Midrange (Subordinate) Stronger 

Orlando (Senior/Subordinate) GOAA AA–/A+ Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger (Senior)/Midrange (Subordinate) Midrange 

Port Authority of New York/New Jersey (Senior/Payment Obligation) AA–/A RWN Stronger Stronger Stronger (Senior)/Midrange (Subordinate) Midrange 

Raleigh Durham, NC AA– Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger Stronger 

San Diego (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger (Senior)/Midrange (Subordinate) Midrange 

Tampa (Hillsborough County)(Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger (Senior)/Midrange (Subordinate) Midrange 

A Category Rating       

Alaska International Airport System A+ Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Boise (Senior/Subordinate) A+/A Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger (Senior)/Midrange (Subordinate) Stronger 

Broward County (Fort Lauderdale) A+ Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger Midrange 

Cincinnati (Kenton Co, KY) A+ Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Dallas-Fort Worth International Airport A+ Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger Midrange 

Hawaii (Senior/Subordinate) A+/A Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger (Senior)/Midrange (Subordinate) Midrange 

Las Vegas McCarran (Subordinate) A+ Negative Stronger Stronger N.A. (Senior)/Midrange (Subordinate) Stronger 

Louisville, KY A+ Negative Midrange Midrange Stronger Stronger 

Milwaukee A+ Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Palm Beach County, FL A+ Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Port of Oakland (Senior/Subordinate) A+/A Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger (Senior)/Midrange (Subordinate) Stronger 

San Antonio (Senior/Subordinate + PFC) A+/A Negative Midrange Midrange Stronger (Senior)/Midrange (Subordinate) Stronger 

San Francisco A+ Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger Midrange 

Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority A Negative Weaker Stronger Stronger Midrange 

Capital Region Airport, VA (Richmond) A Negative Midrange Midrange Stronger Stronger 

Chicago Midway (Subordinate Lien) A Negative Midrange Stronger N.A. (Senior)/Stronger (Subordinate) Stronger 

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 11  

Airport Ratings Outlook 
Revenue Risk: 
Volume 

Revenue Risk: 
Price Debt Structure 

Infrastructure 
Development/ 
Renewal 

Chicago O’Hare A Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger Midrange 

Dallas Love A Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Detroit (Senior/Subordinate) A/A Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger (Senior)/Midrange (Subordinate) Stronger 

El Paso, TX A Negative Midrange Midrange Stronger Midrange 

Hartford (Bradley) A Negative Midrange Stronger Midrange Stronger 

Houston Airport System (Subordinate Lien) A Negative Stronger Midrange N.A. (Senior)/Midrange (Subordinate) Midrange 

Indianapolis A Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Kansas City A Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger Midrange 

Lee County, FL (Fort Myers) A Negative Midrange Midrange Stronger Stronger 

Memphis A Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger Midrange 

Miami (Miami-Dade County, FL) A Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger Midrange 

Nashville (Subordinate) A Negative Stronger Midrange N.A. (Senior)/Midrange (Subordinate) Midrange 

New Orleans Aviation Board A Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Philadelphia A Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger Midrange 

San Jose (Senior/Subordinate Bank Bonds) A/A– Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger (Senior)/Midrange (Subordinate) Stronger 

St. Louis (MO) A Negative Stronger Midrange Stronger Stronger 

Birmingham, AL A– Negative Midrange Midrange Stronger Stronger 

Cleveland A– Negative Midrange Midrange Stronger Stronger 

Long Beach A– Negative Midrange Midrange Stronger Stronger 

Ontario, CA A– Negative Weaker Midrange Stronger Midrange 

BBB Category Rating       

Buffalo (Niagara Frontier) BBB+ RWN Midrange Midrange Stronger Midrange 

Fresno BBB+ Negative Weaker Midrange Stronger Midrange 

Rhode Island (Providence) BBB+ Negative Weaker Midrange Stronger Stronger 

New York City JFK Terminal One (TOGA) BBB RWN Midrange Midrange Midrange Stronger 

Port Authority of New York/New Jersey  
(JFK International Air Terminal Four) 

BBB Negative Midrange Midrange Midrange Stronger 

Burlington, VT BBB RWN Weaker Midrange Stronger Stronger 

Dayton BBB RWN Weaker Midrange Stronger Midrange 

LaGuardia Gateway Partners BBB Negative Stronger Midrange Stronger Stronger 

Below Investment Grade Category Rating       

Northern Mariana Islands (Commonwealth) B+ Negative Weaker Weaker Stronger Midrange 

aFor Port of Seattle, Fitch also assigned its ‘AA–’ rating for its Issuer Default Rating and limited tax general obligation bonds. GOAA – Greater Orlando Aviation Authority. RWN – Rating Watch Negative. N.A. – Not available.  
PFC – Passenger facility charges. Note: Green highlights represent positive movement and red highlights indicate negative movement from the prior year’s peer study report. 
Source: Fitch Ratings. 

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 12  

Appendix E: Airport Statistics Summary 

 
Enplanements 

(000) 
Largest Carrier 

Share (%) O&D (%) CPE ($) DCOH (Days) Total DSCR (x) 
Net Total 

Debt/CFADS (x) 

Year 5 
Future 

Leverage 
(x) 

Total Debt/ 
Total Epax ($) 

Median 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 Rating 2019 2018 

Summary of Medians (2018 Versus 2017)                  

Fitch Portfolio 6,832  5,865  42  40  95  95  8.69  9.33  545  497  1.9  1.8  4.0  3.9  3.6  81  79  

FAA                  

Small 1,761  1,509  33  33  100  99  7.76  8.24  619  487  1.9  2.0  2.8  2.6  1.5  65  60  

Medium 5,025  4,662  43  42  97  96  8.14  8.47  599  541  2.1  1.8  2.3  2.8  1.8  54  57  

Large 23,959  23,075  46  45  70  71  11.12  10.64  486  468  1.8  1.7  6.7  6.5  7.1  112  113  

Airport Type                  

Huba 23,959  23,075  74  72  58  58  10.16  10.05  723  568  1.8  1.7  7.0  8.2  6.5  103  113  

International 25,874  24,894  43  45  76  76  17.71  16.63  362  290  1.8  1.6  6.7  6.6  6.5  182  187  

Regional 4,554  3,471  36  36  97  96  8.28  8.58  569  524  2.0  1.9  2.9  3.1  3.0  72  67  

Rating Category                  

AA 24,276  23,382  37  36  79  78  10.66  10.35  735  675  2.2  2.2  4.6  4.7  5.9  95  93  

A 5,570  4,834  46  45  95  95  8.44  8.88  540  506  1.8  1.7  3.3  3.5  3.7  81  78  

BBB 2,046  1,520  34  36  100  100  9.63  9.72  256  313  1.9  1.8  4.1  3.7  2.0  78  69  

BIG 568  692  27  34  100  100  16.39  14.35  702  417  1.6  2.1  (8.2) 3.2  (15.3) 17  113  

Region                  

Northeast 4,063  3,614  30  33  99  99  11.49  11.18  321  271  2.2  2.0  3.8  3.1  2.0  81  67  

Southeast 11,085  10,519  31  33  92  92  5.80  6.11  688  748  1.9  2.2  3.6  3.6  5.9  81  86  

Midwest 5,488  4,837  46  45  95  93  7.72  8.68  434  408  1.8  1.7  4.7  5.2  4.2  80  99  

Southwest 8,309  6,515  58  54  67  82  8.28  7.85  346  434  2.3  1.7  3.6  5.2  3.6  57  68  

West 7,135  6,701  47  45  95  95  10.21  10.46  660  639  1.8  1.8  4.0  3.5  3.7  99  107  

aHub airports are airports that are or have acted as hubs within the past five years. CPE – Cost per enplanement. DCOH – Days cash on hand. DSCR – Debt service coverage ratio. CFADS – Cash flow available for debt service.  
Epax – Enplanements. FAA – Federal Aviation Administration. BIG – Below investment grade. 
Source: Fitch Ratings, issuer-reported data. 

 

  

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 13  

Appendix F: Airport Statistics by Rating Category 

Airport Ratings Outlook 
Enplanements 

(000) 

Largest 
Carrier 

Share (%) 
O&D 

(%) CPE ($) 
DCOH 
(Days) 

Total 
DSCR (x) 

Net Total 
Debt/ 

CFADS (x) 

Future 
Leverage 

(Rating, x) 

Total Debt/ 
Total Epax 

($) 

AA Category Rating            

Los Angeles International Airport  
(Senior/Subordinate/Payment Obligation) AA/AA–/A Negative 44,207  19  82  16.52  530  2.5  5.7  5.6  162  

Massport (Boston) AA Negative 20,833  29  95  14.63  472  3.7  2.1  3.5  81  

Port of Seattle (Senior/Intermediate/Subordinate) AA/AA–/AA– Negative 25,874  49  70  12.85  486  1.8  6.7  3.3 136  

Atlanta (Hartsfield) (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/AA– Negative 54,532  80  39  2.77  863  2.2  3.6  4.3  53  

Charlotte/Douglas Int’l Airport AA– Negative 23,959  91  31  1.55  1,548  2.9  1.7  5.9  35  

Denver International Airport (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative 34,508  45  64  10.66  790  1.8  7.0  6.5  166  

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority 
AA– Negative 24,276  37  79  

11.49 (DCA); 
14.82 (IAD) 1,385  1.9  6.0  6.5  182  

Minneapolis-St. Paul (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative 19,181  55  63  6.93  735  2.1  4.6  2.8  80  

Orlando (Senior/Subordinate) GOAA AA–/A+ Negative 24,847  22  95  5.70  568  2.6  3.6  8.0  72  

Port Authority of New York/New Jersey  
(Senior/Payment Obligation) AA–/A RWN 70,251  23  76   254  2.2  6.9  7.8  347  

Raleigh Durham, NC AA– Negative 6,544  30  98  8.59  1,460  3.1  1.3  0.9  81  

San Diego (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative 12,356  38  96  10.74  839  2.0  4.0  7.1  95  

Tampa (Hillsborough County) (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative 11,085  31  92  4.94  424  1.7  6.8  9.4  103  

Median — — 24,276  37  79  10.66  735  2.2  4.6  5.9  95  

A Category Rating            

Alaska International Airport System A+ Negative 3,402  66  100  10.50  551  2.1  2.9  3.1  102  

Boise (Senior/Subordinate) A+/A Negative 2,026  25  95  3.53  973  3.3  (2.0) (1.3) 12  

Broward County (Fort Lauderdale) A+ Negative 18,164  24  89  6.89  410  1.6  8.7  8.5  112  

Cincinnati (Kenton Co, KY) A+ Negative 4,554  45  95  4.51  569  6.2  (3.4) (4.2) 16  

Dallas-Fort Worth International Airport A+ Negative 36,600  86  41  12.95  723  1.4  8.5  7.3  171  

Hawaii (Senior/Subordinate) A+/A Negative 18,727  50  100  9.75  720  2.0  5.3  8.7 83  

Las Vegas McCarran (Subordinate) A+ Negative 25,224  36  89  9.91  688  1.6  6.7  4.2  146  

Louisville, KY A+ Negative 2,048  26  100  5.42  1,244  2.0  0.9  (0.6) 80  

Milwaukee A+ Negative 3,450  42  99  7.54  631  1.9  0.5  1.4  40  

Palm Beach County, FL A+ Negative 3,353  29  99  4.72  716  4.2  (1.4) (2.2) 19  

Port of Oakland (Senior/Subordinate) A+/A Negative 6,807  69  85  12.21  633  1.7  2.6  0.9  137  

San Antonio (Senior/Subordinate + PFC) A+/A Negative 5,187  38  98  8.00  182  2.3  3.6  3.6  57  

San Francisco A+ Negative 28,620  46  81  17.71  362  1.4  11.6  9.1  255  

Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority A Negative 2,745  72  99  1.93  1,807  3.0  (4.7) (6.2) 34  

Capital Region Airport, VA (Richmond) A Negative 2,143  20  100  5.49  536  3.3  1.0  (0.8) 34  

Chicago Midway (Subordinate Lien) A Negative 10,418  92  67  12.97  218  1.2  12.9  8.1  161  

Chicago O’Hare A Negative 42,248  43  56  18.35  434  1.4  10.6  13.6  214  

Dallas Love A Negative 8,309  94  67  8.56  303  4.7  2.1  1.6  26  

Detroit (Senior/Subordinate) A/A Negative 18,121  74  58  9.84  129  1.3  9.3  7.8  113  

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 14  

Airport Ratings Outlook 
Enplanements 

(000) 

Largest 
Carrier 

Share (%) 
O&D 

(%) CPE ($) 
DCOH 
(Days) 

Total 
DSCR (x) 

Net Total 
Debt/ 

CFADS (x) 

Future 
Leverage 

(Rating, x) 

Total Debt/ 
Total Epax 

($) 

El Paso, TX A Negative 1,764  45  95  5.92  346  2.6  1.0  (0.7) 30  

Hartford (Bradley) A Negative 3,394  24  99  8.44  629  2.6  0.1  (1.3) 30  

Houston Airport System (Subordinate Lien) 
A Negative 29,808  58  58  

10.48 (IAH); 
6.64 (HOU) 545  1.4  5.5  7.1  65  

Indianapolis A Negative 4,765  29  97  7.90  395  1.9  7.1  4.5  207  

Kansas City A Negative 5,952  49  95  6.42  422  2.2  1.2  11.1  35  

Lee County, FL (Fort Myers) A Negative 5,027  20  92  5.80  683  1.6  2.6  1.6  51  

Memphis A Negative 2,261  33  99  5.52  296  1.4  10.1  4.7  216  

Miami (Miami-Dade County, FL) A Negative 22,685  67  70  19.23  260  1.3  12.5  7.9 252  

Nashville (Subordinate) A Negative 8,596  53  81  6.67  700  3.1  0.3  12.4  26  

New Orleans Aviation Board A Negative 6,832  36  96  6.71  688  1.3  11.5  9.3  148  

Philadelphia A Negative 16,088  70  68  14.95  321  2.1  8.8  5.6  103  

San Jose (Senior/Subordinate Bank Bonds) A/A– Negative 7,462  48  97  8.28  628  1.4  7.3  7.9  162  

St. Louis (MO) A Negative 7,915  63  77  9.04  435  1.5  4.7  3.5  71  

Birmingham, AL A– Negative 1,534  33  97  11.07  1,011  1.9  2.5  1.4  105  

Cleveland A– Negative 5,023  25  97  14.78  446  1.7  5.0  3.8  126  

Long Beach A– Negative 1,757  56  95  8.52  404  1.8  3.0  3.0  53  

Ontario, CA A– Negative 2,632  52  95  8.73  420  1.5  (4.5) (9.0) 15  

Median — — 5,570  46  95  8.44  540  1.8  3.3  3.7  81  

BBB Category Rating            

Buffalo (Niagara Frontier) BBB+ RWN 2,519  30  99  10.79  256  2.5  4.8  2.0  57  

Rhode Island (Providence) BBB+ Negative 2,046  38  99  9.63  733  1.9  3.8  1.7  108  

Fresno BBB+ Negative 930  33  100  8.64  712  2.3  4.1  4.1  87  

New York City JFK Terminal One (TOGA) BBB RWN 4,063  14  100  37.72  77  1.5  1.9  0.1  26  

Port Authority of New York/ 
New Jersey (JFK International Air Terminal Four) BBB Negative 10,839  60  70  43.77  103  2.4  3.0  1.9  106  

Burlington, VT BBB RWN 693  34  100  6.99  180  1.6  4.3  2.4  44  

Dayton, OH BBB RWN 892  46  100  9.47  292  1.6  4.5  3.1  78  

Median — — 2,046  34  100  9.63  256  1.9  4.1  2.0  78  

Below Investment Grade Category Rating            

Northern Mariana Islands (Commonwealth) B+ Negative 568  27  100  16.39  702  1.6  (8.2) (15.3) 17  

Median — — 568  27  100  16.39  702  1.6  (8.2) (15.3) 17  

CPE – Cost per enplanement. DCOH – Days cash on hand. DSCR – Debt service coverage ratio. CFADS – Cash flow available for debt service. Epax – Enplanements. DCA – Reagan National Airport. IAD – Dulles International Airport.  
GOAA – Greater Orlando Aviation Authority. RWN – Rating Watch Negative.  PFC – Passenger facility charges. IAH – George Bush Intercontinental Airport. HOU – William P. Hobby Airport. Note: Future leverage (rating case) is year five. 
Source: Fitch Ratings, issuer-reported data. 

 

  

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 15  

Appendix G: Airport Statistics by FAA Classification 

Airport Ratings Outlook 
Enplanements 

(000) 

Largest 
Carrier 

Share (%) 
O&D 

(%) CPE ($) 
DCOH 
(Days) 

Total 
DSCR (x) 

Net Total 
Debt/ 

CFADS (x) 

Future 
Leverage 

(Rating, x) 

Total 
Debt/Total 

Epax ($) 

Large Hub Airports            

Atlanta (Hartsfield) (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/AA– Negative 54,532  80  39  2.77  863  2.2  3.6  4.3  53  

Broward County (Fort Lauderdale) A+ Negative 18,164  24  89  6.89  410  1.6  8.7  8.5  112  

Charlotte/Douglas Int’l Airport AA– Negative 23,959  91  31  1.55  1,548  2.9  1.7  5.9  35  

Chicago Midway (Subordinate Lien) A Negative 10,418  92  67  12.97  218  1.2  12.9  8.1  161  

Chicago O’Hare A Negative 42,248  43  56  18.35  434  1.4  10.6  13.6  214  

Dallas-Fort Worth International Airport A+ Negative 36,600  86  41  12.95  723  1.4  8.5  7.3  171  

Denver International Airport (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative 34,508  45  64  10.66  790  1.8  7.0  6.5  166  

Detroit (Senior/Subordinate) A/A Negative 18,121  74  58  9.84  129  1.3  9.3  7.8  113  

Hawaii (Senior/Subordinate) A+/A Negative 18,727  50  100  9.75  720  2.0  5.3  8.7  83  

Houston Airport System (Subordinate Lien) 
A Negative 29,808  58  58  

10.48 (IAH); 
6.64 (HOU) 545  1.4  5.5  7.1  65  

Las Vegas McCarran (Subordinate) A+ Negative 25,224  36  89  9.91  688  1.6  6.7  4.2  146  

Los Angeles International Airport 
(Senior/Subordinate/Payment Obligation) AA/AA–/A Negative 44,207  19  82  16.52  530  2.5  5.7  5.6  162  

Massport (Boston) AA Negative 20,833  29  95  14.63  472  3.7  2.1  3.5  81  

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority 
AA– Negative 24,276  37  79  

11.49 (DCA); 
14.82 (IAD) 1,385  1.9  6.0  6.5  182  

Miami (Miami-Dade County, FL) A Negative 22,685  67  70  19.23  260  1.3  12.5  7.9  252  

Minneapolis-St. Paul (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative 19,181  55  63  6.93  735  2.1  4.6  2.8  80  

New York City JFK Terminal One (TOGA) BBB RWN 4,063  14  100  37.72  77  1.5  1.9  0.1  26  

Orlando (Senior/Subordinate) GOAA AA–/A+ Negative 24,847  22  95  5.70  568  2.6  3.6  8.0  72  

Philadelphia A Negative 16,088  70  68  14.95  321  2.1  8.8  5.6  103  

Port Authority of New York/New Jersey  
(Senior/Payment Obligation) AA–/A RWN 70,251  23  76   254  2.2  6.9  7.8  347  

Port Authority of New York/New Jersey  
(JFK International Air Terminal Four) BBB Negative 10,839  60  70  43.77  103  2.4  3.0  1.9  106  

Port of Seattle (Senior/Intermediate/Subordinate) AA/AA–/AA– Negative 25,874  49  70  12.85  486  1.8  6.7  3.3 136  

San Diego (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative 12,356  38  96  10.74  839  2.0  4.0  7.1  95  

San Francisco A+ Negative 28,620  46  81  17.71  362  1.4  11.6  9.1  255  

Tampa (Hillsborough County) (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative 11,085  31  92  4.94  424  1.7  6.8  9.4  103  

Medians — — 23,959  46  70  11.12  486  1.8  6.7  7.1  112  

Medium Hub Airports            

Alaska International Airport System A+ Negative 3,402  66  100  10.50  551  2.1  2.9  3.1  102  

Buffalo (Niagara Frontier) BBB+ RWN 2,519  30  99  10.79  256  2.5  4.8  2.0  57  

Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority A Negative 2,745  72  99  1.93  1,807  3.0  (4.7) (6.2) 34  

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 16  

Airport Ratings Outlook 
Enplanements 

(000) 

Largest 
Carrier 

Share (%) 
O&D 

(%) CPE ($) 
DCOH 
(Days) 

Total 
DSCR (x) 

Net Total 
Debt/ 

CFADS (x) 

Future 
Leverage 

(Rating, x) 

Total 
Debt/Total 

Epax ($) 

Cincinnati (Kenton Co, KY) A+ Negative 4,554  45  95  4.51  569  6.2  (3.4) (4.2) 16  

Cleveland A– Negative 5,023  25  97  14.78  446  1.7  5.0  3.8  126  

Dallas Love A Negative 8,309  94  67  8.56  303  4.7  2.1  1.6  26  

Hartford (Bradley) A Negative 3,394  24  99  8.44  629  2.6  0.1  (1.3) 30  

Indianapolis A Negative 4,765  29  97  7.90  395  1.9  7.1  4.5  207  

Kansas City A Negative 5,952  49  95  6.42  422  2.2  1.2  11.1  35  

Lee County, FL (Fort Myers) A Negative 5,027  20  92  5.80  683  1.6  2.6  1.6  51  

Milwaukee A+ Negative 3,450  42  99  7.54  631  1.9  0.5  1.4  40  

Nashville (Subordinate) A Negative 8,596  53  81  6.67  700  3.1  0.3  12.4  26  

New Orleans Aviation Board A Negative 6,832  36  96  6.71  688  1.3  11.5  9.3  148  

Ontario, CA A– Negative 2,632  52  95  8.73  420  1.5  (4.5) (9.0) 15  

Palm Beach County, FL A+ Negative 3,353  29  99  4.72  716  4.2  (1.4) (2.2) 19  

Port of Oakland (Senior/Subordinate) A+/A Negative 6,807  69  85  12.21  633  1.7  2.6  0.9  137  

Raleigh Durham, NC AA– Negative 6,544  30  98  8.59  1,460  3.1  1.3  0.9  81  

San Antonio (Senior/Subordinate + PFC) A+/A Negative 5,187  38  98  8.00  182  2.3  3.6  3.6  57  

San Jose (Senior/Subordinate Bank Bonds) A/A– Negative 7,462  48  97  8.28  628  1.4  7.3  7.9  162  

St. Louis (MO) A Negative 7,915  63  77  9.04  435  1.5  4.7  3.5  71  

Medians — — 5,025  43  97  8.14  599  2.1  2.3  1.8  54  

Small Hub Airports            

Birmingham, AL A– Negative 1,534  33  97  11.07  1,011  1.9  2.5  1.4  105  

Boise (Senior/Subordinate) A+/A Negative 2,026  25  95  3.53  973  3.3  (2.0) (1.3) 12  

Burlington, VT BBB RWN 693  34  100  6.99  180  1.6  4.3  2.4  44  

Capital Region Airport, VA (Richmond) A Negative 2,143  20  100  5.49  536  3.3  1.0  (0.8) 34  

Dayton BBB RWN 892  46  100  9.47  292  1.6  4.5  3.1  78  

El Paso, TX A Negative 1,764  45  95  5.92  346  2.6  1.0  (0.7) 30  

Fresno BBB+ Negative 930  33  100  8.64  712  2.3  4.1  4.1  87  

Long Beach A– Negative 1,757  56  95  8.52  404  1.8  3.0  3.0  53  

Louisville, KY A+ Negative 2,048  26  100  5.42  1,244  2.0  0.9  (0.6) 80  

Memphis A Negative 2,261  33  99  5.52  296  1.4  10.1  4.7  216  

Northern Mariana Islands (Commonwealth) B+ Negative 568  27  100  16.39  702  1.6  (8.2) (15.3) 17  

Rhode Island (Providence) BBB+ Negative 2,046  38  99  9.63  733  1.9  3.8  1.7  108  

Medians — — 1,761  33  100  7.76  619  1.9  2.8  1.5  65  

CPE – Cost per enplanement. DCOH – Days cash on hand. DSCR – Debt service coverage ratio. CFADS – Cash flow available for debt service. Epax – Enplanements.  IAH – George Bush Intercontinental Airport.  
HOU – William P. Hobby Airport. DCA – Reagan National Airport. IAD – Dulles International Airport. RWN – Rating Watch Negative. GOAA – Greater Orlando Aviation Authority. PFC – Passenger facility charges. Note: Future leverage 
(rating case) is year five.  
Source: Fitch Ratings, issuer-reported data. 

 

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 17  

Appendix H: Airport Statistics by Airport Type 

Airport Ratings Outlook 
Enplanements 

(000) 

Largest 
Carrier 

Share (%) 
O&D 

(%) CPE ($) 
DCOH 
(Days) 

Total 
DSCR (x) 

Net Total 
Debt/ 

CFADS (x) 

Future 
Leverage 

(Rating, x) 

Total 
Debt/Total 

Epax ($) 

Hub Airports            

Atlanta (Hartsfield) (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/AA– Negative 54,532  80  39  2.77  863  2.2  3.6  4.3  53  

Charlotte/Douglas Int’l Airport AA– Negative 23,959  91  31  1.55  1,548  2.9  1.7  5.9  35  

Chicago Midway (Subordinate Lien) A Negative 10,418  92  67  12.97  218  1.2  12.9  8.1  161  

Dallas-Fort Worth International Airport A+ Negative 36,600  86  41  12.95  723  1.4  8.5  7.3  171  

Denver International Airport (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative 34,508  45  64  10.66  790  1.8  7.0  6.5  166  

Detroit (Senior/Subordinate) A/A Negative 18,121  74  58  9.84  129  1.3  9.3  7.8  113  

Houston Airport System (Subordinate Lien) 
A Negative 29,808  58  58  

10.48 (IAH); 
6.64 (HOU) 545  1.4  5.5  7.1  65  

Minneapolis-St. Paul (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative 19,181  55  63  6.93  735  2.1  4.6  2.8  80  

Philadelphia A Negative 16,088  70  68  14.95  321  2.1  8.8  5.6  103  

Median — — 23,959  74  58  10.16  723  1.8  7.0  6.5  103  

International Gateway Airports            

Chicago O’Hare A Negative 42,248  43  56  18.35  434  1.4  10.6  13.6  214  

Los Angeles International Airport  
(Senior/Subordinate/Payment Obligation) AA/AA–/A Negative 44,207  19  82  16.52  530  2.5  5.7  5.6  162  

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority 
AA– Negative 24,276  37  79  

11.49 (DCA); 
14.82 (IAD) 1,385  1.9  6.0  6.5  182  

Miami (Miami-Dade County, FL) A Negative 22,685  67  70  19.23  260  1.3  12.5  7.9  252  

New York City JFK Terminal One (TOGA) BBB RWN 4,063  14  100  37.72  77  1.5  1.9  0.1  26  

Port Authority of New York/New Jersey  
(Senior/Payment Obligation) AA–/A RWN 70,251  23  76   254  2.2  6.9  7.8  347  

Port Authority of New York/New Jersey  
(JFK International Air Terminal Four) BBB Negative 10,839  60  70  43.77  103  2.4  3.0  1.9  106  

Port of Seattle (Senior/Intermediate/Subordinate) AA/AA–/AA– Negative 25,874  49  70  12.85  486  1.8  6.7  3.3 136  

San Francisco A+ Negative 28,620  46  81  17.71  362  1.4  11.6  9.1  255  

Median — — 25,874  43  76  17.71  362  1.8  6.7  6.5  182  

Regional O&D Airports            

Alaska International Airport System A+ Negative 3,402  66  100  10.50  551  2.1  2.9  3.1  102  

Birmingham, AL A– Negative 1,534  33  97  11.07  1,011  1.9  2.5  1.4  105  

Boise (Senior/Subordinate) A+/A Negative 2,026  25  95  3.53  973  3.3  (2.0) (1.3) 12  

Broward County (Fort Lauderdale) A+ Negative 18,164  24  89  6.89  410  1.6  8.7  8.5  112  

Buffalo (Niagara Frontier) BBB+ RWN 2,519  30  99  10.79  256  2.5  4.8  2.0  57  

Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority A Negative 2,745  72  99  1.93  1,807  3.0  (4.7) (6.2) 34  

Burlington, VT BBB RWN 693  34  100  6.99  180  1.6  4.3  2.4  44  

Capital Region Airport, VA (Richmond) A Negative 2,143  20  100  5.49  536  3.3  1.0  (0.8) 34  

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 18  

Airport Ratings Outlook 
Enplanements 

(000) 

Largest 
Carrier 

Share (%) 
O&D 

(%) CPE ($) 
DCOH 
(Days) 

Total 
DSCR (x) 

Net Total 
Debt/ 

CFADS (x) 

Future 
Leverage 

(Rating, x) 

Total 
Debt/Total 

Epax ($) 

Cincinnati (Kenton Co, KY) A+ Negative 4,554  45  95  4.51  569  6.2  (3.4) (4.2) 16  

Cleveland A– Negative 5,023  25  97  14.78  446  1.7  5.0  3.8  126  

Dallas Love A Negative 8,309  94  67  8.56  303  4.7  2.1  1.6  26  

Dayton BBB RWN 892  46  100  9.47  292  1.6  4.5  3.1  78  

El Paso, TX A Negative 1,764  45  95  5.92  346  2.6  1.0  (0.7) 30  

Fresno BBB+ Negative 930  33  100  8.64  712  2.3  4.1  4.1  87  

Hartford (Bradley) A Negative 3,394  24  99  8.44  629  2.6  0.1  (1.3) 30  

Hawaii (Senior/Subordinate) A+/A Negative 18,727  50  100  9.75  720  2.0  5.3  8.7  83  

Indianapolis A Negative 4,765  29  97  7.90  395  1.9  7.1  4.5  207  

Kansas City A Negative 5,952  49  95  6.42  422  2.2  1.2  11.1  35  

Las Vegas McCarran (Subordinate) A+ Negative 25,224  36  89  9.91  688  1.6  6.7  4.2  146  

Lee County, FL (Fort Myers) A Negative 5,027  20  92  5.80  683  1.6  2.6  1.6  51  

Long Beach A– Negative 1,757  56  95  8.52  404  1.8  3.0  3.0  53  

Louisville, KY A+ Negative 2,048  26  100  5.42  1,244  2.0  0.9  (0.6) 80  

Massport (Boston) AA Negative 20,833  29  95  14.63  472  3.7  2.1  3.5  81  

Memphis A Negative 2,261  33  99  5.52  296  1.4  10.1  4.7  216  

Milwaukee A+ Negative 3,450  42  99  7.54  631  1.9  0.5  1.4  40  

Nashville (Subordinate) A Negative 8,596  53  81  6.67  700  3.1  0.3  12.4  26  

New Orleans Aviation Board A Negative 6,832  36  96  6.71  688  1.3  11.5  9.3  148  

Northern Mariana Islands (Commonwealth) B+ Negative 568  27  100  16.39  702  1.6  (8.2) (15.3) 17  

Ontario, CA A– Negative 2,632  52  95  8.73  420  1.5  (4.5) (9.0) 15  

Orlando (Senior/Subordinate) GOAA AA–/A+ Negative 24,847  22  95  5.70  568  2.6  3.6  8.0  72  

Palm Beach County, FL A+ Negative 3,353  29  99  4.72  716  4.2  (1.4) (2.2) 19  

Port of Oakland (Senior/Subordinate) A+/A Negative 6,807  69  85  12.21  633  1.7  2.6  0.9  137  

Raleigh Durham, NC AA– Negative 6,544  30  98  8.59  1,460  3.1  1.3  0.9  81  

Rhode Island (Providence) BBB+ Negative 2,046  38  99  9.63  733  1.9  3.8  1.7  108  

San Antonio (Senior/Subordinate + PFC) A+/A Negative 5,187  38  98  8.00  182  2.3  3.6  3.6  57  

San Diego (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative 12,356  38  96  10.74  839  2.0  4.0  7.1  95  

San Jose (Senior/Subordinate Bank Bonds) A/A– Negative 7,462  48  97  8.28  628  1.4  7.3  7.9  162  

St. Louis (MO) A Negative 7,915  63  77  9.04  435  1.5  4.7  3.5  71  

Tampa (Hillsborough County) (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative 11,085  31  92  4.94  424  1.7  6.8  9.4  103  

Median — — 4,554  36  97  8.28  569  2.0  2.9  3.0  72  

CPE – Cost per enplanement. DCOH – Days cash on hand. DSCR – Debt service coverage ratio. CFADS – Cash flow available for debt service. Epax – Enplanements.  IAH – George Bush Intercontinental Airport.  
HOU – William P. Hobby Airport.  DCA – Reagan National Airport. IAD – Dulles International Airport. RWN – Rating Watch Negative. GOAA – Greater Orlando Aviation Authority. PFC – Passenger facility charges. Note: Future leverage 
(rating case) is year five. 
Source: Fitch Ratings, issuer-reported data. 

 

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 19  

Appendix I: Airport Statistics by Region 

Airport Ratings Outlook 
Enplanements 

(000) 

Largest 
Carrier 

Share (%) 
O&D 

(%) CPE ($) 
DCOH 
(Days) 

Total 
DSCR (x) 

Net Total 
Debt/ 

CFADS (x) 

Future 
Leverage 

(Rating, x) 

Total 
Debt/Total 

Epax ($) 

Western            

Alaska International Airport System A+ Negative 3,402  66  100  10.50  551  2.1  2.9  3.1  102  

Boise (Senior/Subordinate) A+/A Negative 2,026  25  95  3.53  973  3.3  (2.0) (1.3) 12  

Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority A Negative 2,745  72  99  1.93  1,807  3.0  (4.7) (6.2) 34  

Denver International Airport (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative 34,508  45  64  10.66  790  1.8  7.0  6.5  166  

Fresno BBB+ Negative 930  33  100  8.64  712  2.3  4.1  4.1  87  

Hawaii (Senior/Subordinate) A+/A Negative 18,727  50  100  9.75  720  2.0  5.3  8.7  83  

Las Vegas McCarran (Subordinate) NR/A+ Negative 25,224  36  89  9.91  688  1.6  6.7  4.2  146  

Long Beach A– Negative 1,757  56  95  8.52  404  1.8  3.0  3.0  53  

Los Angeles International Airport 
(Senior/Subordinate/Payment Obligation) AA/AA–/A Negative 44,207  19  82  16.52  530  2.5  5.7  5.6  162  

Northern Mariana Islands (Commonwealth) B+ Negative 568  27  100  16.39  702  1.6  (8.2) (15.3) 17  

Ontario, CA A– Negative 2,632  52  95  8.73  420  1.5  (4.5) (9.0) 15  

Port of Oakland (Senior/Subordinate) A+/A Negative 6,807  69  85  12.21  633  1.7  2.6  0.9  137  

Port of Seattle (Senior/Intermediate/Subordinate) AA/AA–/AA– Negative 25,874  49  70  12.85  486  1.8  6.7  3.3 136  

San Diego (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative 12,356  38  96  10.74  839  2.0  4.0  7.1  95  

San Francisco A+ Negative 28,620  46  81  17.71  362  1.4  11.6  9.1  255  

San Jose (Senior/Subordinate Bank Bonds) A/A– Negative 7,462  48  97  8.28  628  1.4  7.3  7.9  162  

Median — — 7,135  47  95  10.21  660  1.8  4.0  3.7  99  

Northeastern            

Buffalo (Niagara Frontier) BBB+ RWN 2,519  30  99  10.79  256  2.5  4.8  2.0  57  

Burlington, VT BBB RWN 693  34  100  6.99  180  1.6  4.3  2.4  44  

Capital Region Airport, VA (Richmond) A Negative 2,143  20  100  5.49  536  3.3  1.0  (0.8) 34  

Hartford (Bradley) A Negative 3,394  24  99  8.44  629  2.6  0.1  (1.3) 30  

Massport (Boston) AA Negative 20,833  29  95  14.63  472  3.7  2.1  3.5  81  

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority 
AA– Negative 24,276  37  79  

11.49 (DCA); 
14.82 (IAD) 1,385  1.9  6.0  6.5  182  

New York City JFK Terminal One (TOGA) BBB RWN 4,063  14  100  37.72  77  1.5  1.9  0.1  26  

Philadelphia A Negative 16,088  70  68  14.95  321  2.1  8.8  5.6  103  

Port Authority of New York/New Jersey  
(Senior/Payment Obligation) AA–/A RWN 70,251  23  76   254  2.2  6.9  7.8  347  

Port Authority of New York/New Jersey 
(JFK International Air Terminal Four) BBB Negative 10,839  60  70  43.77  103  2.4  3.0  1.9  106  

Rhode Island (Providence) BBB+ Negative 2,046  38  99  9.63  733  1.9  3.8  1.7  108  

Median — — 4,063  30  99  11.49  321  2.2  3.8  2.0  81  

Southwestern            

Dallas-Fort Worth International Airport A+ Negative 36,600  86  41  12.95  723  1.4  8.5  7.3  171  

Dallas Love A Negative 8,309  94  67  8.56  303  4.7  2.1  1.6  26  

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 20  

Airport Ratings Outlook 
Enplanements 

(000) 

Largest 
Carrier 

Share (%) 
O&D 

(%) CPE ($) 
DCOH 
(Days) 

Total 
DSCR (x) 

Net Total 
Debt/ 

CFADS (x) 

Future 
Leverage 

(Rating, x) 

Total 
Debt/Total 

Epax ($) 

El Paso, TX A Negative 1,764  45  95  5.92  346  2.6  1.0  (0.7) 30  

Houston Airport System (Subordinate Lien) 
A Negative 29,808  58  58  

10.48 (IAH); 
6.64 (HOU) 545  1.4  5.5  7.1  65  

San Antonio (Senior/Subordinate + PFC) A+/A Negative 5,187  38  98  8.00  182  2.3  3.6  3.6  57  

Median — — 8,309  58  67  8.28  346  2.3  3.6  3.6  57  

Southeastern            

Atlanta (Hartsfield) (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/AA– Negative 54,532  80  39  2.77  863  2.2  3.6  4.3  53  

Birmingham, AL A– Negative 1,534  33  97  11.07  1,011  1.9  2.5  1.4  105  

Broward County (Fort Lauderdale) A+ Negative 18,164  24  89  6.89  410  1.6  8.7  8.5  112  

Charlotte/Douglas Int’l Airport AA– Negative 23,959  91  31  1.55  1,548  2.9  1.7  5.9  35  

Lee County, FL (Fort Myers) A Negative 5,027  20  92  5.80  683  1.6  2.6  1.6  51  

Miami (Miami-Dade County, FL) A Negative 22,685  67  70  19.23  260  1.3  12.5  7.9  252  

New Orleans Aviation Board A Negative 6,832  36  96  6.71  688  1.3  11.5  9.3  148  

Orlando (Senior/Subordinate) GOAA AA–/A+ Negative 24,847  22  95  5.70  568  2.6  3.6  8.0  72  

Palm Beach County, FL A+ Negative 3,353  29  99  4.72  716  4.2  (1.4) (2.2) 19  

Raleigh Durham, NC AA– Negative 6,544  30  98  8.59  1,460  3.1  1.3  0.9  81  

Tampa (Hillsborough County) (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative 11,085  31  92  4.94  424  1.7  6.8  9.4  103  

Median — — 11,085  31  92  5.80  688  1.9  3.6  5.9  81  

Midwestern            

Chicago Midway (Subordinate Lien) A Negative 10,418  92  67  12.97  218  1.2  12.9  8.1  161  

Chicago O’Hare A Negative 42,248  43  56  18.35  434  1.4  10.6  13.6  214  

Cincinnati (Kenton Co, KY) A+ Negative 4,554  45  95  4.51  569  6.2  (3.4) (4.2) 16  

Cleveland A– Negative 5,023  25  97  14.78  446  1.7  5.0  3.8  126  

Dayton BBB RWN 892  46  100  9.47  292  1.6  4.5  3.1  78  

Detroit (Senior/Subordinate) A/A Negative 18,121  74  58  9.84  129  1.3  9.3  7.8  113  

Indianapolis A Negative 4,765  29  97  7.90  395  1.9  7.1  4.5  207  

Kansas City A Negative 5,952  49  95  6.42  422  2.2  1.2  11.1  35  

Louisville, KY A+ Negative 2,048  26  100  5.42  1,244  2.0  0.9  (0.6) 80  

Memphis A Negative 2,261  33  99  5.52  296  1.4  10.1  4.7  216  

Milwaukee A+ Negative 3,450  42  99  7.54  631  1.9  0.5  1.4  40  

Minneapolis-St. Paul (Senior/Subordinate) AA–/A+ Negative 19,181  55  63  6.93  735  2.1  4.6  2.8  80  

Nashville (Subordinate) A Negative 8,596  53  81  6.67  700  3.1  0.3  12.4  26  

St. Louis (MO) A Negative 7,915  63  77  9.04  435  1.5  4.7  3.5  71  

Median — — 5,488  46  95  7.72  434  1.8  4.7  4.2  80  

CPE – Cost per enplanement. DCOH – Days cash on hand. DSCR – Debt service coverage ratio. CFADS – Cash flow available for debt service. Epax – Enplanements. RWN – Rating Watch Negative. DCA – Reagan National Airport.  
IAD – Dulles International Airport.  IAH – George Bush Intercontinental Airport. HOU – William P. Hobby Airport. PFC – Passenger facility charges. GOAA – Greater Orlando Aviation Authority. Note: Future leverage (rating case) is year 
five.  
Source: Fitch Ratings, issuer-reported data. 

 

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 21  

Appendix J: Car Rental Financings/CONRACs — Revenue Risk Factors 

Car Rental Financings/CONRACs — Revenue Risk Factors 

Assessment Revenue Risk — Volume Revenue Risk — Price 

Stronger • Larger underlying airport passenger base, with clear positive trends in destination 
traffic. 

• Broad Rental car participation (i.e. 10 or more rental car brands) with relatively low 
concentration from a single brand operator (i.e. less than 40%). 

• Lower rental car transaction volatility with historical and prospective peak-to-trough 
decline below 10%. 

• Established balance of rental car demand for business and leisure, or a premier leisure 
destination. 

• Minimal competition from off-airport rental car operators or alternative ground 
transportation options. 

• Full local flexibility and demonstrated willingness on charge-setting authority with no 
or very limited pricing caps. 

• Ability to charge rental car operators additional amounts (i.e. contingent rent) to meet 
facility costs in a timely manner. 

• CFC rates are set to be sufficient at outset of financing of project with little or no 
projected increases in Fitch’s rating case. 

Midrange • Midsize underlying airport passenger base, with largely stable trends in destination 
traffic. 

• Moderate rental car participation (i.e. 5–10 rental car brands) with some 
concentration from a single-brand operator (i.e. 40% or more). 

• Moderate rental car transaction volatility with historical and prospective peak-to-
trough decline of 10%–20%. 

• Balance of rental car demand for business and leisure with some exposure to 
seasonality/cyclicality. 

• Moderate existing or potential competition from off-airport rental car operators or 
alternative ground transportation options. 

• Some constraints to charge-setting authority or subject to pricing caps by either 
ordinance, local or state regulations, or subject to some political or management 
willingness to maintain or raise rates. 

• Ability to charge rental car operators additional amounts (i.e. contingent rent) subject 
to some contractual limitations, to meet facility costs in a timely manner. 

• CFC rates likely to require moderate increases (i.e. at or near inflation) over debt term 
to support rising debt and/or operating project costs in Fitch’s rating case. 

Weaker • Smaller underlying airport passenger base, with risks to volatility in destination traffic. 
• Limited rental car participation with high concentration from a single-brand operator 

(more than 50%). 
• Elevated rental car transaction volatility with historical and prospective peak-to-

trough decline above 20%. 
• Rental car demand not well-anchored by stable bus lines and leisure users. 
• Material competition already in place from off-airport rental car operators or 

alternative ground transportation options. 

• Material economic, political or legal constraints to charge-setting authority, with 
specific pricing caps by either ordinance, local or state regulators. 

• No ability to charge rental car operators additional amounts (i.e. contingent rent) to 
meet facility costs in a timely manner. 

• CFC rates likely to require material increases (i.e. above inflation) over debt term to 
support rising debt and /or operating project costs in Fitch’s rating case. 

Revenue Risk Profiles Volume/Price Assessments 

Stronger Profile Stronger/Stronger; Stronger/Midrange 

Midrange Profile Midrange/Stronger; Midrange/Midrange; Stronger/Midrange 

Weaker Profile Midrange/Weaker; Weaker/Stronger; Weaker/Midrange; Weaker/Weaker 

CONRAC – Consolidated rental car facilities. CFC – Customer facility charge.  
Source: Fitch Ratings. 

 

  

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 22  

Appendix K: CONRAC Attribute Scoring 

Airport Ratings Outlook Revenue Risk: Volume Revenue Risk: Price 
Infrastructure 
Development/Renewal Debt Structure Senior 

A Category Rating       

Atlanta A Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Charlotte A Stable Midrange Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Hawaii Department of Transportation A Stable Stronger Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Massport (Boston-Logan) A Stable Stronger Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Miami MIC (FDOT) A Stable Stronger Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Austin A– Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Houston A– Stable Stronger Midrange Stronger Stronger 

Cincinnati A– Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Columbus A– Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Portland A– Negative Stronger Stronger Stronger Stronger 

BBB Category Rating       

San Antonio BBB+ Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger Stronger 

Hartford BBB Negative Midrange Stronger Stronger Stronger 

CONRAC – Consolidated rental car facilities.  
Source: Fitch Ratings. 

  
 

  

Stronger
50%

Midrange
50%

Volume

Source: Fitch Ratings.

Stronger
92%

Midrange
8%

Price

Source: Fitch Ratings.

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 23  

Appendix L: CONRAC Key Metrics 

Airport Ratings Outlook 

Debt 
Outstanding 

($ Mil.) 
Final 

Maturity 
Largest RC 

Operator 
Market 

Share (%) 

Current  
CFC Rate  

($) 

Contingent Rent 
Provision 
(Yes/No) 

Rate 
Covenant 

Level (x) 
Transaction 

Days 

CFC 
Revenues 

($ 000) 
DSCR with 

Coverage (x)  

DSCR 
without 

Coverage (x) 
Net Debt/ 
CFADS (x) 

A Category Rating               

Atlanta A Negative 347  2031 Vanguard 29  5.00  Yes 1.25 ADS 8,206,352  41,158  2.6  2.3  
2.1 (senior); 

3.6 (total) 

Charlotte A Stable 85  2041 National 29  4.00  Yes 1.25 ADS 3,392,000  13,570  3.5  3.2  0.5  

Hawaii Department of 
Transportation A Stable 901  2048 Alamo 22  4.50  Yes 1.40 ADS 16,084,000  72,379  5.1  4.8  4.3  

Massport 
(Boston-Logan) A Stable 310  2041 Hertz 21  6.00  Yes 1.30 ADS 5,586,124  33,516  2.9  2.6  2.6  

Miami MIC  
(FDOT) A Stable 370  2044 Alamo 27  4.85  

Yes, if projected 
PLCR falls 1.30 PLCR 9,498,527  43,691  N.A. 2.3 (PLCR) 4.0  

Austin A- Negative 156  2042 Enterprise 38  5.95  Yes 1.25 ADS 2,826,642  16,819  2.4  2.0  5.8  

Houston A- Stable 132  2028 Vanguard 27  4.00  No 1.25 ADS 4,417,866  17,671  1.9  1.6  1.5  

Cincinnati A- Negative 170  2049 National 24  7.50  Yes 1.25 ADS 1,617,326  12,130  4.0  3.5  7.8  

Columbus A- Negative 153  2048 Hertz 20  6.50  Yes 1.25 ADS 1,780,106  8,274  3.4  2.9  10.5  

Portland A- Negative 282  2049 Hertz 20  6.00  Yes 1.50 ADS 3,791,000  16,238  15.9  13.9  8.3  

Median — — 226  — — 26  5.48  — — 4,104,433  17,245  3.4  2.7  4.0  

BBB Category Rating               

San Antonio BBB+ Negative 171  2045 Hertz 21  5.50  Yes 1.25 ADS 2,531,728  13,925  2.3  2.0  6.4  

Hartford BBB Negative 210  2049 Enterprise 45  8.40  Yes 1.25 ADS 1,545,540  11,591  N.A. N.A. 10.8  

Median –  
Total Portfolio — — 190  — — 26  5.73  — — 3,591,500  16,529  3.1  2.6  4.3  

CONRAC – Consolidated rental car facilities. RC – Rental car. CFC - Customer facility charge. DSCR - Debt service coverage ratio. CFADS – Cash flow available for debt service. ADS – Annual debt service.  
PLCR – Projected life coverage ratio. N.A. – Not available. 
Source: Fitch Ratings, issuer-reported data. 

 

  

Item 6



 

 

 

 
Project Finance & Global Infrastructure  

Airports 
United States 

    

 Peer Review │ December 14, 2020 fitchratings.com 24  

 

 

 

ALL FITCH CREDIT RATINGS ARE SUBJECT TO CERTAIN LIMITATIONS AND DISCLAIMERS. PLEASE READ THESE LIMITATIONS AND DISCLAIMERS BY FOLLOWING THIS LINK: 
HTTPS://FITCHRATINGS.COM/UNDERSTANDINGCREDITRATINGS. IN ADDITION, RATING DEFINITIONS AND THE TERMS OF USE OF SUCH RATINGS ARE AVAILABLE ON THE AGENCY’S PUBLIC WEB 
SITE AT WWW.FITCHRATINGS.COM. PUBLISHED RATINGS, CRITERIA, AND METHODOLOGIES ARE AVAILABLE FROM THIS SITE AT ALL TIMES. FITCH’S CODE OF CONDUCT, CONFIDENTIALITY, 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST, AFFILIATE FIREWALL, COMPLIANCE, AND OTHER RELEVANT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES ARE ALSO AVAILABLE FROM THE CODE OF CONDUCT SECTION OF THIS SITE. 
FITCH MAY HAVE PROVIDED ANOTHER PERMISSIBLE SERVICE TO THE RATED ENTITY OR ITS RELATED THIRD PARTIES. DETAILS OF THIS SERVICE FOR RATINGS FOR WHICH THE LEAD ANALYST IS 
BASED IN AN EU-REGISTERED ENTITY CAN BE FOUND ON THE ENTITY SUMMARY PAGE FOR THIS ISSUER ON THE FITCH WEBSITE. 
 
Copyright © 2020 by Fitch Ratings, Inc., Fitch Ratings Ltd. and its subsidiaries. 33 Whitehall Street, NY, NY 10004. Telephone: 1-800-753-4824, (212) 908-0500. Fax: (212) 480-4435. Reproduction or retransmission in whole or in part is prohibited except by permission. All rights 
reserved. In issuing and maintaining its ratings and in making other reports (including forecast information), Fitch relies on factual information it receives from issuers and underwriters and from other sources Fitch believes to be credible. Fitch conducts a reasonable investigation of 
the factual information relied upon by it in accordance with its ratings methodology, and obtains reasonable verification of that information from independent sources, to the extent such sources are available for a given security or in a given jurisdiction. The manner of Fitch’s factual 
investigation and the scope of the third-party verification it obtains will vary depending on the nature of the rated security and its issuer, the requirements and practices in the jurisdiction in which the rated security is offered and sold and/or the issuer is located, the availability and 
nature of relevant public information, access to the management of the issuer and its advisers, the availability of pre-existing third-party verifications such as audit reports, agreed-upon procedures letters, appraisals, actuarial reports, engineering reports, legal opinions and other 
reports provided by third parties, the availability of independent and competent third-party verification sources with respect to the particular security or in the particular jurisdiction of the issuer, and a variety of other factors. Users of Fitch’s ratings and reports should understand 
that neither an enhanced factual investigation nor any third-party verification can ensure that all of the information Fitch relies on in connection with a rating or a report will be accurate and complete. Ultimately, the issuer and its advisers are responsible for the accuracy of the 
information they provide to Fitch and to the market in offering documents and other reports. In issuing its ratings and its reports, Fitch must rely on the work of experts, including independent auditors with respect to financial statements and attorneys with respect to legal and tax 
matters. Further, ratings and forecasts of financial and other information are inherently forward-looking and embody assumptions and predictions about future events that by their nature cannot be verified as facts. As a result, despite any verification of current facts, ratings and 
forecasts can be affected by future events or conditions that were not anticipated at the time a rating or forecast was issued or affirmed. 
 
The information in this report is provided “as is” without any representation or warranty of any kind, and Fitch does not represent or warrant that the report or any of its contents will meet any of the requirements of a recipient of the report. A Fitch rating is an opinion as to the 
creditworthiness of a security. This opinion and reports made by Fitch are based on established criteria and methodologies that Fitch is continuously evaluating and updating. Therefore, ratings and reports are the collective work product of Fitch and no individual, or group of individuals, 
is solely responsible for a rating or a report. The rating does not address the risk of loss due to risks other than credit risk, unless such risk is specifically mentioned. Fitch is not engaged in the offer or sale of any security. All Fitch reports have shared authorship. Individuals identified in 
a Fitch report were involved in, but are not solely responsible for, the opinions stated therein. The individuals are named for contact purposes only. A report providing a Fitch rating is neither a prospectus nor a substitute for the information assembled, verified and presented to 
investors by the issuer and its agents in connection with the sale of the securities. Ratings may be changed or withdrawn at any time for any reason in the sole discretion of Fitch. Fitch does not provide investment advice of any sort. Ratings are not a recommendation to buy, sell, or 
hold any security. Ratings do not comment on the adequacy of market price, the suitability of any security for a particular investor, or the tax-exempt nature or taxability of payments made in respect to any security. Fitch receives fees from issuers, insurers, guarantors, other obligors, 
and underwriters for rating securities. Such fees generally vary from US$1,000 to US$750,000 (or the applicable currency equivalent) per issue. In certain cases, Fitch will rate all or a number of issues issued by a particular issuer, or insured or guaranteed by a particular insurer or 
guarantor, for a single annual fee. Such fees are expected to vary from US$10,000 to US$1,500,000 (or the applicable currency equivalent). The assignment, publication, or dissemination of a rating by Fitch shall not constitute a consent by Fitch to use its name as an expert in connection 
with any registration statement filed under the United States securities laws, the Financial Services and Markets Act of 2000 of the United Kingdom, or the securities laws of any particular jurisdiction. Due to the relative efficiency of electronic publishing and distribution, Fitch research 
may be available to electronic subscribers up to three days earlier than to print subscribers. 
 
For Australia, New Zealand, Taiwan and South Korea only: Fitch Australia Pty Ltd holds an Australian financial services license (AFS license no. 337123) which authorizes it to provide credit ratings to wholesale clients only. Credit ratings information published by Fitch is not intended 
to be used by persons who are retail clients within the meaning of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 

Item 6

https://www.fitchratings.com/site/definitions
http://www.fitchratings.com/


Municipal Advisor Disclosure

The enclosed information relates to an existing or potential municipal advisor engagement.

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) has clarified that a broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer engaging in municipal advisory activities outside the scope of
underwriting a particular issuance of municipal securities should be subject to municipal advisor registration. Davenport & Company LLC (“Davenport”) has registered as a municipal
advisor with the SEC. As a registered municipal advisor Davenport may provide advice to a municipal entity or obligated person. An obligated person is an entity other than a municipal
entity, such as a not for profit corporation, that has commenced an application or negotiation with an entity to issue municipal securities on its behalf and for which it will provide support. If
and when an issuer engages Davenport to provide financial advisory or consultant services with respect to the issuance of municipal securities, Davenport is obligated to evidence such a
financial advisory relationship with a written agreement.

When acting as a registered municipal advisor Davenport is a fiduciary required by federal law to act in the best interest of a municipal entity without regard to its own financial or other
interests. Davenport is not a fiduciary when it acts as a registered investment advisor, when advising an obligated person, or when acting as an underwriter, though it is required to deal
fairly with such persons.

This material was prepared by public finance, or other non-research personnel of Davenport. This material was not produced by a research analyst, although it may refer to a Davenport
research analyst or research report. Unless otherwise indicated, these views (if any) are the author’s and may differ from those of the Davenport fixed income or research department or
others in the firm. Davenport may perform or seek to perform financial advisory services for the issuers of the securities and instruments mentioned herein.

This material has been prepared for information purposes only and is not a solicitation of any offer to buy or sell any security/instrument or to participate in any trading strategy. Any such
offer would be made only after a prospective participant had completed its own independent investigation of the securities, instruments or transactions and received all information it
required to make its own investment decision, including, where applicable, a review of any offering circular or memorandum describing such security or instrument. That information would
contain material information not contained herein and to which prospective participants are referred. This material is based on public information as of the specified date, and may be
stale thereafter. We have no obligation to tell you when information herein may change. We make no representation or warranty with respect to the completeness of this material.
Davenport has no obligation to continue to publish information on the securities/instruments mentioned herein. Recipients are required to comply with any legal or contractual restrictions
on their purchase, holding, sale, exercise of rights or performance of obligations under any securities/instruments transaction.

The securities/instruments discussed in this material may not be suitable for all investors or issuers. Recipients should seek independent financial advice prior to making any investment
decision based on this material. This material does not provide individually tailored investment advice or offer tax, regulatory, accounting or legal advice. Prior to entering into any
proposed transaction, recipients should determine, in consultation with their own investment, legal, tax, regulatory and accounting advisors, the economic risks and merits, as well as the
legal, tax, regulatory and accounting characteristics and consequences, of the transaction. You should consider this material as only a single factor in making an investment decision.

The value of and income from investments and the cost of borrowing may vary because of changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, default rates, prepayment rates,
securities/instruments prices, market indexes, operational or financial conditions or companies or other factors. There may be time limitations on the exercise of options or other rights in
securities/instruments transactions. Past performance is not necessarily a guide to future performance and estimates of future performance are based on assumptions that may not be
realized. Actual events may differ from those assumed and changes to any assumptions may have a material impact on any projections or estimates. Other events not taken into account
may occur and may significantly affect the projections or estimates. Certain assumptions may have been made for modeling purposes or to simplify the presentation and/or calculation of
any projections or estimates, and Davenport does not represent that any such assumptions will reflect actual future events. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that estimated returns
or projections will be realized or that actual returns or performance results will not materially differ from those estimated herein.

This material may not be sold or redistributed without the prior written consent of Davenport. Version 1.13.14 | FH | RT | TW | TC |

June 17, 2021 Manassas Regional Airport 41

Item 6



Item 7



Item 10



Manassas Regional Airport                                                   Minimum Standards 

Established: DRAFT                                                                        Page 23 

Deleted: September 28, 202

Deleted: 0

 
Section 10.3 Facilities 
 
 The Operator shall lease from the Airport sufficient land to lease or construct the following 
facilities: 
 
1. A building that will provide a minimum of two hundred fifty (250) SF of properly lighted 

and heated office space with immediate access to customer waiting area/lounge and 
sanitary restrooms. 

 
2. A paved Apron or hangar space sufficient to tie down, park, and maneuver a minimum of 

two (2) Small Aircraft, a minimum thirty two hundred (3,200) SF.    
 
3. A paved parking area that complies with the City of Manassas parking requirements for 

customer and employee parking. 
 
4. With the prior written permission of the Commission, these requirements may be satisfied 

by a sublease of such space from an existing Full-Service FBO, Franchise holder, or 
Leaseholder. 

 
 

Article 11 Flight Training (SASO) 
 
Section 11.1 Statement of Concept 
 
 A Flight Training business engages in instructing pilots in dual and solo flight training, in 
fixed and/or rotary wing Aircraft, and provides such related ground school instruction as is 
necessary for taking a written examination and flight check ride for the category or categories of 
pilot certificates and or ratings involved. 
 
Section 11.2 Minimum Standards 
 
 Except as otherwise provided in any Agreement between the Operator and the Airport, the 
Operator shall provide the following services and equipment: 
 
1. A Flight Training Operator shall meet all the appropriate requirements under Code of 

Federal Aviation Regulations 14 (CFR) Part 61,141 and or 142. 
 
2. A minimum of one (1) fixed wing or one (1) rotary wing Aircraft. Aircraft can be either 

owned or leased to the Operator. 
a. Non-Tenant Operators are limited to one (1) fixed wing or one (1) rotary wing 

Aircraft. Non-Tenant Operators who operate more than one (1) Aircraft will be 
considered a Non-Franchise Tenant and will be required to meet facility requirements 
as spelt out in Section 11.3. 

 
3. A minimum of one (1) currently FAA Certificated pilot, with appropriate Instructor Rating 

and current FAA medical certificate, if applicable, on duty during the appropriate business 
hours. 

Item 10



Manassas Regional Airport                                                   Minimum Standards 

Established: DRAFT                                                                        Page 24 

Deleted: September 28, 202

Deleted: 0

 
4. Maintain hours of operation sufficient to meet public demand. 
 
5. Provide insurance coverage in amounts not less than specified in Appendix A.   
 
Section 11.3 Facilities 
 
 The Operator shall lease from the Airport sufficient land to lease or construct the following 
facilities: 
 
1. A building which will provide a minimum of three hundred (300) SF of properly lighted 

and heated classroom and office space and have immediate access to customer waiting 
area/lounge and sanitary restrooms. 

 
2. A paved Apron or hangar space sufficient to tie down, park, and maneuver a minimum of 

one (1) Small Aircraft, a minimum sixteen hundred (1,600) SF. 
 
3. Adequate classroom training aids that may include mock-ups, pictures, slides, video and/or 

digital media to provide proper ground school instructions.   
 
4. A paved parking area that complies with the City of Manassas parking requirements for 

customer and employee parking. 
 
5.  With the prior written permission of the Commission, these requirements may be satisfied 

by a sublease of such space from an existing Full-Service FBO, Franchise holder, or 
Leaseholder. 

 
 

Article 12 Aircraft Sales (SASO) 
 
Section 12.1 Statement of Concept 
 
 An Aircraft Sales business engages in purchasing and selling of new and/or used Aircraft 
through various methods including matching potential customers with an Aircraft (brokering), 
assisting a customer in the purchase or sale of an Aircraft, or purchasing used Aircraft and 
marketing them to potential purchasers. 
 
Section 12.2 Minimum Standards 
 
 Except as otherwise provided in any Agreement between the Operator and the Airport, the 
Operator engaged in the sale of new and/or used Aircraft shall provide the following services: 
 
1. Maintain a Commercial Dealers License for the sale of Aircraft in the Commonwealth of 

Virginia.  
 
2. A minimum of one (1) currently FAA Certificated pilot, with appropriate ratings for the 

Aircraft to be demonstrated. 
 

Deleted: six hundred

Deleted: 6

Item 10



Item 11



Appendix A

**All ancillary coverages must be listed under the policy. Page 1 of 6

Workers'
Compensation Comprehensive Hangar Flight Instructor
and Employers Airport Keepers Aircraft Environmental Commercial Professional

Section/Activity Liability Liability** Liability Liability Liability Automobile Liability Liability

Article 6 Statutory Limits Premises/Operations Coverage required Contractor's Pollution Coverage required if
Aircraft Fuels Products/Completed Operations is based on the type Insurance Policy licensed vehicles
and Oil Sales (if applicable) of aircraft under custody $1,000,000 are driven on the ramp,
and Service Contractual Liability of the business. per occurrence taxiways or runways.

(if applicable)
Fire Legal Liability Storage Tank Liability $1,000,000

(if leasing space from Airport) $1,000,000 per occurrence
Environmental per occurrence
(if applicable)

$1,000,000 / $3,000,000
per occurrence / aggregate

If services are provided to Airlines
$5,000,000 per occurrence

Minimum Standards Insurance Requirements

Insurance Matrix

Disclaimer: The Manassas Regional Airport Minimum Insurance Requirements are established solely for the purpose of protecting the interests of the City of Manassas 
under this contract, and should not be relied upon or used for any particular purpose. Specifically, each operator should exercise its own independent judgment and 
discretion in determining the insurance coverages and amounts necessary to fully protect its interests. The City of Manassas shall not be held responsible in any way 
for, and specifically disclaims any liability arising out of or in any way connected to, reliance on or use of any of the information contained or referenced on this Matrix or 
Minimum Standards for Airport Aeronautical Service and Aeronautical Activity Providers. The information contained or referenced in this Matrix is not intended to 
constitute and should not be considered legal or professional advice, nor shall it serve as a substitute for the recipient obtaining such advice.  

Additional Insured - The City of Manassas shall be named as an Additional Insured on ALL policies. A separate endorsement must be provided.

Annual Review
This Insurance Matrix will be reviewed annually and the Airport Director or Risk Management may require additional limits of liability or other insurance coverage based 

upon the type of business operation or change in the entity’s risk exposure.

Minimum Requirements

Insurance Rating - Each policy of insurance required should be issued by an “A” rated-Class VI or better (according to the A.M. Best’s Rating Organization) insurance 
company authorized by the Commonwealth of Virginia to issue such policy in this State 

Additional Requirements

Item 10



Appendix A Insurance Matrix

**All ancillary coverages must be listed under the policy.
The City of Manassas shall be named as an Additional Insured on ALL policies. A separate endorsement must be provided. Page 2 of 6

Workers'
Compensation Comprehensive Hangar Flight Instructor
and Employers Airport Keepers Aircraft Environmental Commercial Professional

Section/Activity Liability Liability** Liability Liability Liability Automobile Liability Liability

Article 8 Statutory Limits Premises/Operations Coverage required Coverage required if
Airframe and Products/Completed Operations is based on the type licensed vehicles
Power plant (if applicable) of aircraft under custody are driven on the ramp,

Repair Contractual Liability of the business. taxiways or runways.
(if applicable)

Fire Legal Liability $1,000,000
(if leasing space from Airport) per occurrence

Environmental
(if applicable)

$1,000,000
per occurrence

Article 9 Statutory Limits Premises/Operations Coverage required Coverage required if
Aircraft Products/Completed Operations is based on the type licensed vehicles

Component (if applicable) of aircraft under custody are driven on the ramp,
Repair Contractual Liability of the business. taxiways or runways.

(if applicable)
Fire Legal Liability $1,000,000

(if leasing space from Airport) per occurrence
Environmental
(if applicable)

$1,000,000
per occurrence

Item 10



Appendix A Insurance Matrix

**All ancillary coverages must be listed under the policy.
The City of Manassas shall be named as an Additional Insured on ALL policies. A separate endorsement must be provided. Page 3 of 6

Workers'
Compensation Comprehensive Hangar Flight Instructor
and Employers Airport Keepers Aircraft Environmental Commercial Professional

Section/Activity Liability Liability** Liability Liability Liability Automobile Liability Liability

Article 10 Statutory Limits Premises/Operations Coverage required if Piston/Turbine/Helicopter Coverage required if
Aircraft Rental Products/Completed Operations Aircraft are being $1,000,000 licensed vehicles

(if applicable) serviced by Entity or Combined Single Limit are driven on the ramp,
Contractual Liability owned by an Entity taxiways or runways.

(if applicable) other than the rental
Fire Legal Liability company $1,000,000

(if leasing space from Airport) per occurrence
Environmental
(if applicable)

$1,000,000
per occurrence

Article 11 Statutory Limits Premises/Operations Coverage required if Piston/Turbine/Helicopter Coverage required if $1,000,000
Flight Training Products/Completed Operations Aircraft are being $1,000,000 licensed vehicles per occurrence

(if applicable) serviced by Entity or Combined Single Limit are driven on the ramp,
Contractual Liability owned by an Entity taxiways or runways.

(if applicable) other than the flight
Fire Legal Liability training operator. $1,000,000

(if leasing space from Airport) per occurrence
Environmental
(if applicable)

$1,000,000
per occurrence

Item 10



Appendix A Insurance Matrix

**All ancillary coverages must be listed under the policy.
The City of Manassas shall be named as an Additional Insured on ALL policies. A separate endorsement must be provided. Page 4 of 6

Workers'
Compensation Comprehensive Hangar Flight Instructor
and Employers Airport Keepers Aircraft Environmental Commercial Professional

Section/Activity Liability Liability** Liability Liability Liability Automobile Liability Liability

Article 12 Statutory Limits Premises/Operations Coverage required Piston/Turbine/Helicopter Coverage required if
Aircraft Sales Products/Completed Operations is based on the type $1,000,000 licensed vehicles

(if applicable) of aircraft under custody Combined Single Limit are driven on the ramp,
Contractual Liability of the business. taxiways or runways.

(if applicable)
Fire Legal Liability $1,000,000

(if leasing space from Airport) per occurrence
Environmental
(if applicable)

$1,000,000
per occurrence

Article 13 Statutory Limits Premises/Operations Coverage required if Piston/Turbine/Helicopter Coverage required if
Air Charter Products/Completed Operations Aircraft are being $1,000,000 licensed vehicles
Operations (if applicable) serviced by Entity or Combined Single Limit are driven on the ramp,

or Contractual Liability owned by an Entity taxiways or runways.
Aircraft Management (if applicable) other than the Charter

Operator Fire Legal Liability or Management Operator. $1,000,000
(if leasing space from Airport) per occurrence

Environmental
(if applicable)

$1,000,000
per occurrence

Item 10



Appendix A Insurance Matrix

**All ancillary coverages must be listed under the policy.
The City of Manassas shall be named as an Additional Insured on ALL policies. A separate endorsement must be provided. Page 5 of 6

Workers'
Compensation Comprehensive Hangar Flight Instructor
and Employers Airport Keepers Aircraft Environmental Commercial Professional

Section/Activity Liability Liability** Liability Liability Liability Automobile Liability Liability

Article 14
Non-Tenant See Airport Director for insurance requirements to be based on the type of business operation.

Operator

Article 15 Statutory Limits Premises/Operations Coverage required if
Rental Car Products/Completed Operations licensed vehicles
Business (if applicable) are driven on the ramp,

(Non-Franchise Tenant) Contractual Liability taxiways or runways.
(if applicable)

Fire Legal Liability $1,000,000
(if leasing space from Airport) per occurrence

Environmental
(if applicable)

$1,000,000
per occurrence

Article 19
Specialized
Commercial
Operations

Article 21 General Liability Coverage required if Piston/Turbine/Helicopter Proof of coverage
Flying Clubs $1,000,000 Aircraft are being $1,000,000

per occurrence serviced by an Entity or Combined Single Limit
other than the flying

Property Damage club
$100,000

See Airport Director for insurance requirements to be based on the type of business operation.
The most stringent requirements will be applied for applicable Comprehensive Airport Liability, Aircraft Liability, Commercial Automobile, Hangar keepers and Environmental Impairment.

The most stringent requirements will be applied for applicable Comprehensive Airport Liability, Aircraft Liability, Commercial Automobile, Hangar keepers and Environmental Impairment.

Item 10



Appendix A Insurance Matrix

**All ancillary coverages must be listed under the policy.
The City of Manassas shall be named as an Additional Insured on ALL policies. A separate endorsement must be provided. Page 6 of 6

Workers'
Compensation Comprehensive Hangar Flight Instructor
and Employers Airport Keepers Aircraft Environmental Commercial Professional

Section/Activity Liability Liability** Liability Liability Liability Automobile Liability Liability

Rules & Regulations Statutory Limits Premises/Operations Not Applicable Not Applicable Contractor's Pollution Coverage required if
Non-Commercial Products/Completed Operations Insurance Policy licensed vehicles

Self-Fueling (if applicable) $1,000,000 are driven on the ramp,
Over Contractual Liability per occurrence taxiways or runways.

12,000 Gallons (if applicable)
Annually Fire Legal Liability Storage Tank Liability $1,000,000

(if leasing space from Airport) $1,000,000 per occurrence
Environmental per occurrence
(if applicable)

$1,000,000 / $3,000,000
per occurrence / aggregate

If services provided to Airlines
$5,000,000 per occurrence

Item 10



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 12



Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 1 

U.S. Department 
of Transportation 
Federal Aviation 
Administration 

Airports Division 
Eastern Region 
District of Columbia, Maryland, Virginia 

FAA WAS ADO 
13873 Park Center Road 
Suite 490S 
Herndon, VA 20171 

CRRSA Transmittal Letter 

May 13, 2021 

The Honorable Michelle Davis-Younger, Mayor 
City of Manassas 
c/o Mr. Juan Rivera, Director 
Manassas Regional Airport 
10600 Harry J. Parrish Blvd. 
Manassas, Virginia  20110 

Dear Mayor Davis-Younger:  

Please find the following electronic Airport Coronavirus Response Grant Program (ACRGP) Grant Offer, 
Grant No. 3-51-0030-050-2021 for Manassas Regional/Harry P Davis Field Airport. This letter outlines 
expectations for success. Please read and follow the instructions carefully. 

To properly enter into this agreement, you must do the following: 

a. The governing body must provide authority to execute the grant to the individual signing the grant; 
i.e. the sponsor’s authorized representative.  

b. The sponsor’s authorized representative must execute the grant, followed by the attorney’s 
certification, no later than June 13, 2021 in order for the grant to be valid. 

c. You may not make any modification to the text, terms or conditions of the grant offer.  

d. The grant offer must be digitally signed by the sponsor’s legal signatory authority and then the 
grant offer will be routed via email to the sponsor’s attorney. Once the attorney has digitally 
attested to the grant, an email with the executed grant will be sent to all parties. 

Subject to the requirements in 2 CFR §200.305, each payment request for reimbursement under this 
grant must be made electronically via the Delphi eInvoicing System. Please see the attached Grant 
Agreement for more information regarding the use of this System. The terms and conditions of this 
agreement require you drawdown and expend these funds within four years. 

An airport sponsor may use these funds for costs related to operations, personnel, cleaning, sanitization, 
janitorial services, combating the spread of pathogens at the airport, and debt service payments. Please 
refer to the ACRGP Frequently Asked Questions for further information.  

With each payment request you are required to upload an invoice summary directly to Delphi. The 
invoice summary should include enough detail to permit FAA to verify compliance with the Coronavirus 
Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act (Public Law 116-260). 

For the final payment request, in addition to the requirement listed above for all payment requests, you 
are required to upload directly to Delphi: 

 A final financial report summarizing all of the costs incurred and reimbursed, and 
 An SF-425, and. 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 2 

 A closeout report (A sample report is available here). 

Until the grant is completed and closed, you are responsible for submitting a signed/dated SF-425 
annually, due 90 days after the end of each federal fiscal year in which this grant is open (due December 
31 of each year this grant is open). 

As a condition of receiving Federal assistance under this award, you must comply with audit 
requirements as established under 2 CFR part 200. Subpart F requires non-Federal entities that expend 
$750,000 or more in Federal awards to conduct a single or program specific audit for that year. Note 
that this includes Federal expenditures made under other Federal-assistance programs. Please take 
appropriate and necessary action to assure your organization will comply with applicable audit 
requirements and standards.  

I am readily available to assist you and your designated representative with the requirements stated 
herein. We sincerely value your cooperation in these efforts. 

Sincerely, 

{{Sig_es_:signer1:                        signature}}  

Matthew J. Thys, Manager 
Washington ADO 
[ADO has discretion to delegate signature authority to Program Manager] 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 3 

 

U.S. Department 
of Transportation 
Federal Aviation 
Administration 

AIRPORT CORONAVIRUS RELIEF GRANT PROGRAM (ACRGP) 

GRANT AGREEMENT

Part I - Offer 

Federal Award Offer Date May 13, 2021 
   
Airport/Planning Area Manassas Regional/Harry P Davis Field Airport 
   
ACRGP Grant Number 3-51-0030-050-2021 
   
Unique Entity Identifier 030342448 
   
TO: City of Manassas 

  (herein called the "Sponsor")  

    
FROM: The United States of America (acting through the Federal Aviation Administration, herein 

called the “FAA”) 
WHEREAS, the Sponsor has submitted to the FAA an Airports Coronavirus Response Grant Program 
(herein called “ACRGP”) Application dated February 24, 2021, for a grant of Federal funds at or 
associated with the Manassas Regional/Harry P Davis Field Airport, which is included as part of this 
ACRGP Grant Agreement; and  

WHEREAS, the Sponsor has accepted the terms of FAA’s ACRGP Grant offer;  

WHEREAS, in consideration of the promises, representations and assurances provided by the Sponsor, 
the FAA has approved the ACRGP Application for the Manassas Regional/Harry P Davis Field Airport, 
(herein called the “Grant” or “ACRGP Grant”) consisting of the following:  

This ACRGP Grant is provided in accordance with the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental 
Appropriations Act (CRRSA Act or “the Act”), Division M of Public Law 116-260, as described below, to 
provide eligible Sponsors with funding for costs related to operations, personnel, cleaning, sanitization, 
janitorial services, combating the spread of pathogens at the airport, and debt service payments. ACRGP 
Grant amounts to specific airports are derived by legislative formula (See Division M, Title IV of the Act).  

The purpose of this ACRGP Grant is to prevent, prepare for, and respond to coronavirus. Funds provided 
under this ACRGP Grant Agreement must only be used for purposes directly related to the airport. Such 
purposes can include the reimbursement of an airport’s operational and maintenance expenses or debt 
service payments in accordance with the limitations prescribed in the Act. ACRGP Grants may be used to 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 4 

reimburse airport operational and maintenance expenses directly related to Manassas Regional/Harry P 
Davis Field incurred no earlier than January 20, 2020. ACRGP Grants also may be used to reimburse a 
Sponsor’s payment of debt service where such payments occur on or after December 27, 2020. Funds 
provided under this ACRGP Grant Agreement will be governed by the same principles that govern 
“airport revenue.” New airport development projects not directly related to combating the spread of 
pathogens and approved by the FAA for such purposes, may not be funded with this Grant.  

NOW THEREFORE, in accordance with the applicable provisions of the CRRSA Act, Public Law 116-260, 
the representations contained in the Grant Application, and in consideration of (a) the Sponsor’s 
acceptance of this Offer; and, (b) the benefits to accrue to the United States and the public from the 
accomplishment of the Grant and in compliance with the conditions as herein provided,  

THE FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION, FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE UNITED STATES, HEREBY 
OFFERS AND AGREES to pay 100% percent of the allowable costs incurred as a result of and in 
accordance with this Grant Agreement.  

Assistance Listings Number (Formerly CFDA Number): 20.106  

This Offer is made on and SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING TERMS AND CONDITIONS:  

CONDITIONS 

1. Maximum Obligation. The maximum obligation of the United States payable under this Offer is 
$57,000, allocated as follows:  

$57,000 Non Primary KU2021 
2. Grant Performance. This ACRGP Grant Agreement is subject to the following federal award 

requirements:  

a. The Period of Performance:  

1. Shall start on the date the Sponsor formally accepts this agreement, and is the date signed 
by the last Sponsor signatory to the agreement. The end date of the period of performance 
is 4 years (1,460 calendar days) from the date of acceptance. The period of performance 
end date shall not affect, relieve or reduce Sponsor obligations and assurances that extend 
beyond the closeout of this Grant Agreement. 

2. Means the total estimated time interval between the start of an initial Federal award and 
the planned end date, which may include one or more funded portions, or budget periods. 
(2 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) § 200.1)  

b. The Budget Period:  

1. The budget period for this ACRGP Grant is 4 years (1,460 calendar days). Pursuant to 2 CFR 
§ 200.403(h), the Sponsor may charge to the Grant only allowable costs incurred during 
the budget period.  

2. Means the time interval from the start date of a funded portion of an award to the end 
date of that funded portion during which the Sponsor is authorized to expend the funds 
awarded, including any funds carried forward or other revisions pursuant to §200.308.  

c. Close out and Termination.  

1. Unless the FAA authorizes a written extension, the Sponsor must submit all Grant closeout 
documentation and liquidate (pay-off) all obligations incurred under this award no later 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 5 

than 120 calendar days after the end date of the period of performance. If the Sponsor 
does not submit all required closeout documentation within this time period, the FAA will 
proceed to close out the grant within one year of the period of performance end date with 
the information available at the end of 120 days. (2 CFR § 200.344)  

2. The FAA may terminate this ACRGP Grant, in whole or in part, in accordance with the 
conditions set forth in 2 CFR § 200.340, or other Federal regulatory or statutory authorities 
as applicable.  

3. Unallowable Costs. The Sponsor shall not seek reimbursement for any costs that the FAA has 
determined to be unallowable under the CRRSA Act.  

4. Indirect Costs - Sponsor. The Sponsor may charge indirect costs under this award by applying the 
indirect cost rate identified in the Grant Application as accepted by the FAA, to allowable costs for 
Sponsor direct salaries and wages only.  

5. Final Federal Share of Costs. The United States’ share of allowable Grant costs is 100%.  

6. Completing the Grant without Delay and in Conformance with Requirements. The Sponsor must 
carry out and complete the Grant without undue delays and in accordance with this ACRGP Grant 
Agreement, the CRRSA Act, and the regulations, policies, standards, and procedures of the 
Secretary of Transportation (“Secretary”). Pursuant to 2 CFR § 200.308, the Sponsor agrees to 
report to the FAA any disengagement from funding eligible expenses under the Grant that exceeds 
three months or a 25 percent reduction in time devoted to the Grant, and request prior approval 
from FAA. The report must include a reason for the stoppage. The Sponsor agrees to comply with 
the attached assurances, which are part of this agreement and any addendum that may be attached 
hereto at a later date by mutual consent.  

7. Amendments or Withdrawals before Grant Acceptance. The FAA reserves the right to amend or 
withdraw this offer at any time prior to its acceptance by the Sponsor.  

8. Offer Expiration Date. This offer will expire and the United States will not be obligated to pay any 
part of the costs unless this offer has been accepted by the Sponsor on or before June 13, 2021, or 
such subsequent date as may be prescribed in writing by the FAA.  

9. Improper Use of Federal Funds. The Sponsor must take all steps, including litigation if necessary, to 
recover Federal funds spent fraudulently, wastefully, or in violation of Federal antitrust statutes, or 
misused in any other manner, including uses that violate this ACRGP Grant Agreement, the CRRSA 
Act or other provision of applicable law. For the purposes of this ACRGP Grant Agreement, the term 
“Federal funds” means funds however used or dispersed by the Sponsor, that were originally paid 
pursuant to this or any other Federal grant agreement(s). The Sponsor must return the recovered 
Federal share, including funds recovered by settlement, order, or judgment, to the Secretary. The 
Sponsor must furnish to the Secretary, upon request, all documents and records pertaining to the 
determination of the amount of the Federal share or to any settlement, litigation, negotiation, or 
other efforts taken to recover such funds. All settlements or other final positions of the Sponsor, in 
court or otherwise, involving the recovery of such Federal share require advance approval by the 
Secretary.  

10. United States Not Liable for Damage or Injury. The United States is not responsible or liable for 
damage to property or injury to persons which may arise from, or relate to this ACRGP Grant 
Agreement, including, but not limited to, any action taken by a Sponsor related to or arising from, 
directly or indirectly, this ACRGP Grant Agreement.  

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 6 

11. System for Award Management (SAM) Registration and Unique Entity Identifier (UEI).  

a. Requirement for System for Award Management (SAM): Unless the Sponsor is exempted from 
this requirement under 2 CFR 25.110, the Sponsor must maintain the currency of its 
information in the SAM until the Sponsor submits the final financial report required under this 
grant, or receives the final payment, whichever is later. This requires that the Sponsor review 
and update the information at least annually after the initial registration and more frequently if 
required by changes in information or another award term. Additional information about 
registration procedures may be found at the SAM website (currently at http://www.sam.gov).  

b. Unique entity identifier (UEI) means a 12-character alpha-numeric value used to identify a 
specific commercial, nonprofit or governmental entity. A UEI may be obtained from SAM.gov at 
https://sam.gov/SAM/pages/public/index.jsf.  

12. Electronic Grant Payment(s). Unless otherwise directed by the FAA, the Sponsor must make each 
payment request under this agreement electronically via the Delphi eInvoicing System for 
Department of Transportation (DOT) Financial Assistance Awardees.  

13. Air and Water Quality. The Sponsor is required to comply with all applicable air and water quality 
standards for all projects in this grant. If the Sponsor fails to comply with this requirement, the FAA 
may suspend, cancel, or terminate this agreement.  

14. Financial Reporting and Payment Requirements. The Sponsor will comply with all Federal financial 
reporting requirements and payment requirements, including submittal of timely and accurate 
reports.  

15. Buy American. Unless otherwise approved in advance by the FAA, in accordance with 49 United 
States Code (U.S.C.) § 50101 the Sponsor will not acquire or permit any contractor or subcontractor 
to acquire any steel or manufactured goods produced outside the United States to be used for any 
project for which funds are provided under this grant. The Sponsor will include a provision 
implementing Buy American in every contract.  

16. Audits for Sponsors.  

PUBLIC SPONSORS. The Sponsor must provide for a Single Audit or program-specific audit in 
accordance with 2 CFR Part 200. The Sponsor must submit the audit reporting package to the 
Federal Audit Clearinghouse on the Federal Audit Clearinghouse’s Internet Data Entry System at 
http://harvester.census.gov/facweb/ . Upon request of the FAA, the Sponsor shall provide one copy 
of the completed audit to the FAA. 

17. Suspension or Debarment. When entering into a “covered transaction” as defined by 2 CFR § 
180.200, the Sponsor must:  

a. Verify the non-Federal entity is eligible to participate in this Federal program by:  

1. Checking the excluded parties list system (EPLS) as maintained within the System for 
Award Management (SAM) to determine if the non-Federal entity is excluded or 
disqualified; or 

2. Collecting a certification statement from the non-Federal entity attesting the entity is not 
excluded or disqualified from participating; or 

3. Adding a clause or condition to covered transactions attesting the individual or firm is not 
excluded or disqualified from participating. 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 7 

b. Require prime contractors to comply with 2 CFR § 180.330 when entering into lower-tier 
transactions (e.g. sub-contracts). 

c. Immediately disclose to the FAA whenever the Sponsor (1) learns the Sponsor has entered into 
a covered transaction with an ineligible entity, or (2) suspends or debars a contractor, person, 
or entity. 

18. Ban on Texting While Driving.  

a. In accordance with Executive Order 13513, Federal Leadership on Reducing Text Messaging 
While Driving, October 1, 2009, and DOT Order 3902.10, Text Messaging While Driving, 
December 30, 2009, the Sponsor is encouraged to:  

1. Adopt and enforce workplace safety policies to decrease crashes caused by distracted 
drivers including policies to ban text messaging while driving when performing any work 
for, or on behalf of, the Federal government, including work relating to this ACRGP Grant 
or subgrant funded by this Grant. 

2. Conduct workplace safety initiatives in a manner commensurate with the size of the 
business, such as:  

A. Establishment of new rules and programs or re-evaluation of existing programs to 
prohibit text messaging while driving; and 

B. Education, awareness, and other outreach to employees about the safety risks 
associated with texting while driving. 

b. The Sponsor must insert the substance of this clause on banning texting while driving in all 
subgrants, contracts, and subcontracts funded by this ACRGP Grant. 

19. Trafficking in Persons.  

a. You as the recipient, your employees, subrecipients under this ACRGP Grant, and subrecipients’ 
employees may not –  

1. Engage in severe forms of trafficking in persons during the period of time that the award is 
in effect; 

2. Procure a commercial sex act during the period of time that the award is in effect; or 

3. Use forced labor in the performance of the award or subawards under the ACRGP Grant. 

b. The FAA as the Federal awarding agency may unilaterally terminate this award, without 
penalty, if you or a subrecipient that is a private entity –  

1. Is determined to have violated a prohibition in paragraph A of this ACRGP Grant 
Agreement term; or 

2. Has an employee who is determined by the agency official authorized to terminate the 
ACRGP Grant Agreement to have violated a prohibition in paragraph A.1 of this ACRGP 
Grant term through conduct that is either –  

A. Associated with performance under this ACRGP grant; or 

B. Imputed to the subrecipient using the standards and due process for imputing the 
conduct of an individual to an organization that are provided in 2 CFR Part 180, “OMB 
Guidelines to Agencies on Government-wide Debarment and Suspension 
(Nonprocurement),”as implemented by the FAA at 2 CFR Part 1200. 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 8 

c. You must inform us immediately of any information you receive from any source alleging a 
violation of a prohibition in paragraph A during this ACRGP Grant Agreement. 

d. Our right to terminate unilaterally that is described in paragraph A of this section:  

1. Implements section 106(g) of the Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000 (TVPA), as 
amended (22 U.S.C. § 7104(g)), and 

2. Is in addition to all other remedies for noncompliance that are available to the FAA 
under this ACRGP Grant. 

20. Employee Protection from Reprisal.  

a. Prohibition of Reprisals —  

1. In accordance with 41 U.S.C. § 4712, an employee of a grantee or subgrantee may not be 
discharged, demoted, or otherwise discriminated against as a reprisal for disclosing to a 
person or body described in sub-paragraph (A)(2), information that the employee 
reasonably believes is evidence of:  

a.    Gross mismanagement of a Federal grant; 
b.    Gross waste of Federal funds; 
c.    An abuse of authority relating to implementation or use of Federal funds; 
d.    A substantial and specific danger to public health or safety; or 
e.    A violation of law, rule, or regulation related to a Federal grant. 

2. Persons and bodies covered: The persons and bodies to which a disclosure by an employee 
is covered are as follows:  

a.    A member of Congress or a representative of a committee of Congress; 
b.    An Inspector General; 
c.    The Government Accountability Office; 
d.    A Federal office or employee responsible for oversight of a grant program; 
e.    A court or grand jury; 
f.    A management office of the grantee or subgrantee; or 
g.    A Federal or State regulatory enforcement agency. 

3. Submission of Complaint — A person who believes that they have been subjected to a 
reprisal prohibited by paragraph A of this ACRGP Grant Agreement may submit a complaint 
regarding the reprisal to the Office of Inspector General (OIG) for the U.S. Department of 
Transportation. 

4. Time Limitation for Submittal of a Complaint — A complaint may not be brought under this 
subsection more than three years after the date on which the alleged reprisal took place. 

5. Required Actions of the Inspector General — Actions, limitations, and exceptions of the 
Inspector General’s office are established under 41 U.S.C. § 4712(b). 

6. Assumption of Rights to Civil Remedy — Upon receipt of an explanation of a decision not 
to conduct or continue an investigation by the Office of Inspector General, the person 
submitting a complaint assumes the right to a civil remedy under 41 U.S.C. § 4712(c). 

21. Limitations. Nothing provided herein shall be construed to limit, cancel, annul, or modify the terms 
of any Federal grant agreement(s), including all terms and assurances related thereto, that have 
been entered into by the Sponsor and the FAA prior to the date of this ACRGP Grant Agreement.  

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 9 

22. Face Coverings Policy. The sponsor agrees to implement a face-covering (mask) policy to combat 
the spread of pathogens. This policy must include a requirement that all persons wear a mask, in 
accordance with Centers for Disease Control (CDC) and Transportation Security Administration (TSA) 
requirements, as applicable, at all times while in all public areas of the airport property, except to 
the extent exempted under those requirements. This special condition requires the airport sponsor 
continue to require masks until Executive Order 13998, Promoting COVID-19 Safety in Domestic and 
International Travel, is no longer effective.  

SPECIAL CONDITIONS FOR USE OF ACRGP FUNDS 

CONDITIONS FOR ROLLING STOCK/EQUIPMENT -  
1. Equipment or Vehicle Replacement. The Sponsor agrees that when using funds provided by this 

grant to replace equipment, the proceeds from the trade-in or sale of such replaced equipment 
shall be classified and used as airport revenue.  

2. Equipment Acquisition. The Sponsor agrees that for any equipment acquired with funds provided 
by this grant, such equipment shall be used solely for purposes directly related to the airport.  

3. Low Emission Systems. The Sponsor agrees that vehicles and equipment acquired with funds 
provided in this grant:  

a. Will be maintained and used at the airport for which they were purchased; and 

b. Will not be transferred, relocated, or used at another airport without the advance consent of 
the FAA. 

The Sponsor further agrees that it will maintain annual records on individual vehicles and 
equipment, project expenditures, cost effectiveness, and emission reductions.  

CONDITIONS FOR UTILITIES AND LAND -  
4. Utilities Proration. For purposes of computing the United States’ share of the allowable airport 

operations and maintenance costs, the allowable cost of utilities incurred by the Sponsor to operate 
and maintain airport(s) included in the Grant must not exceed the percent attributable to the 
capital or operating costs of the airport.  

5. Utility Relocation in Grant. The Sponsor understands and agrees that:  

a. The United States will not participate in the cost of any utility relocation unless and until the 
Sponsor has submitted evidence satisfactory to the FAA that the Sponsor is legally responsible 
for payment of such costs; 

b. FAA participation is limited to those utilities located on-airport or off-airport only where the 
Sponsor has an easement for the utility; and 

c. The utilities must serve a purpose directly related to the Airport. 

6. Land Acquisition. Where funds provided for by this grant are used to acquire land, the Sponsor shall 
record the grant agreement, including the grant assurances and any and all related requirements, 
encumbrances, and restrictions that shall apply to such land, in the public land records of the 
jurisdiction in which the land is located.  

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 10 

The Sponsor’s acceptance of this Offer and ratification and adoption of the ACRGP Grant Application 
incorporated herein shall be evidenced by execution of this instrument by the Sponsor. The Offer and 
Acceptance shall comprise an ACRGP Grant Agreement, as provided by the CRRSA Act, constituting the 
contractual obligations and rights of the United States and the Sponsor with respect to this Grant. The 
effective date of this ACRGP Grant Agreement is the date of the Sponsor's acceptance of this Offer.  

Please read the following information: By signing this document, you are agreeing that you have 
reviewed the following consumer disclosure information and consent to transact business using 
electronic communications, to receive notices and disclosures electronically, and to utilize electronic 
signatures in lieu of using paper documents. You are not required to receive notices and disclosures or 
sign documents electronically. If you prefer not to do so, you may request to receive paper copies and 
withdraw your consent at any time.  

Dated {{DateTime_es_:signer1:calc(now()):format(date," mmmm d, yyyy")}}  

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION 

{{Sig_es_:signer1:                        signature}} 

(Signature) 

Matthew J. Thys 
(Typed Name)

Manager, Washington Airports District Office 
(Title of FAA Official) 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 11 

 

Part II - Acceptance 

The Sponsor does hereby ratify and adopt all assurances, statements, representations, warranties, 
covenants, and agreements contained in the ACRGP Grant Application and incorporated materials 
referred to in the foregoing Offer under Part I of this ACRGP Grant Agreement, and does hereby accept 
this Offer and by such acceptance agrees to comply with all of the terms and conditions in this Offer and 
in the ACRGP Grant Application and all applicable terms and conditions provided for in the CRRSA Act 
and other applicable provisions of Federal law.  

Please read the following information: By signing this document, you are agreeing that you have 
reviewed the following consumer disclosure information and consent to transact business using 
electronic communications, to receive notices and disclosures electronically, and to utilize electronic 
signatures in lieu of using paper documents. You are not required to receive notices and disclosures or 
sign documents electronically. If you prefer not to do so, you may request to receive paper copies and 
withdraw your consent at any time.  

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 1 

Dated {{DateTime_es_:signer2:calc(now()):format(date," mmmm d, yyyy")}}  

 

 
City of Manassas 

 (Name of Sponsor) 

 {{Sig_es_:signer2:                        signature}} 
 (Signature of Sponsor’s Designative Official/Representative) 

By: {{N_es_:signer2:                            fullname}} 
 (Type Name of Sponsor’s Designative Official/Representative) 

Title: {{*Ttl_es_:signer2:                                 title}} 
 (Title of Sponsor’s Designative Official/Representative)

1 Knowingly and willfully providing false information to the Federal government is a violation of 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1001 (False Statements) and could subject you to fines, imprisonment, or both. 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 12 

CERTIFICATE OF SPONSOR'S ATTORNEY 

I, {{N_es_:signer3:                            fullname}}, acting as Attorney for the Sponsor do hereby certify: 

That in my opinion the Sponsor is empowered to enter into the foregoing Grant Agreement under the 
laws of the State of Virginia. Further, I have examined the foregoing Grant Agreement and the actions 
taken by said Sponsor and Sponsor’s official representative has been duly authorized and that the 
execution thereof is in all respects due and proper and in accordance with the laws of the said State and 
the CRRSA Act. The Sponsor understands funding made available under this Grant Agreement may only 
be used to reimburse for airport operational and maintenance expenses, and debt service payments. 
The Sponsor further understands it may submit a separate request to use funds for new airport/project 
development purposes, subject to additional terms, conditions, and assurances. Further, it is my opinion 
that the said Grant Agreement constitutes a legal and binding obligation of the Sponsor in accordance 
with the terms thereof. 

Please read the following information: By signing this document, you are agreeing that you have 
reviewed the following consumer disclosure information and consent to transact business using 
electronic communications, to receive notices and disclosures electronically, and to utilize electronic 
signatures in lieu of using paper documents. You are not required to receive notices and disclosures or 
sign documents electronically. If you prefer not to do so, you may request to receive paper copies and 
withdraw your consent at any time.  

Dated at {{DateTime_es_:signer3:calc(now()):format(date," mmmm d, yyyy")}}  

 
 By:{{Sig_es_:signer3:                        signature}} 

 (Signature of Sponsor's Attorney) 
 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 13 

 

AIRPORT CORONAVIRUS RELIEF GRANT PROGRAM (ACRGP) ASSURANCES 
AIRPORT SPONSORS 

A. General. 

1. These Airport Coronavirus Relief Grant Program (ACRGP) Assurances are required to be 
submitted as part of the application by sponsors requesting funds under the provisions of the 
Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act of 2020 (CRRSA Act or “the 
Act”), Public Law 116-260. As used herein, the term "public agency sponsor" means a public 
agency with control of a public-use airport; the term "private sponsor" means a private owner 
of a public-use airport; and the term "sponsor" includes both public agency sponsors and 
private sponsors. 

2. Upon acceptance of this ACRGP Grant offer by the sponsor, these assurances are incorporated 
into and become part of this ACRGP Grant Agreement. 

B. Sponsor Certification. 

The sponsor hereby assures and certifies, with respect to this ACRGP Grant that: 

It will comply with all applicable Federal laws, regulations, executive orders, policies, 
guidelines, and requirements as they relate to the application, acceptance, and use of Federal 
funds for this ACRGP Grant including but not limited to the following: 

FEDERAL LEGISLATION 

a. 49 U.S.C. Chapter 471, as applicable 

b. Davis-Bacon Act — 40 U.S.C. 276(a), et. seq. 

c. Federal Fair Labor Standards Act — 29 U.S.C. 201, et. seq. 

d. Hatch Act — 5 U.S.C. 1501, et. seq. 2 

e. Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 Title 42 U.S.C. 
4601, et. seq. 

f. National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 — Section 106 — 16 U.S.C. 470(f). 

g. Archeological and Historic Preservation Act of 1974 — 16 U.S.C. 469 through 469c. 

h. Native Americans Grave Repatriation Act — 25 U.S.C. Section 3001, et. seq. 

i. Clean Air Act, P.L. 90-148, as amended. 

j. Coastal Zone Management Act, P.L. 93-205, as amended. 

k. Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973 — Section 102(a) — 42 U.S.C. 4012a. 

l. Title 49, U.S.C., Section 303, (formerly known as Section 4(f)). 

m. Rehabilitation Act of 1973 — 29 U.S.C. 794. 

n. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252) (prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin). 

o. Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.), prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of disability). 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 14 

p. Age Discrimination Act of 1975 — 42 U.S.C. 6101, et. seq. 

q. American Indian Religious Freedom Act, P.L. 95-341, as amended. 

r. Architectural Barriers Act of 1968 — 42 U.S.C. 4151, et. seq. 

s. Power plant and Industrial Fuel Use Act of 1978 — Section 403- 2 U.S.C. 8373. 

t. Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act — 40 U.S.C. 327, et. seq. 

u. Copeland Anti-kickback Act — 18 U.S.C. 874.1. 

v. National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 — 42 U.S.C. 4321, et. seq. 

w. Wild and Scenic Rivers Act, P.L. 90-542, as amended. 

x. Single Audit Act of 1984 — 31 U.S.C. 7501, et. seq. 2 

y. Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 — 41 U.S.C. 702 through 706. 

z. The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006, as amended (Pub. L. 109-282, 
as amended by section 6202 of Pub. L. 110-252). 

EXECUTIVE ORDERS

a. Executive Order 11246 – Equal Employment Opportunity 

b. Executive Order 11990 – Protection of Wetlands 

c. Executive Order 11998 – Flood Plain Management 

d. Executive Order 12372 – Intergovernmental Review of Federal Programs 

e. Executive Order 12699 – Seismic Safety of Federal and Federally Assisted New Building 
Construction 

f. Executive Order 12898 – Environmental Justice 

g. Executive Order 14005 – Ensuring the Future Is Made in All of America by All of America's 
Workers. 

FEDERAL REGULATIONS

a. 2 CFR Part 180 – OMB Guidelines to Agencies on Governmentwide Debarment and Suspension 
(Nonprocurement). 

b. 2 CFR Part 200 – Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements 
for Federal Awards. 3, 4  

c. 2 CFR Part 1200 – Nonprocurement Suspension and Debarment. 

d. 28 CFR Part 35 – Discrimination on the Basis of Disability in State and Local Government 
Services. 

e. 28 CFR § 50.3 – U.S. Department of Justice Guidelines for Enforcement of Title VI of the Civil 
Rights Act of 1964. 

f. 29 CFR Part 1 – Procedures for predetermination of wage rates. 1 

g. 29 CFR Part 3 – Contractors and subcontractors on public building or public work financed in 
whole or part by loans or grants from the United States. 1 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 15 

h. 29 CFR Part 5 – Labor standards provisions applicable to contracts covering Federally financed 
and assisted construction (also labor standards provisions applicable to non-construction 
contracts subject to the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act). 1

i. 41 CFR Part 60 – Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs, Equal Employment 
Opportunity, Department of Labor (Federal and Federally assisted contracting requirements). 1

j. 49 CFR Part 20 – New restrictions on lobbying. 

k. 49 CFR Part 21 – Nondiscrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the Department of 
Transportation - effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. 

l. 49 CFR Part 23 – Participation by Disadvantage Business Enterprise in Airport Concessions. 

m. 49 CFR Part 26 – Participation by Disadvantaged Business Enterprises in Department of 
Transportation Program. 

n. 49 CFR Part 27 – Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Handicap in Programs and Activities 
Receiving or Benefiting from Federal Financial Assistance. 1 

o. 49 CFR Part 28 – Enforcement of Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Handicap in Programs or 
Activities conducted by the Department of Transportation. 

p. 49 CFR Part 30 – Denial of public works contracts to suppliers of goods and services of countries 
that deny procurement market access to U.S. contractors. 

q. 49 CFR Part 32 – Government-wide Requirements for Drug-Free Workplace (Financial 
Assistance). 

r. 49 CFR Part 37 – Transportation Services for Individuals with Disabilities (ADA). 

s. 49 CFR Part 41 – Seismic safety of Federal and Federally assisted or regulated new building 
construction. 

FOOTNOTES TO ASSURANCE ACRGP ASSURANCE B.1. 
1 These laws do not apply to airport planning sponsors. 
2 These laws do not apply to private sponsors. 
3 Cost principles established in 2 CFR Part 200 subpart E must be used as guidelines for 

determining the eligibility of specific types of expenses 
4 Audit requirements established in 2 CFR Part 200 subpart F are the guidelines for audits. 

SPECIFIC ASSURANCES

Specific assurances required to be included in grant agreements by any of the above laws, regulations, 
or circulars are incorporated by reference in this Grant Agreement. 

1. Purpose Directly Related to the Airport 

It certifies that the reimbursement sought is for a purpose directly related to the airport. 

2. Responsibility and Authority of the Sponsor. 

a. Public Agency Sponsor: 

It has legal authority to apply for this Grant, and to finance and carry out the proposed grant; 
that an official decision has been made by the applicant’s governing body authorizing the filing 
of the application, including all understandings and assurances contained therein, and directing 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 16 

and authorizing the person identified as the official representative of the applicant to act in 
connection with the application and to provide such additional information as may be required. 

b. Private Sponsor: 

It has legal authority to apply for this Grant and to finance and carry out the proposed Grant 
and comply with all terms, conditions, and assurances of this Grant Agreement. It shall 
designate an official representative and shall in writing direct and authorize that person to file 
this application, including all understandings and assurances contained therein; to act in 
connection with this application; and to provide such additional information as may be 
required. 

3. Good Title. 

It, a public agency or the Federal government, holds good title, satisfactory to the Secretary, to the 
landing area of the airport or site thereof, or will give assurance satisfactory to the Secretary that 
good title will be acquired. 

4. Preserving Rights and Powers. 

a. It will not take or permit any action which would operate to deprive it of any of the rights and 
powers necessary to perform any or all of the terms, conditions, and assurances in this Grant 
Agreement without the written approval of the Secretary, and will act promptly to acquire, 
extinguish, or modify any outstanding rights or claims of right of others which would interfere 
with such performance by the sponsor. This shall be done in a manner acceptable to the 
Secretary. 

b. If the sponsor is a private sponsor, it will take steps satisfactory to the Secretary to ensure that 
the airport will continue to function as a public-use airport in accordance with this Grant 
Agreement. 

c. If an arrangement is made for management and operation of the airport by any agency or 
person other than the sponsor or an employee of the sponsor, the sponsor will reserve 
sufficient rights and authority to insure that the airport will be operated and maintained in 
accordance Title 49, United States Code, the regulations, and the terms and conditions of this 
Grant Agreement. 

5. Consistency with Local Plans. 

Any project undertaken by this Grant Agreement is reasonably consistent with plans (existing at the 
time of submission of the ACGRP application) of public agencies that are authorized by the State in 
which the project is located to plan for the development of the area surrounding the airport. 

6. Consideration of Local Interest. 

It has given fair consideration to the interest of communities in or near where any project 
undertaken by this Grant Agreement may be located. 

7. Consultation with Users. 

In making a decision to undertake any airport development project undertaken by this Grant 
Agreement, it has undertaken reasonable consultations with affected parties using the airport at 
which project is proposed. 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 17 

8. Pavement Preventative Maintenance. 

With respect to a project undertaken by this Grant Agreement for the replacement or 
reconstruction of pavement at the airport, it assures or certifies that it has implemented an 
effective airport pavement maintenance-management program and it assures that it will use such 
program for the useful life of any pavement constructed, reconstructed, or repaired with Federal 
financial assistance at the airport, including ACRGP funds provided under this Grant Agreement. It 
will provide such reports on pavement condition and pavement management programs as the 
Secretary determines may be useful. 

9. Accounting System, Audit, and Record Keeping Requirements. 

a. It shall keep all Grant accounts and records which fully disclose the amount and disposition by 
the recipient of the proceeds of this Grant, the total cost of the Grant in connection with which 
this Grant is given or used, and the amount or nature of that portion of the cost of the Grant 
supplied by other sources, and such other financial records pertinent to the Grant. The 
accounts and records shall be kept in accordance with an accounting system that will facilitate 
an effective audit in accordance with the Single Audit Act of 1984. 

b. It shall make available to the Secretary and the Comptroller General of the United States, or 
any of their duly authorized representatives, for the purpose of audit and examination, any 
books, documents, papers, and records of the recipient that are pertinent to this Grant. The 
Secretary may require that an appropriate audit be conducted by a recipient. In any case in 
which an independent audit is made of the accounts of a sponsor relating to the disposition of 
the proceeds of a Grant or relating to the Grant in connection with which this Grant was given 
or used, it shall file a certified copy of such audit with the Comptroller General of the United 
States not later than six (6) months following the close of the fiscal year for which the audit was 
made. 

10. Minimum Wage Rates. 

It shall include, in all contracts in excess of $2,000 for work on any projects funded under this grant 
agreement which involve labor, provisions establishing minimum rates of wages, to be 
predetermined by the Secretary of Labor, in accordance with the Davis-Bacon Act, as amended (40 
U.S.C. 276a-276a-5), which contractors shall pay to skilled and unskilled labor, and such minimum 
rates shall be stated in the invitation for bids and shall be included in proposals or bids for the work. 

11. Veteran's Preference. 

It shall include in all contracts for work on any project funded under this grant agreement which 
involve labor, such provisions as are necessary to insure that, in the employment of labor (except in 
executive, administrative, and supervisory positions), preference shall be given to Vietnam era 
veterans, Persian Gulf veterans, Afghanistan-Iraq war veterans, disabled veterans, and small 
business concerns owned and controlled by disabled veterans as defined in Section 47112 of Title 
49, United States Code. However, this preference shall apply only where the individuals are 
available and qualified to perform the work to which the employment relates. 

12. Operation and Maintenance. 

a. The airport and all facilities which are necessary to serve the aeronautical users of the airport, 
other than facilities owned or controlled by the United States, shall be operated at all times in a 
safe and serviceable condition and in accordance with the minimum standards as may be 
required or prescribed by applicable Federal, state and local agencies for maintenance and 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 18 

operation. It will not cause or permit any activity or action thereon which would interfere with 
its use for airport purposes. It will suitably operate and maintain the airport and all facilities 
thereon or connected therewith, with due regard to climatic and flood conditions. Any proposal 
to temporarily close the airport for non-aeronautical purposes must first be approved by the 
Secretary. In furtherance of this assurance, the sponsor will have in effect arrangements for-  

1. Operating the airport's aeronautical facilities whenever required; 

2. Promptly marking and lighting hazards resulting from airport conditions, including 
temporary conditions; and 

3. Promptly notifying airmen of any condition affecting aeronautical use of the airport. 
Nothing contained herein shall be construed to require that the airport be operated for 
aeronautical use during temporary periods when snow, flood or other climatic conditions 
interfere with such operation and maintenance. Further, nothing herein shall be construed 
as requiring the maintenance, repair, restoration, or replacement of any structure or 
facility which is substantially damaged or destroyed due to an act of God or other 
condition or circumstance beyond the control of the sponsor. 

b. It will suitably operate and maintain noise compatibility program items that it owns or controls 
upon which Federal funds have been expended. 

13. Hazard Removal and Mitigation. 

It will take appropriate action to assure that such terminal airspace as is required to protect 
instrument and visual operations to the airport (including established minimum flight altitudes) will 
be adequately cleared and protected by removing, lowering, relocating, marking, or lighting or 
otherwise mitigating existing airport hazards and by preventing the establishment or creation of 
future airport hazards. 

14. Compatible Land Use. 

It will take appropriate action, to the extent reasonable, including the adoption of zoning laws, to 
restrict the use of land adjacent to or in the immediate vicinity of the airport to activities and 
purposes compatible with normal airport operations, including landing and takeoff of aircraft. 

15. Exclusive Rights. 

The sponsor shall not grant an exclusive right to use an air navigation facility on which this Grant 
has been expended. However, providing services at an airport by only one fixed-based operator is 
not an exclusive right if— 

a. it is unreasonably costly, burdensome, or impractical for more than one fixed-based operator 
to provide the services; and 

b. allowing more than one fixed-based operator to provide the services requires a reduction in 
space leased under an agreement existing on September 3, 1982, between the operator and 
the airport. 

16. Airport Revenues. 

a. This Grant shall be available for any purpose for which airport revenues may lawfully be used to 
prevent, prepare for, and respond to coronavirus. Funds provided under this ACRGP Grant 
Agreement will only be expended for the capital or operating costs of the airport; the local 
airport system; or other local facilities which are owned or operated by the owner or operator 
of the airport(s) subject to this agreement and all applicable addendums for costs related to 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 19 

operations, personnel, cleaning, sanitization, janitorial services, combating the spread of 
pathogens at the airport, and debt service payments as prescribed in the Act 

b. For airport development, 49 U.S.C. § 47133 applies. 

17. Reports and Inspections. 

It will: 

a. submit to the Secretary such annual or special financial and operations reports as the Secretary 
may reasonably request and make such reports available to the public; make available to the 
public at reasonable times and places a report of the airport budget in a format prescribed by 
the Secretary; 

b. in a format and time prescribed by the Secretary, provide to the Secretary and make available 
to the public following each of its fiscal years, an annual report listing in detail: 

1. all amounts paid by the airport to any other unit of government and the purposes for 
which each such payment was made; and 

2. all services and property provided by the airport to other units of government and the 
amount of compensation received for provision of each such service and property. 

18. Land for Federal Facilities. 

It will furnish without cost to the Federal Government for use in connection with any air traffic 
control or air navigation activities, or weather-reporting and communication activities related to air 
traffic control, any areas of land or water, or estate therein, or rights in buildings of the sponsor as 
the Secretary considers necessary or desirable for construction, operation, and maintenance at 
Federal expense of space or facilities for such purposes. Such areas or any portion thereof will be 
made available as provided herein within four months after receipt of a written request from the 
Secretary. 

19. Airport Layout Plan. 

a. Subject to the FAA Reauthorization Act of 2018, Public Law 115-254, Section 163, it will keep up 
to date at all times an airport layout plan of the airport showing: 

1. boundaries of the airport and all proposed additions thereto, together with the boundaries 
of all offsite areas owned or controlled by the sponsor for airport purposes and proposed 
additions thereto; 

2. the location and nature of all existing and proposed airport facilities and structures (such 
as runways, taxiways, aprons, terminal buildings, hangars and roads), including all 
proposed extensions and reductions of existing airport facilities;  

3. the location of all existing and proposed non-aviation areas and of all existing 
improvements thereon; and 

4. all proposed and existing access points used to taxi aircraft across the airport’s property 
boundary. Such airport layout plans and each amendment, revision, or modification 
thereof, shall be subject to the approval of the Secretary which approval shall be 
evidenced by the signature of a duly authorized representative of the Secretary on the face 
of the airport layout plan. The sponsor will not make or permit any changes or alterations 
in the airport or any of its facilities which are not in conformity with the airport layout plan 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 20 

as approved by the Secretary and which might, in the opinion of the Secretary, adversely 
affect the safety, utility or efficiency of the airport. 

b. Subject to the FAA Reauthorization Act of 2018, Public Law 115-254, Section 163, if a change or 
alteration in the airport or the facilities is made which the Secretary determines adversely 
affects the safety, utility, or efficiency of any federally owned, leased, or funded property on or 
off the airport and which is not in conformity with the airport layout plan as approved by the 
Secretary, the owner or operator will, if requested, by the Secretary (1) eliminate such adverse 
effect in a manner approved by the Secretary; or (2) bear all costs of relocating such property 
(or replacement thereof) to a site acceptable to the Secretary and all costs of restoring such 
property (or replacement thereof) to the level of safety, utility, efficiency, and cost of operation 
existing before the unapproved change in the airport or its facilities except in the case of a 
relocation or replacement of an existing airport facility due to a change in the Secretary’s 
design standards beyond the control of the airport sponsor. 

20. Civil Rights. 

It will promptly take any measures necessary to ensure that no person in the United States shall, on 
the grounds of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, or disability be excluded from 
participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination in any 
activity conducted with, or benefiting from, funds received from this Grant. 

a. Using the definitions of activity, facility, and program as found and defined in §§ 21.23 (b) and 
21.23 (e) of 49 CFR Part 21, the sponsor will facilitate all programs, operate all facilities, or 
conduct all programs in compliance with all non-discrimination requirements imposed by or 
pursuant to these assurances. 

b. Applicability 

1. Programs and Activities. If the sponsor has received a grant (or other Federal assistance) 
for any of the sponsor’s program or activities, these requirements extend to all of the 
sponsor’s programs and activities 

2. Facilities. Where it receives a grant or other Federal financial assistance to construct, 
expand, renovate, remodel, alter, or acquire a facility, or part of a facility, the assurance 
extends to the entire facility and facilities operated in connection therewith. 

3. Real Property. Where the sponsor receives a grant or other Federal financial assistance in 
the form of, or for the acquisition of, real property or an interest in real property, the 
assurance will extend to rights to space on, over, or under such property. 

c. Duration 

The sponsor agrees that it is obligated to this assurance for the period during which Federal 
financial assistance is extended to the program, except where the Federal financial assistance is 
to provide, or is in the form of, personal property, or real property, or interest therein, or 
structures or improvements thereon, in which case the assurance obligates the sponsor, or any 
transferee for the longer of the following periods: 

1. So long as the airport is used as an airport, or for another purpose involving the provision 
of similar services or benefits; or 

2. So long as the sponsor retains ownership or possession of the property. 

d. Required Solicitation Language  

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 21 

It will include the following notification in all solicitations for bids, Requests for Proposals for 
work, or material under this Grant and in all proposals for agreements, including airport 
concessions, regardless of funding source: 

“The City of Manassas, in accordance with the provisions of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964 (78 Stat. 252, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000d to 2000d-4) and the Regulations, hereby notifies all 
bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that for any contract entered into pursuant to this 
advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises and airport concession disadvantaged 
business enterprises will be afforded full and fair opportunity to submit bids in response to this 
invitation and will not be discriminated against on the grounds of race, color, or national origin 
in consideration for an award.” 

e. Required Contract Provisions. 

1. It will insert the non-discrimination contract clauses requiring compliance with the acts and 
regulations relative to non-discrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the DOT, and 
incorporating the acts and regulations into the contracts by reference in every contract or 
agreement subject to the non-discrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the DOT 
Acts and regulations. 

2. It will include a list of the pertinent non-discrimination authorities in every contract that is 
subject to the non-discrimination acts and regulations. 

3. It will insert non-discrimination contract clauses as a covenant running with the land, in 
any deed from the United States effecting or recording a transfer of real property, 
structures, use, or improvements thereon or interest therein to a sponsor. 

4. It will insert non-discrimination contract clauses prohibiting discrimination on the basis of 
race, color, national origin, creed, sex, age, or handicap as a covenant running with the 
land, in any future deeds, leases, license, permits, or similar instruments entered into by 
the sponsor with other parties: 

A. For the subsequent transfer of real property acquired or improved under the 
applicable activity, grant, or program; and 

B. For the construction or use of, or access to, space on, over, or under real property 
acquired or improved under the applicable activity, grant, or program. 

C. It will provide for such methods of administration for the program as are found by the 
Secretary to give reasonable guarantee that it, other recipients, sub-recipients, sub-
grantees, contractors, subcontractors, consultants, transferees, successors in interest, 
and other participants of Federal financial assistance under such program will comply 
with all requirements imposed or pursuant to the acts, the regulations, and this 
assurance. 

D. It agrees that the United States has a right to seek judicial enforcement with regard to 
any matter arising under the acts, the regulations, and this assurance. 

21. Foreign Market Restrictions. 

It will not allow funds provided under this Grant to be used to fund any activity that uses any 
product or service of a foreign country during the period in which such foreign country is listed by 
the United States Trade Representative as denying fair and equitable market opportunities for 
products and suppliers of the United States in procurement and construction. 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 22 

22. Policies, Standards and Specifications. 

It will carry out any project funded under an Airport Coronavirus Relief Program Grant in 
accordance with policies, standards, and specifications approved by the Secretary including, but not 
limited to, current FAA Advisory Circulars for AIP projects, as of February 24, 2021, included in this 
grant, and in accordance with applicable state policies, standards, and specifications approved by 
the Secretary. 

23. Access By Intercity Buses. 

The airport owner or operator will permit, to the maximum extent practicable, intercity buses or 
other modes of transportation to have access to the airport; however, it has no obligation to fund 
special facilities for intercity buses or for other modes of transportation. 

24. Disadvantaged Business Enterprises. 

The sponsor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin or sex in the award and 
performance of any DOT-assisted contract covered by 49 CFR Part 26, or in the award and 
performance of any concession activity contract covered by 49 CFR Part 23. In addition, the sponsor 
shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin or sex in the administration of its 
Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) and Airport Concessions Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise (ACDBE) programs or the requirements of 49 CFR Parts 23 and 26. The sponsor shall take 
all necessary and reasonable steps under 49 CFR Parts 23 and 26 to ensure nondiscrimination in the 
award and administration of DOT-assisted contracts, and/or concession contracts. The sponsor’s 
DBE and ACDBE programs, as required by 49 CFR Parts 26 and 23, and as approved by DOT, are 
incorporated by reference in this agreement. Implementation of these programs is a legal obligation 
and failure to carry out its terms shall be treated as a violation of this agreement. Upon notification 
to the sponsor of its failure to carry out its approved program, the Department may impose 
sanctions as provided for under Parts 26 and 23 and may, in appropriate cases, refer the matter for 
enforcement under 18 U.S.C. 1001 and/or the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1936 (31 U.S.C. 
3801). 

25. Acquisition Thresholds. 

The FAA deems equipment to mean tangible personal property having a useful life greater than one 
year and a per-unit acquisition cost equal to or greater than $5,000. Procurements by micro-
purchase means the acquisition of goods or services for which the aggregate dollar amount does 
not exceed $10,000, unless authorized in accordance with 2 CFR § 200.320. Procurement by small 
purchase procedures means those relatively simple and informal procurement methods for securing 
goods or services that do not exceed the $250,000 threshold for simplified acquisitions. 

Item 13



3-51-0030-050-2021 

 23 

Current FAA Advisory Circulars Required for Use in AIP Funded and PFC 
Approved Projects 

View the most current Series 150 Advisory Circulars (ACs) for Airport Projects at 
http://www.faa.gov/airports/resources/advisory_circulars and 
http://www.faa.gov/regulations_policies/advisory_circulars  

Item 13



Item 13



Item 13



Item 13



Item 14



POLICY STATEMENT 

POLICY STATEMENT #AP 21-01 
REGULAR AIRPORT COMMISSION MEETING 

ADOPTED:     
 

RE: ESTABLISH THE AIRPORT’S HANGAR WAITING LIST GUIDELINES REGARDING 
AIRCRAFT HANGAR AGREEMENTS  
 
It is the policy of the Manassas Regional Airport Commission to ensure that an active list is 
available to serious individuals looking to rent aircraft storage space and keep the wait times 
reasonable for those placed on the list. The Manassas Regional Airport owns and maintains 156 
hangars, located on the east and west side of the airport. The Manassas Regional Airport must 
maintain a reputation for fairness, consistency, openness, and transparency with the stakeholders 
it serves.  
 
Purpose 
Hangars are intended for use by individuals, partnerships, or corporations that own, or have 
under exclusive lease, one (1) or more aircraft. Any individual, partnership, or corporation may 
apply to be on the waiting list. Applicants do not have to be in possession of an aircraft to be on 
the list. However, the applicant must be in possession of an aircraft within thirty (30) days of 
signing a lease agreement. A copy of the aircraft registration will be required within 30 days of 
executing a hangar lease agreement.  If the aircraft is being leased, the tenant must provide a 
signed copy of the lease to the Airport for their review.    

 
A. Waiting List 

1. Individuals, partnerships, or corporations will be required to submit an application in 
order to be placed on the waiting list. Fixed Based Operators (FBO) can only place their 
name on a waiting list for a commercial hangar. 

a. NOTE: As requested, individuals currently on the waiting list will be required to 
submit a new application in order to provide current contact information. The 
individuals spot on the waiting list will not change.  
 

2. Applicants can place their name on multiple waiting lists for each size and location of 
hangar. Waiting lists are maintained for East T-Hangars, West T-Hangars, and Corporate 
Use Box Hangars. 
 

3. Only aircraft owned or co-owned, or leased by the applicant will be authorized to occupy 
the hangar. A hangar can have more than one aircraft or tenant if size permits. Both 
tenants will be required to sign a dual occupancy lease with the initial applicant. 
Subleasing or transferring of a hangar is prohibited. 
 

4. An applicant may be denied hangar space if the applicant has been or is currently in 
default of any other lease with the City, or has violated the Airport’s Rules and 
Regulations within the past twelve (12) calendar months. 
 

  

Deleted: 18

Deleted: 2

Deleted: of 

Deleted: , or

Deleted:  This aircraft must be registered, be in the process 
of being registered by the Federal Aviation Administration 
(FAA) and  the Virginia Department of Aviation (VDOA)V, 
or leased.

Deleted: re

Deleted: will be

Deleted: .

Item 14



POLICY STATEMENT #AP 21-01         Page 2 
 

 

Deleted: 18

Deleted: 2
A. Waiting List (Continued) 

 
5. Applicant will be removed from waiting list(s) under the following conditions: 

a. Failure to respond to one (1) offer for hangar space; 
b. Failure to provide current address and phone number;  
c. Failure to have a deposit on file; and/or 
c. At the applicant’s request. 
 

6. Upon request, applicants will be required to update their contact information. Failure to 
provide this information will result removal from the waiting list. 

 
B. Notification of an Available Hangar Space 

1. When a hangar becomes available, Airport Staff will execute the following notifications: 
a. The individual will be sent an email with the hangar size, time of availability, and 

the rental amount.  
b. The individual will be called and should no one answer, be left a voicemail with 

the hangar size, time of availability, and the rental amount. 
 

2. The individual will have five (5) calendar days from the initial notification to respond to 
the offer. Should the individual respond, the individual will be provided required 
paperwork and payment information.  

a. Individuals not in possession of an aircraft or will not be in possession of an 
aircraft within thirty (30) days will be considered as a refusal and placed at the 
bottom of the list if so desired.  

b. If the individual does not respond or refuses the offer, they will be taken off the 
list. Any applicant who is removed from the list will need to reapply in order to be 
placed back on the list. 
 

3. After a response or no response from the initial offer, Airport Staff will move to the next 
person on the waiting list. The notification process will begin again until an eligible 
individual secures a hangar. 

 

  

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: working

Item 14



POLICY STATEMENT #AP 21-01         Page 3 
 

 

Deleted: 18

Deleted: 2
C: Monthly Rental Rates and Deposits 
A list of the monthly hangar rates are listed below. Rates are subject to change and take effect at 
the start of each fiscal year (July 1).  
 
Each applicant is required to have a deposit on file in order to  stay or be placed on the waiting 
list. Deposits are refundable and will be applied to the base deposit upon executing a hangar 
lease agreement. Deposits will be placed in a non-interest bearing account until used or refunded.  
 
Deposits are set at the highest unit rate that the applicant has applied for. Box Hangars require a 
separate deposit. 
 
Examples: 
Applicant is on list for a FIRST AVAILABLE (any unit and location) hangar. Deposit is $560.00 
Applicant is on list for an East Side 42’ Unit AND East Side 42’ End Unit. Deposit is $505.00 
 

Units East Side West Side 

Regular Units 42' Door $408.00 $335.00 

End Units 42' Door $505.00 $385.00 

Regular Units 40' Door $360.00 N/A 

End Units with Office 40' Door  $560.00 N/A 

Regular Units 45' Door $435.00 N/A 

Regular Units 48' Door $505.00 N/A 

End Units 48' Door $560.00 N/A 

Box Hangar 60' by 50' $1,500.00 N/A 

Box Hangar 60' by 60' $2,000.00 N/A 
 

Monthly rent includes utilities unless the unit is individually metered.  
 
 
 

BY ORDER OF THE AIRPORT COMMISSION 
 

        
Dan Radtke, Chairman 

On Behalf of the Manassas Regional Airport Commission of 
Manassas, Virginia 

ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Administrative Coordinator 
 

Deleted: be

Deleted: lowest

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: Marie Matisans, 

Item 14



 

Questions? Call or email Airport Operations at 703-361-5488 or 
hefops@manassasva.gov 

 
Form must be returned to Airport Operations 

 

 

 

 

HANGAR WAITING LIST APPLICATION 

The applicant must complete the entire application and sign the bottom in order for the application to be valid. 
 
Applicant Information 
 
Name:              
  Last       First  
 

Phone 1: (______)_____________________________ 
☐Cell  ☐Work ☐Home 

 

Phone 2: (______)_____________________________ 
☐Cell  ☐Work ☐Home 

 
Email:              
 
Hangar Preferences  
Note: West Side Hangars only have 42 Foot Units 
 
1) Location: 
____ East Side ____ West Side ____ First Available  
 
2) T-Hangars: 
____ 40-Foot ____ 42-Foot ____ 45-Foot ____ 48 Foot ____ 42 Foot End Unit ____ 48 Foot End Unit  
 
____ First Available (No Preference) 
 
3) Box Hangars: 
_____ 60’ by 50’ ____ 60’ by 60’ _____ First Available 
 
4) Office Space: 
_____ I require office space ____ I do not need office space 
 
In signing, I agree to abide by the conditions and the Hangar Waiting List Policy. I understand that I will be 
required to have a deposit on file and update my contact information with Airport Administration. Failure to do 
so may result in me being removed from the hangar waiting list. I further understand that being placed on the 
hangar waiting list does not guarantee me a hangar, only providing the opportunity to be contacted for a hangar 
offer.  
 
Applicant Signature:         Date:    

Manassas City of 
 Airport Director’s Office 

Revised 6-08-21 

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: 6

Deleted: 21

Deleted: 18

Item 14

mailto:hefops@manassasva.gov

	COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC
	NEW BUSINESS
	May Commission Minutes.pdf
	COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC
	NEW BUSINESS

	Laser Inclinometer Brief.pdf
	Slide Number 1
	Laser Inclinometer
	Laser Inclinometer
	Laser Inclinometer
	Obstruction Analysis
	Obstruction Analysis
	Obstruction Analysis
	Contractor Education

	FuelOperations - Fiscal - May 2021 Update.pdf
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6

	Bill Sheets FY 2021.pdf
	Invoices

	Item 10 - Flight Schools.pdf
	Insurance Matrix DRAFT - 6-11-2021.pdf
	Sheet1


	Item 11 - Insurance Matrix.pdf
	Insurance Matrix DRAFT - 6-11-2021.pdf
	Sheet1


	May 2021 Tie-Down Occupancy.pdf
	Occupancy Chart

	May 2021 Hangar Occupancy.pdf
	Occupancy Chart

	May 2021 Noise.pdf
	Noise Graph

	Airport Aging Report as of 6-11-21.pdf
	Aging Report

	Manassas Regional Airport Financial Plan 6.10.2021.pdf
	APPENDIX B.pdf
	Related Research
	Related Criteria
	Overview 1
	Performance Highlights 2
	Attribute Assessment Distributions — U.S. Airport 4
	Conclusion 5
	Appendix A: Key Rating Driver Assessments for Airports 6
	Appendix B: Definitions 8
	Appendix C 9
	Appendix D: Airport Attribute Scoring 10
	Appendix E: Airport Statistics Summary 12
	Appendix F: Airport Statistics by Rating Category 13
	Appendix G: Airport Statistics by FAA Classification 15
	Appendix H: Airport Statistics by Airport Type 17
	Appendix I: Airport Statistics by Region 19
	Appendix J: Car Rental Financings/CONRACs — Revenue Risk Factors 21
	Appendix K: CONRAC Attribute Scoring 22
	Appendix L: CONRAC Key Metrics 23

	Overview
	Key Rating Drivers
	Comparability of Ratings

	Performance Highlights
	Rating Activity
	Summary of Changes to Attribute Scores
	Medians
	Coronavirus Pandemic

	Attribute Assessment Distributions — U.S. Airports
	Conclusion
	Medians Are Not Targets

	Appendix A: Key Rating Driver Assessments for Airports
	Appendix B: Definitions
	Appendix C
	Appendix D: Airport Attribute Scoring
	Appendix E: Airport Statistics Summary
	Appendix F: Airport Statistics by Rating Category
	Appendix G: Airport Statistics by FAA Classification
	Appendix H: Airport Statistics by Airport Type
	Appendix I: Airport Statistics by Region
	Appendix J: Car Rental Financings/CONRACs — Revenue Risk Factors
	Appendix K: CONRAC Attribute Scoring
	Appendix L: CONRAC Key Metrics


	Insurance Matrix DRAFT - 6-11-2021.pdf
	Sheet1




